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CORPORATE INFORMATION
2y v &R
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS W || 8
3 55 2 L

HIGHLIGHTS B B

2023
B S

HK$’000
Tt

Continuing operations FRER B T
Revenue I 2 216,127 155,639
Gross profit TH 166,310 107,309

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners AN T N AL A N B A (B 4R)
of the Company 41,036 (43,888)

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners A2 R #EA A MEAG & BB A, (5 48)
of the Company (LA BB A 51 7))
(expressed in HK cents per share)

From continuing and discontinued operations A FRAASE R O S LR R

Basic BN 1.32 (1.53)

Diluted i 1.32 (1.53)
From continuing operations A R AR S

Basic HAR 1.33 (1.44)

Diluted v 1.33 (1.44)

2023
HK$’000
TF¥#T
Financial position B R L
Total assets B R 339,446 246,773
Shareholders’ equity Ji BRRE 4 146,007 105,159
Net assets value per share (HKS$) A FE (M5 T) 0.05 0.03
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Board lot size

INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

4,000 shares

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2023:

* Shares outstanding
* Market capitalisation

* Closing share price

» Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2023 annual general meeting

* Closure of register of members
for 2023 annual general meeting

e 2023 annual general meeting

Address : Unit D, 7/F, KC100, 100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

Telephone 1 (852) 3700 7300

Fax 1 (852) 3700 7301

E-mail : ir@shunten.com.hk

Website : www.shunten.com.hk

3,107,893,440 shares
HK$239,307,795

HK$0.077

4:30 pm, 28 August 2023

29 August—

1 September 2023
1 September 2023

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of

name or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in

writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address . 17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong
Telephone 1 (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Ei 8

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), I would like to announce the annual results of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2022/2023”).

This year marked the 20th anniversary of the establishment of “Royal Medic”,
the well-known brand under Shunten International (Holdings) Limited. Deep-
rooted in Hong Kong for years, the brand is committed to building up a high-
quality healthcare brand for the city. The classic advertising slogan “a
medicine box serves as a jewelry box” is well known to the public and has
made “Royal Medic” the go-to healthcare brand in Hong Kong. Growing
along with people in Hong Kong, “Royal Medic” has established a sentiment
of local brand that no one can replace. The brand value of “Royal Medic” has
enabled it to weather through the “pandemic” in the past three years and to
grasp opportunities when they arose after the resumption of normalcy in Hong

Kong, bringing the Group’s sales back on momentum.

In FY2022/2023, as the COVID-19 pandemic gradually subsided and many
countries reopened their borders, Hong Kong also began to relax its
preventive measures, resulting in an improving consumption sentiment among
the public which, coupled with the government’s policies to promote post-
pandemic economic recovery, such as the “consumption voucher”, has boosted

the market sentiment and stimulated local consumption.

The Group has been closely monitoring market changes and made timely
adjustments to its marketing and sales strategies. With the active cooperation
of our frontline sales staff, the Group was able to seize, with precision, the
opportunities arising from the rebound in the retail market and the public’s
huge demand for healthcare products as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic,
thus bringing its business back on a stable track. At the same time, the
management continued to deepen the streamlining of cost structure, which
enabled the Group to control its operating costs more effectively and obtain

satisfying operating results during the year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In the past, the average age of consumers of healthcare products was about 50
years old or above. Since the severe outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
public has increased their awareness and consciousness on their and their
families’ health, driving the age of consumers down to an average of 30 years
old or above. In order to better couple with this trend of a younger consumer
base for healthcare products, the Group has recruited a number of young
managements during the year with a view to building a younger and more
dynamic management team. By utilizing their understanding of and insight to
the young consumer group, the Group was able to reshape the brand image of
“Royal Medic” and capture the market of young consumers of healthcare
products ahead of other competitors.

As this year marks the 20th anniversary of “Royal Medic”, the Group has
taken this opportunity to invite Mr. Hins Cheung, a popular idol singer who
has been also in Hong Kong’s entertainment business for 20 years, to be the
of the brand. Mr.
image and is meticulous in producing songs, which is in line with “Royal

“20th Anniversary Ambassador” Cheung has a positive
Medic’s” mission of manufacturing and providing high quality healthcare
products to the public. Mr. Cheung also has a fanbase with wide age groups
that range from 20 to 60 years old, which will undoubtedly help “Royal
Medic” to tap into the young consumer market. With Mr. Cheung’s high
profile and popularity, more young consumers will get to know “Royal
Medic”.

As COVID-19 pandemic drew to an end, Hong Kong has been gradually
reopening its borders with the outside world. The Hong Kong government
announced to reopen its border with the Mainland in early 2023.

The Group has been preemptive in adjusting its advertising and sales strategies
even before the border between Hong Kong and the Mainland officially
reopened. Through increased advertising and promotion in the Mainland with
prefect deployment of online and offline means, we aimed to achieve, before
the reopening of border, a high penetration of “Royal Medic” in the Mainland
and captured the attention of consumers of healthcare products. At the same
time, the Group has actively expanded its retail outlets in Hong Kong to grasp
the opportunity of the additional consumption power brought by the tourism
rebound. In January 2023, the Group reopened its counters at the airport’s
restricted area, and in March 2023, the counters at Lok Ma Chau and Harbour
City also commenced operation.

The Group’s sales figures show that the Group’s sales have achieved a
significant year-on-year improvement since the reopening of border. This
reflects the success of the Group’s marketing and sales strategies.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Ei 8

As we enter the next 20 years, the Group will remain steadfast to its mission
of “manufacturing medicine attentively”. Not only will we safeguard people’s
health, but we will also “invest in health” for the public in order to “Triple up

the jewelry box”.

At the same time, we will continue to create value for our shareholders by
capitalizing on the economic recovery and adjusting our business development
strategy, and we will continue to open up new sales outlets as well as develop
new sales channels both locally and internationally. During the year, the
Group has developed the new business segment of “corporate sales” to reduce
the operational risk of the Group’s single sales channel. The Group is
expected to put more efforts in developing this business segment in the future

so as to enhance its revenue contribution.

The Group will also develop the Mainland China and Southeast Asian markets
in due course. At present, the Group has been actively researching and
promoting the access to relevant markets with a view to bringing “Royal
Medic” to more potential markets and expanding the Group’s operational

presence.
Finally, on behalf of the Group and the Board, I would like to thank all the
investors, shareholders, product consumers and employees for their support

and confidence in the Group over the past 20 years.

By order of the Board

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is principally engaged in the sales, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong. Although the
Group’s business has been severely hit by the fifth wave of the COVID-19
pandemic in Hong Kong during the fourth quarter of 2021/22, the Group’s
performance has recovered and improved significantly for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Reporting Period”) owing to (i) improvement in cost
efficiency through multiple cost control measures implementation; (ii) strong
demands for the health products during COVID-19 epidemic; and (iii) the
upgrading of the “Royal Medic” brand image. The Group recorded a profit
attributable to owners of the Company during the Reporting Period of
approximately HK$41.0 million as compared to a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$43.9 million for the corresponding

period of last year.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded revenue from continuing
operations of approximately HK$216.1 million (2022: HK$155.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$60.5 million or 38.9% when
compared to the corresponding period of last year. During the Reporting
Period, the Group disposed of the entire interest in Advance Rider Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Advance Rider Group”) which is principally engaged
in e-commerce promotion business. The Group believes that such disposal
would allow the Company to focus on the health and beauty supplements and
products business, and sharpen the Company’s strategic focus on its core

business.

The gross profit margin of the continuing operations of the Group for the
Reporting Period was approximately 76.9% (2022: 68.9%), representing an

increase of approximately 8% over the corresponding period of last year.

During the fourth quarter of 2021/22, Hong Kong was at the peak of fifth
wave of COVID-19, the HKSAR Government has imposed the strictest social
distancing measures, including more venues closures, banning on gatherings of
over 2 people and dine-in services after 6:00 p.m. However, the demand for
health products remains strong as COVID-19 has increased public health

consciousness and their willingness to change their lifestyles to stay well.

With the lifting of most anti-epidemic and social distancing restrictions in
Hong Kong and relaxation of travel restriction measures between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, there is a significant recovery in visitor numbers and
a social and economic recovery in the first quarter 2023. The Group expects
the retail sector performance will continue to benefit from the recovery of

private consumption and inbound tourism.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o P W w5200

As at 31 March 2023,
approximately HK$7.4 million (2022: HKS$2.2 million). Intangible assets

the intangible assets of the Group amounted to

mainly include computer softwares and club membership.

As at 31 March 2023, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$13.1 million (2022: HK$35.3 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was approximately
0.5 times as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 0.5 times). The Group’s gearing ratio,
representing total borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately
111.3% as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 115.9%). In view of the Group’s current
level of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations
and the unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the
Group will have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its
operations. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had unutilised general banking
facilities of approximately HK$20 million (2022: HK$1.0 million).

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate. The Group also
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. The Group’s overall

strategy remains unchanged throughout the Reporting Period.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 276 employees (2022: 207). For the
Reporting Period, staff costs including directors’ remuneration from continuing

operations was approximately HK$67.6 million (2022: HK$56.2 million).

10 Annual Report 2022/2023 4 $t

S | :Jr* H o AEENEEEE
%9 £57,400,000% 70 (& 4 2,200,000
JG) o MEAE R B AE E S E SR S  er EE o

W EBDCAEZA = —H o AREENE S KR
1745 8 5 £913,100,000 88 T (2 F = T4
35,300,000 70) 1 A4S 4 [ —F Z=AF = A
E—HERB) R (RI R E) & E M O B & )
B0 (R 4 1 051%) - R R =
ZHA=ET—H o AREFENEE A FE (B{E
BBRDIRE RS A0 A B 111.3% (% . T 4E
115.9%) ° %5 & B A4 [ 3 46 J% SR AT &5 B 1) BLIF
KT 26 [ AR ZE S IR Y B K T B E R
BHAMMATRE - FEGWRE > AEE A
FUAR IR R A ER M IR R o R
CEHEEAS T AR R R
17l & #120,000,000 5 76 (—F . 4F 1 1,000,000
#oe)

TR BB AR > AR 2 AR By T AR A SR B
R R A e R A A SR MR R A R - ] IR IR
AL (T S ME A5 A5 8 > 6 o AR A 2 [ i e K
Al o B HELRE 2 2 B8 A AR B B A% S A A B
Z B AR E ARG o A BRI > AL IR
FLRB 5 0 RO E IR - BB IR - BB AT L
BT R U ) BUA S PR AR
1 o A S5 M R 1 BR R B E BRI
F5E o AR 1 2 B SR W A SO ] A R S A

RoEDEAEZA = —H > AEEE R A
Fy276 N (R 4 1 207 ) o ik IR > 2k
H R AT 25 2 B TR (B4 #5353 49
67,600,000 JC (& — 4 © 56,200,000
Jo) °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the
form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group
or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. In
addition, the Company adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible participants, the particulars of which are set out in note
42 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation
package of the Group’s Directors and senior management, by reference to,
among other things, market level of salaries paid by comparable companies,
the respective responsibilities of the Group’s Directors and the performance of

the Group.

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business growth and
also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. The Group considers that
it is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe
benefits for our potential and existing employees. In this regard, the Group
provides comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain appropriate and
suitable employees to serve the Group. In general, the Group determines
employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides
on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’

career development and learning.

The Group is committed to providing high-quality products and services to its
customers. Through on-site visits and major customers satisfaction surveys, the
Group reaches out for its existing and prospective customers to understand
their needs and collect their feedback for identifying areas of improvement

and advancing the Group to achieve excellence.

The Group values mutually beneficial long-term relationships with its
suppliers. Their steady supply of raw materials and products in high quality
are crucial for the Group. The Group is committed to developing stable and

sustainable partnership among its suppliers.
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End of COVID-related restrictions and reopening of international borders in
Hong Kong, especially the border of Mainland China and Hong Kong, boosts
the economic and commercial activities and consumer spending. Considering
the recovery of the world economic and the growing of health consciousness
of the general public for the post-COVID period, the management is optimistic

about the sales growth for the coming financial years.

Looking forward, with the ultimate aim to maximise value for shareholders
and enhance its position in the competitive industry, the Group is dedicated to
expanding our markets beyond Hong Kong. We are actively expanding our
markets in other Asian regions including the Mainland China, Singapore and
Malaysia; we believe additional income can be brought to the Group for the

coming financial years.

In respect of research and development, Royal Medic Research and
Development Centre (the “R&D Centre”), located at the Hong Kong Science
Park, was established in 2017 and has been committed to improving the
quality control standard of existing products, assisting in the research and
development of new products and promoting academic exchange between
Royal Medic and local universities. The primary scope of business of the
R&D Centre covers chemical analysis of product ingredients, which develops
rapid and accurate ingredient testing methods utilising an advanced chemical
analysis platform to improve product safety and reliability. The Group will
utilize the product development team which operate the R&D Centre to build
up the new product reserve so that the Group can launch new products from

time to time for the coming financial years.

Moreover, the Group continues to strengthen the information technology
system to enhance overall operational efficiency. The Group is planning to
invest and develop internal management system for the purpose of further
improving its cost effectiveness, logistics management, shortening the
procurement cycle. As such, we believe the internal management system will
simplify the workflow and achieve more effective cost management of the

Group.

This year marks the 20th anniversary since the establishment of the Group.
Starting from November 2022, the Group has successfully launched a series of
advertising and marketing campaigns to upgrade and promote the brand image
of Royal Medic to customers of all ages. The Group will further strengthen its
promotion plans to attract new customers from different customer groups to

expand the market, not only in Hong Kong but also worldwide.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Save as disclosed in notes 13, 21 and 40 to the audited consolidated financial
statements and elsewhere in this annual report, there was no other material
disposal and acquisition of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint

ventures during the Reporting Period.

As at 31 March 2023, there was no significant investment with a carrying

amount accounting for 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment as
at 31 March 2023.

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and
cash balances that are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollar (“US$”)
and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to manage and minimise the foreign currency
risk, the management will continue to manage and monitor the foreign
currency exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely

and effective manner.
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As at 31
approximately HK$61.7 million (2022: HK$71.9 million). The banking

facilities are secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings, having

March 2023, the Group had secured bank borrowings of

carrying amount of approximately HK$66.1 million as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$68.9 million).

There is no other significant event occurring after the Reporting Period up to

the date of this annual report.

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of
the possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered

that the most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes
in regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of
food and health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal
ingredients may be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in
the coming years. Significant effect may impact on the future development of
health supplements as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up
and comply with these changes, such factors would affect the Group’s

success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.

Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth
or a recession may affect consumers’ preferences and spending which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results
and financial conditions. In response to these challenges, the Group will
closely monitor the changing economic conditions and also actively implement
effective measures to control the administration and production costs. The
Group will also continue to roll out more new products and open up more
distribution channels, and diversify its business to improve the Group’s overall

performance.
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Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, aged 53, is the chairman of the Board and an executive
director of the Company. Mr. Cheung joined the Group on 24 January 2022.
Mr. Cheung holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Electronic
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Cheung
founded Hammer Capital Group Limited in 2013. Prior to founding Hammer
Capital Group Limited, he was the director in Capital Markets of Merrill
Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited (“Merrill Lynch”). Prior to his position at
Merrill Lynch, Mr. Cheung was the Head of Strategic Equity Solutions of Asia
Pacific of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited. Mr. Cheung had also held
key positions in various major investment banks in Asia Pacific such as
Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank (presently known as Crédit Agricole
Corporate & Investment Bank) and Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited (a
member of JPMorgan Chase & Co.).

Mr. Cheung was an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(“CTEG”) between 3 August 2020 and 10 November 2020 and was appointed
as an executive director again and the chief executive officer of CTEG
between 19 April 2021 and 19 January 2022, and the shares of CTEG were
delisted from the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 10 September 2021. He is currently
the chairman and executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited
(stock code: 524), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong, aged 42, is an executive director, a chief executive
officer and authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Lam joined the
Group on 6 May 2022. Mr. Lam is mainly responsible for the overall strategic

planning and operations of the Group’s business.
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Mr. Lam has extensive experience in corporate finance, business management
and internal control. Mr. Lam began his career working at Cinda International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hantec Investment Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 111)
as a management trainee from August 2005 to June 2007 and subsequently the
corporate sales desk officer from June 2007 to October 2007. He then worked
at Shenyin Wanguo (H.K.) Limited (now known as Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.)
Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock
code: 218), as a corporate finance executive from October 2007 to May
2010, where he was responsible for provision of financial advisory services.
From June 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Lam worked at Partners Capital
International Limited, a company engaged in providing merger and acquisition
strategy and financial advisory services as an assistant manager. From July
2011 to August 2012, he returned to Shenyin Wanguo Enterprises (H.K.)
Limited as a corporate finance manager, where he was responsible for
provision of financial advisory services. From February 2013 to May 2014,
Mr. Lam was the chief operating officer of Haohai Industry (Group) Limited,
a property developer in the PRC, where he was responsible for overseeing its
business operations in Hong Kong such as mergers and acquisitions as well as
human resources management and internal control. From December 2014 to
August 2016, Mr. Lam joined True Eminent Development (Holdings) Limited,
a property developer in the PRC, as an executive director and subsequently
the chief executive officer where he was responsible for providing oversight of
the group’s investment decision, internal control, corporate development, direct
investment and finance. From January 2017 to October 2021, Mr. Lam ran his
own business to provide business consultancy services to both private and
listed companies. Mr. Lam was also an executive director of CTEG from 29
October 2020 to 18 April 2021. Since 19 April 2021, Mr. Lam has
transitioned from an executive director of CTEG to a member of the senior
management where he was responsible for overseeing the business operations,
internal control and finance and the shares of CTEG was delisted from the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 10 September 2021. Mr.
Lam is currently an executive director of MIE Holdings Corporation (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555)
with effect from 4 April 2022.

Mr. Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree in business administration (human resources management) in 2004. He
also obtained a master’s degree in finance (investment management) from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. He was admitted as a member of
the Institute of Public Accountants and the Institute of Certified Management

Accountants (Australia) in March 2014 and July 2014, respectively.
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Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 37, is an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the
Company on 24 October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit
committee of the Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a
director of Global Business Development at TMF Group, a leading global
services provider of high-value business services to clients operating and
investing globally. Before joining TMF Group, he served as the financial
controller of an international investment management company focusing on the
market of the Greater China. Mr. Leung has worked for different international
audit firms including KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past eight
years from October 2008. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Commerce (Accounting and Finance) from Monash University in Australia in
2008 and has been a member of the CPA Australia since 2011.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun, aged 39, is an independent non-executive director, a
member of the audit committee and the chairman of the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Liu joined the Company
on 1 July 2022 and was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company on 14 September
2022. He has more than 15 years of experience in the field of audit and
assurance. He founded Zhong Pu Risk Management Limited (“Zhong Pu”), a
company which provides business advisory, consultancy and taxation services
for clients ranging from private entities to listed companies in Hong Kong, in
2017 and has been serving as a director at Zhong Pu since then. Mr. Liu has
been serving as independent non-executive director for MIE Holdings
Corporation (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
(stock code: 1555) since August 2021 and Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code:
1172) since November 2022. Since November 2019, Mr. Liu has also been
serving as the company secretary of Polyfair Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8532). Prior to founding
Zhong Pu, Mr. Liu worked as an assurance manager and senior associate at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2014 to 2016 and 2010 to 2012, respectively, a
finance manager at Wong’s Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 532)
from 2012 to 2013, and also at Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA
Limited (an accounting firm which has since merged into BDO Limited) from
2006 to 2009, with his last position as a senior associate. Mr. Liu obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration from Lingnan University in Hong Kong
and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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Ms. Dong Jian Mei, aged 49, is an independent non-executive director and a
member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Dong joined the Company on 1
July 2022. Ms. Dong has approximately 26 years of experience in the field of
natural resources economics and business management. Since January 1996,
Ms. Dong has been working as a researcher at the Chinese Academy of Land
& Resource Economics (' T &AW S BE) and was mainly
responsible for researching on the reform and development of the national
geological exploration industry and management of geological data. In 2018,
she has received a Certificate of Senior Qualification issued by the Chinese
Academy of Land & Resource Economics. Ms. Dong obtained a Bachelor of
Economics and a Master of Economics from Renmin University of China (1
DPNEPNE S
Certificate of Accounting Professional in the PRC in 1999.

) in 2004 and 2011 respectively. Ms. Dong has also obtained a

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 40,
Company. He has over 17 years of experience in corporate finance and listed

is the chief operating officer of the

companies management. Mr. Yeung joined the Company on 6 May 2022.
Prior to joining the Group, he has been the chief financial officer of
Changyou Alliance Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1039) since November 2020. Mr. Yeung
was the chief financial officer of a private Hong Kong company where he was
in charge of pre-IPO group restructuring and fundraising for the period from
June 2019 to November 2020. He was the financial controller of Creation
Chance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company for the period
from December 2018 to June 2019, where he was mainly in charge of
monitoring financial and development of its Hong Kong business. For the
period from September 2014 to August 2018, he was the chief financial
officer of PPS International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8201) (“PPS”), and was further appointed
as an executive director of PPS during the period from February 2018 to July
2018, where he was responsible for the diversification of the group’s business
and establishment of the PRC branch. Mr. Yeung was an independent non-
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 433) for the
period from July 2019 to June 2020. From November 2005 to September
2014, Mr. Yeung was engaged by several corporate finance companies, where
he was responsible for several IPO projects and acted as the financial adviser,
independent financial adviser and compliance advisers to a large number of
listed companies. Mr. Yeung was also an independent non-executive director
of the Company for the period from May 2022 to September 2022. Mr.
Yeung is currently an independent non-executive director of MIE Holdings
Corporation (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
(stock code: 1555) with effect from 4 April 2022.
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Mr. Tsang Chi Wai Rock, aged 59, is the chief compliance officer of the
Company. He is responsible for overseeing the compliance function of the
Group. Mr. Tsang joined the Group on 3 May 2022. Mr. Tsang obtained a
master degree in professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2001. Mr. Tsang is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tsang has over 30 years’
experience in the accounting and finance sector including an international

accounting firm and companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Chak Man, aged 42, is the chief financial officer of the Group. He
joined our Group in June 2022 and is responsible for overseeing the financial
operations and treasury function of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of
experience in financial management and auditing for companies listed in Hong
Kong. Prior joining the Group, Mr. Wong worked as the deputy financial
controller of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (a company listed on
the Main board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 2314) from September
2021 to May 2022. From 2005 to 2021, he worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu with his last position as an audit senior manager. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is also a certified public accountant of The Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi, aged 36, is the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. She is responsible for overseeing the corporate
governance matters and company secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Chan
joined the Group on 3 April 2018 and she was previously the senior finance
manager of the Group supervising the financial reporting and financial
management functions of the Group before being promoted as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company with effect from 21
October 2021. Ms. Chan has over 15 years of professional experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial matters.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Chan worked in an international audit firm
from June 2008 to April 2018 and her last position was audit manager. During
her time as an external auditor, Ms. Chan was responsible for various audit of
listed companies, merger and acquisition and initial public offering
assignments. Ms. Chan is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) registered
under the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance (Cap.588),
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. She is also a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in
accounting from Lingnan University in 2008 and a Master of Corporate

Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2020.
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Ms. Wong Suet Yin, aged 43, is the marketing director of the Company. Ms.
Wong joined the Group on 16 May 2022 and is responsible for the promotion
and marketing of the Group’s product brands, which include “Royal Medic”,
“H365” and “Legend”. Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in public
relations and has worked for a number of reputed state-owned and Hong Kong
listed companies in planning and facilitating investor and media relations and
coordinating a number of large-scale corporate events. Ms. Wong also has
extensive experience in marketing, having coordinated and implemented large-
scale marketing and promotional events, brand launches, media campaigns and
online celebrity collaborations for various well-known brands, banks and

organisations.

Ms. Yeung Wun Ting, aged 40, is the commercial director of the Group.
Ms. Yeung joined the Group on 1 June 2022, and she is responsible for key
accounts and developing new and potential business channels. Ms. Yeung
worked for a few well-known and branded department stores for over 13
years, and she has extensive experience in managing, coordinating a number
of broad-scale refurbishment projects and leading in various key brands mixes
in the projects. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yeung has worked as a
Business Development Manager in a popular food & beverage company which
operates as a chain store in Hong Kong from mid 2019 to mid 2022. She has
rich experience in planning and implementing multiple new business channels

and activities for different brands in the Company.

Mr. Fung Chin Yeung, aged 35, is the supply chain senior manager of the
Group. Mr. Fung joined the Group on 28 May 2012, and he is responsible for
overseeing and leading all levels of supply chain functions. Mr. Fung holds a
Bachelor of Science in Food and Nutritional Sciences Programme and a
Master of Science in Operation and Supply Chain Management, and he is a
member of the Beta Gamma Sigma, the International Business Honor Society.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fung worked in a well-known food company
from 2010 to 2012, and he was responsible for quality management. Mr. Fung
has over 12 years of experience in research and development procurement,

production and quality assurance, in food and Chinese medicine industry.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) present the report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong. Except for the
disposal of e-commerce promotion business following the disposal of the
entire interest in Advance Rider Limited, there was no significant change in
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 March
2023.

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2023 as required by
the Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely future development of
the Group’s business, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position, are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” from
pages 9 to 14 and “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 6 to 8 respectively,
particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2023, if any, can also be found
in the abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout
this Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, all these sections form part of

this report of the Directors.

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering our high
quality products in a manner that minimal impact is created by our business
activities to the environment. The Company has engaged professional advisers
to review and advise on the environmental, social and governance policies of
the Group, and the Group has committed to formulate, review and evaluate the
performance of its environmental protection policies from time to time. More
details on the relevant policies and the performance of the Group are
disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” from pages

66 to 106 of this annual report.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 43 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023, the results and the state of affairs of the
Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report on pages 113 to 114.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil) in accordance
with the dividend policy of the Company.

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2023 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 29
August 2023 to Friday, 1 September 2023 (both dates inclusive), for the
purpose of determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Friday, 1 September 2023 (the “2023 AGM”), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attendance at the 2023 AGM, all completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates of the Company must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 28 August
2023.

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past
five financial years is set out on page 240 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group in this annual report.

Segment information of the Group are set out in note 6 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
property of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in
notes 18 and 17 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 34 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

Particulars of the share options of the Company (the “Share Option(s)”) and
details of movements in the Share Options during the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out in note 42 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil).

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles and Association”) and the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

Save as disclosed in the above respective paragraph regarding “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and others, if any, as disclosed in this
annual report, there was no other equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the audited consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 117 and note 44 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Cayman
Islands’ legislation, is nil (2022: Nil).

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023
are set out in note 30 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman) (appointed as the Chairman
on 24 October 2022)
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 6 May 2022)

Mr. Wang Xihua (resigned and ceased to be the Chairman with
effect from 24 October 2022)

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William (resigned with effect from 1 July 2022)

Mr. Chen Man Lung (appointed on 6 May 2022 and resigned with
effect from 1 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (appointed on 1 July 2022)

Ms. Dong Jian Mei (appointed on 1 July 2022)

Mr. Tam Kin Yip (retired at the conclusion of annual general meeting on
1 September 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Loon (retired at the conclusion of annual general meeting
on 1 September 2022)

Ms. So Tsz Kwan (resigned with effect from 23 June 2022)

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (appointed on 6 May 2022 and
resigned with effect from 14 September 2022)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 15 to 20 of this

annual report.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, being the executive Director, and Mr. Leung Winson
Kwan Yau, being the independent non-executive Director, will retire by
rotation from the Board at the 2023 AGM and being eligible, offer themselves
to be re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders in the 2023 AGM in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years.
Their terms of offices are also subject to retirement by rotation from the
Board and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in

accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company received written confirmations of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau,
Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei, respectively for the year ended
31 March 2023 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and the nomination
committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current independent
non-executive Directors are independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules, as amended from time to time.

Changes in Directors’ information since the date of approval of the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2022 of the Company and up to
the date of this annual report, which are required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

. On 17 May 2023, the Board approved (as recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company) the adjustment of Director’s
fee of Mr. Lam Wai Tong from HK$1,560,000 per annum to
HK$2,760,000 per annum with effect from 1 June 2023.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified
against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their
duties. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group during the year.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively,
are set out in notes 10 to 11 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report, respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are
set out under the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section
headed “Board Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual

report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i) are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) were
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company
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Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Leading Virtue Holdings Limited (“Leading Virtue”) and
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on 24 February 2023, 723,242,000
shares of the Company are held by Leading Virtue, a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Leading Virtue by virtue of the SFO.

2) Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the chairman of the Board and an executive director of the
Company, is a beneficial owner of 12,952,000 shares of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section
headed “DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” below, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

As at 31 March 2023, the number of outstanding Share Options granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe for the shares of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the sections headed “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and in the note 42 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code, as amended from time to time.
All the Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2023. Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information, have been requested to comply with provisions
of the Model Code.

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report and under the “CONNECTED
TRANSACTION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS”, if any, in this

report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had a material

section headed

interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was
a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, according to the register of interests kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

ERFHRES

TR R A

MEFZEFEEA = REAL RRER
Fr B B A9 565 336 M0 FT 4 A7 1A HEE 2 B R AT - A
TAE (EFHAL R EZTEANE RSN RA
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55 XV HB 552 5 30 F 60 AR 23w K 32 i DA
Bt A FAR R 8 5 T £ e 101 265 336 10k BT £
i > e AT e AL ARG

TR A2 T By B 4 A

Leading Virtue Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 23.27%
A A o

Ms. Leung Lisa Interest of controlled Ordinary Shares 718,804,033@ 23.13%

corporation
PR A+ 2Pk T M 4 o i
Prosper Rich Investments Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 718,804,033® 23.13%
(“Prosper Rich”)
SRR ZEDN 5 e
* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the  * HARCEREALAAR -FZ_=F==+—H

Company in issue as at 31 March 2023 (i.e. 3,107,893,440 shares).

Notes:

(1) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Leading Virtue and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock
Exchange on 24 February 2023, 723,242,000 shares of the Company are held by
Leading Virtue, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr.
Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Virtue by
virtue of the SFO.

B3 17 11 1 48 9 (B 3,107,893,44001%) 1E Hi 58 % (n
H) o

1) R 8 B 22 197 48 3 (http://www . hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm)
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(2) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosure of interests of Prosper Rich and Ms. Leung Lisa filed with the Stock
Exchange on 20 June 2022, 718,804,033 shares of the Company are held by Prosper
Rich, a company wholly-owned by Ms. Leung Lisa. As such, Ms. Leung Lisa is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Prosper Rich by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company had not been
notified by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, save as disclosed, the Directors were not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors and their respective close
associates that compete or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such

person has or may have with the Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the

Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer taken together
accounted for approximately 74% and 74% of the Group’s total sales for year,

respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest supplier taken together accounted
for approximately 49% and 17% of the Group’s total purchases for the year,

respectively.

Except for the sales to Hammer Capital (Hong Kong) Limited as disclosed in
note 41(b) to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close
associates, nor those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any

beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in note 41 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Save for the
transactions disclosed under note 41(b) which are continuing connected
transactions that are exempt from annual reporting requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, such related party transactions do not fall under the
definition of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under

the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are required
to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed and confirmed that all the continuing connected transactions
taken place during the Reporting Period were (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the same on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 276 employees. Salaries
of employees and Directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and
bonuses are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance, medical cover, subsidised educational and training

programmes as well as the Share Option Scheme.

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in the form of contributions to
Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare
fund respectively. Details are set out in note 16 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any charitable and other
donations (2022: Nil).

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board reviews and monitors the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the

attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save as disclosed in the “Corporate Governance Report” on page
34 of this annual report, the Company has complied with the requirements
under the memorandum of association of the Company, the Articles of
Association, the Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s
compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate

Governance Report” from pages 34 to 65 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to
safeguard the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment
Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and occupational safety

through established internal policies and/or procedures.

There is no significant event occurring after the year ended 31 March 2023

and up to the date of this annual report.
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Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) resigned as the independent
auditor of the Company with effect from 30 October 2020 and Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was appointed as the independent auditor of the
Company on 2 November 2020 to fill the casual vacancy following the

resignation of Elite Partners.

Deloitte resigned as the independent auditor of the Company with effect from
22 April 2022 and Moore Stephens CPA Limited (“Moore Stephens”) was
appointed as the independent auditor of the Company on 25 April 2022 to fill

the casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

Saved as disclosed above, there has been no change in the independent auditor

in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have
been audited by Moore Stephens, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2023 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 June 2023

oS

B 0 {5 8 S A0 S5 T A BR 2 R (B e 7 48 1)
T ZFEA = AR A R B A%
A TR « B BB Gt T (TREE) ) R =
FoTEY A AR AN T A%
YT > LSRR BH (5 R AT AR 0 8RR 22 sk o

TEENR R T AN A T R AHEA L A
3 S R R TR 3 G e S A S A R A
ARERBED R -F_FMH - +HH
TEZAT I A % W B ST AZ SR > DA SECAR 78 8 B AT
2 1 e e 22 e o

B L SCRT 38 & A > a5 = SRR ARE
8 S A% B S S 5 O

BEF - =ZF= A=+ HILFENEGS M
iR O E R AlOR 2 G R > H
TR T AR RO AR R B AT AT A A S
BIEE L2 .

REHERE
1 I ¢ (422 Je ) A PR 2 ]

FIE
R
il SR =HFAA LR

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 2 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 2 W] 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
185 B R 0k

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s
needs. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (as amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to Listing Rules. As far as the Code is concerned, during the
year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with all applicable Code provisions as set out in the
Code contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the
deviation from the Code provision C.2.1 during the period from 1 April 2022
to 18 May 2022, which stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Company should be
separated, details of the deviation is elaborated below under the paragraph

headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this report.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association of the
Company, the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Securities and Future Ordinance and the Listing Rules as well as

other laws applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties
in accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies
and practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management of the
Companys; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and the Directors; and (v) the compliance with the
Code and disclosure in this report, are adequate and appropriate for the
Company in light of its current corporate strategy. The Company did and will
review its corporate governance duties in light of the changing legal and

regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to time.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors, all with
professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and
oversight of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During
the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report, the

composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)"

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Chief Executive Officer)*>*

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Liu Ying Shun®

Ms. Dong Jian Mei®

Former Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xihua?

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William®
Mr. Chen Man Lung* 3 *

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam Kin Yip®

Mr. Leung Man Loon®

Ms. So Tsz Kwan®

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen*’

Notes:

1. Mr. Cheung Siu Fai was appointed as the Chairman on 24 October 2022.

2. On 6 May 2022, Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen
were appointed as an executive Director, an executive Director and an independent
non-executive Director of the Company respectively.

3. Mr. Wang Xihua was the acting Chairman and acting CEO before 19 May 2022, and

following the appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung as the Co-
CEO of the Company which have been taken effect from 19 May 2022, the executive
responsibilities of Mr. Wang Xihua has changed and he remained as the acting
Chairman from 19 May 2022 until his resignation as acting Chairman and executive
Director of the Company with effect from 24 October 2022.
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4. Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned as an executive Director and Co-CEO of the Company
with effect from 1 September 2022 and 3 September 2022 respectively. Mr. Lam Wai
Tong, has been re-designated as the sole CEO of the Company with effect from 3
September 2022.

5. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
23 June 2022.

6. Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William resigned as an executive Director with effect from 1 July
2022.
7. Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei have been appointed as independent non-

executive Directors with effect from 1 July 2022.

8. Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon retired as independent non-executive
Directors at the conclusion of the adjourned annual general meeting held on 1
September 2022.

9. Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 14 September 2022.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on
the Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to
ensure that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep
knowledge of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives
and diverse experience to the Board.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of
skills, expertise, experience and qualifications of the Board members. A list of
Directors identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk). The names of all the Directors did and be disclosed in

all corporate communications of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.
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Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each of annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall
be subject to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at
least once every three years under the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election in the annual general meeting of
the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy to the Board
during the year is subject to retirement at the first general meeting of the
Company to be held after his/her appointment by the Board and then
re-election by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, being an executive Director, and Mr. Leung Winson
Kwan Yan, being an independent non-executive Director, will retire by
rotation from the Board at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 1 September 2023 (the “2023 AGM”) and, being
eligible, offer themselves to be re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders in
the 2023 AGM in accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of

Association and the Listing Rules.

Changes of Board Composition
On 6 May 2022, Mr. Lam Wai Tong, Mr. Chen Man Lung and Mr. Yeung
Yat Chuen were appointed as an executive Director, an executive Director and

an independent non-executive Director of the Company respectively.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung have been appointed as
Co-CEOs of the Company with effect from 19 May 2022. Following the
appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung as the
Co-CEOs, the executive responsibilities of Mr. Wang Xihua has been changed
from executive Director, Acting Chairman, Acting CEO and authorised
representative of the Company to executive Director, Acting Chairman and
authorised representative of the Company with effect from 19 May 2022.

Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 23 June 2022.

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William resigned as an executive Director and Mr. Liu
Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei have been appointed as independent non-

executive Directors with effect from 1 July 2022.
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Mr. Chen Man Lung has resigned as an executive Director and Co-CEO of the
September 2022 and 3 September 2022

respectively. Mr. Lam Wai Tong, an executive Director and Co-CEO of the

Company with effect from 1

Company, has been re-designated as the sole CEO of the Company with effect
from 3 September 2022.

Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon retired as independent non-
executive Directors at the conclusion of the adjourned annual general meeting
held on 1 September 2022.

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen resigned as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 14 September 2022.

Mr. Wang Xihua resigned as the acting Chairman, executive Director and
authorised representative of the Company with effect from 24 October 2022,
and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Mr. Lam Wai Tong were appointed as the
Chairman and authorised representative of the Company respectively since 24
October 2022.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for a
term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (i)
retirement by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting; (ii) at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each annual general meeting; and (iii) Director(s) appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of
the first general meeting of the Company to be held and then be re-appointed
by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the Articles of

Association and/or the Listing Rules.

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include
the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected under the Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all
independent non-executive Directors (all have served the Company less than

nine years) are set out below:

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.
Mr. Liu Ying Shun was appointed on 1 July 2022.
Ms. Dong Jian Mei was appointed on 1 July 2022.

38

Annual Report 2022/2023 4 #i

R SCHESEAE B BEAT A2 WA T 8 5 B A A T B4
oAl Z - FE AR EFL
H = H AR A FAT 2 SR A AT A
MEEE oAk B AT AR A FIE— TR - B
FEAHENAZHEAR -

AR R DR F LA —
F B AT 119 5SRO R A 4 R R AR A 8 S JE L
TS -

B HOR e RHE B TR > g =% =
LA Y H R AR -

FEPEES R CRHEA R A - BT ESR K
BRMEAER A F AR EE
R AR RS A BRI e T Rl | =&
TR A A R ZR AT S A ) T B
BREAK -

AR 2w RE R

AR ) B A 24 BT ST 2 30 = AR 2 BB B
ik o M A PR ZE G B A A T AR AN HI) BB i R
() BB AR O AR R G & R g &
I (R EE R — K (ENREENED =52
— 2 JE i PR RO A R A TR B O R
(BB AT 5 S (i) 28 35 =5 6 i 4 TN 34T DA SEL AR
TR HRF: 22 fple 1) 28 2 AT NG 28 AR R T 84T 2 1 1R
BEFA A 45 A A 1k - S ] A ] — K - R R
BT

A AR 28 FAEAT AR 48 JLAF B (L0 J8 S FR AT i g
M55 > A 705 8 A A 281y B DA S PR 52 07 X
JA B AR EHERR o T ATARE - BEMERZ R
Al A F B RCEE B4 SO AR A TR R AT
T 2 AT R S NI R A R A AT ) TR
o FAAS 2w AT T AR B35 2D 7 JLAR A BT A7 48 5
FRATE F A ARRATH F IS

REMES R TR A U R -
B SEE —F AL A — R -
WAER/MAR LA — B HEERAL



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company’s business to the senior management of the
Company and the delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised
and periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions, arrangements and/or contracts
entered into by the senior management of the Company and the Group. The
Board focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, corporate governance, finance and the Shareholders,
including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes in
accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major
investments, corporate governance functions, risk management system, treasury
policies and fare structures. The Board has the full support of its senior

management to discharge its responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman of the Board and
CEO should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual.

During the period from 1 April 2022 to 18 May 2022, Mr. Wang Xihua, acting
as both the former Acting Chairman of the Board and the Acting CEO of the
Company, was responsible for providing leadership to the Board in terms of
establishing policies and business directions. He ensured that the Board
discharged its responsibilities effectively and all key issues were discussed by
the Board timely. Mr. Wang was also responsible for the overall operation and
the executive responsibilities of the Group and the full implementation of the
directions and policies established by the Board. Although Mr. Wang served
as both the acting Chairman and acting CEO of the Company during the
period from 1 April 2022 to 18 May 2022, which is a deviation from Code
Provision C.2.1, given Mr. Wang’s extensive experience in the business of the
Group, the Board considered during the period in which Mr. Wang was
performing both roles of Acting Chairman and Acting CEO, the efficiency of
the Company’s business development and management could be enhanced, and
would not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company. Moreover, all other members of the Board
have the experience and expertise to ensure balance of power and authority so
that the power was not concentrated on any one individual.
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Since the appointments of Mr. Lam Wai Tong and Mr. Chen Man Lung as the
Co-CEOs of the Company with effect from 19 May 2022,
Chairman and CEO have been separated and the Company has not deviated

the roles of

from Code provision C.2.1.

Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned from the position of executive Director with
effect from 1 September 2022, and the position of co-CEO with effect from 3
September 2022. Mr. Lam Wai Tong was re-designated as the sole CEO of
the Company with effect from 3 September 2022.

Mr. Wang Xihua resigned from the position of executive Director and Acting
Chairman with effect from 24 October 2022. Mr.
appointed as the Chairman with effect from 24 October 2022.

Cheung Siu Fai was

During the Reporting Period, there has been a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the CEO that the Chairman provides leadership and
is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board while
the CEO focuses on the Group’s business development, daily management and

operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board
meetings and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of
strategies and policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They
take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board
committee of the Company comprising all independent non-executive
Directors will be formed to advise the independent Shareholders on those
connected transactions to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are also members of various
Board Committees and devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the

Company.
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As disclosed in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, Mr. Lam
Wai Tong holds cross-directorship with Mr. Liu Ying Shun since they serve
on the boards of the Company and MIE Holdings Corporation (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 1555).
However, the Company considers that such cross-directorship would not
undermine the independence of Mr. Liu Ying Shun with respect to his
directorship at the Company given that (i) Mr. Liu Ying Shun is not involved
in any day-to-day operation of the Company as an independent non-executive
director, and (ii) he has complied and followed with the Company’s guidelines
on declaration and conflicts clearances. Meanwhile, Mr. Liu Ying Shun will
act with integrity and exercise objectivity in the conduct of serving the

Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
programme for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the key areas of business operations and practices of the
Group as well as the general and specific responsibilities and duties of
Directors under the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in

the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group
structure, Board procedures, business management and operation of the
Company, duties under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of
corporate governance and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for

all newly appointed Directors from the time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing — FF##F EEFER LB AH B AEE - B4
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge. B33 3 g5 (¥ 4 B8 S ARk o AN Rl 2 28wl Rb &
(23w RS s 1) 7 40010 3 B T 0 W) S R A

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) regularly

circulates information and materials related to roles, functions and duties of  WRAE MR ET - ZEFSHFEE - 8 o007 A 100 ) A K490 DA
listed company directors, business research and development, updated rules — JAEIFF - B85 KAt € st A B0 Bk B AL LR
and regulations, economic, environmental and social topics to develop and  Ji& K 5T 7 5 S (W Ak S Fi g o A Al 5 2l 7
refresh knowledge and skills of the Directors. All Directors are encouraged to 5% i {41 F 3] 48 B2 5% (1) A0 B 15 9 AfRe > 28 F il A
attend relevant training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s A RAYE - ME -F - =HF =H =+ —HILF
expense. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated in [ > ¥ H % S DL R £l

the following trainings:

Current Directors BUEEF
Executive Directors BT HEFH
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai iR DR S e
Mr. Lam Wai Tong BT SR A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors W IEH LT H
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PHLSE A B
Mr. Liu Ying Shun BB IE 5 A A, B
Ms. Dong Jian Mei g R/ MH A, B
Former Directors T A o
Executive Directors H 1T EF
Mr. Wang Xihua F PGSR

(resignation effective from 24 October 2022) (BHE ] K= 4 = 19 HLE5¢) B
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR MRS AR

(resignation effective from 1 July 2022) (BHE ] —F = 4L — HE4ER) N/AZR i )
Mr. Chen Man Lung PR SCHE B R

(resignation effective from I September 2022) (B —FEZ 4 — H 845 A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors W BT H
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (retired on 1 September 2022) SRS (R F T CAE L H — HRAT) B
Mr. Leung Man Loon (retired on 1 September 2022) RCHES e (R ZF Z AE LA — HABT) B
Ms. So Tsz Kwan BRI /MR

(resignation effective from 23 June 2022) (BEFH == 4N H A = HEAERL) N/A A
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen IR SE A

(resignation effective from 14 September 2022) (BHE B = = Z4FJL A P H# R A, B
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A: attending training/seminars/webinars/in-house briefings arranged by the Company or

external professional parties

B: reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy, latest changes and

development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices, etc.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records
on an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the Company
Secretary for regular review by the nomination committee of the Company.
The training records of the Directors were reviewed by the nomination

committee of the Company in June 2023.

Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meet at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant
information of the Company and may take independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved

procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board

Committee(s)”’) meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

The draft agendas for Board and Board Committees meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Chairman and Board Committees.
Directors are advised to inform the Chairman and Board Committees or the
Company Secretary not less than one week before the relevant Board and
Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda of
the meeting. The agendas together with Board and Board Committees papers
are sent at least three days before the intended date of the Board and Board
Committees meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors
and Committee members are free to have access to the management for
enquiries and to obtain further information and have unrestricted access to the

advice and services of the Company Secretary when required.
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The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors. Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly

defined objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best
interests of the Company and have particularly regard to the interest of the
Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare
the nature and extent of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement,
contract or other proposal to be considered by the Board at Board meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Articles of Association, a Director cannot
cast a vote on any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in

which he/she has or any of his/her close associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by
the Company Secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the
development of the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that
the Directors and member of the Board Committees are supplied with all the

requested information in a timely and appropriate manner.
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Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as

well as the general meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March

2023 are as follows:

EE N Rk TR
BEFZ ZHAZAZ+—HIEFEE > FEFH
i 2R R S A ) B RO o 2 AR A RE Bk B
o

Attendance/Number of meetings during the

Directors’ tenure of office

H R R AR R
Extraordinary Annual
general general
meeting meeting Board

BeRFERIRE  BORBERE HHE
Number of Meeting(s) R 1 1 7
Current Directors BUEESR
Executive Directors HITHFE
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai RS A 1/1 0/1 477
Mr. Lam Wai Tong' RER I S A 1/1 1/1 6/6
Independent Non-executive Directors HLIHEHATEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BEEPL A 171 1/1 17
Mr. Liu Ying Shun? B I A A 2 171 1/1 3/3
Ms. Dong Jian Mei? VN R 1/1 1/1 3/3
Former Directors i fE g
Executive Directors HATH#HF
Mr. Wang Xihua? ESITE D N/AAR 1/1 5/5
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William* AR IR A N/AZR 8 N/AAR T 4/4
Mr. Chen Man Lung’ B SCHE S 2B S N/AAE 0/1 3/3
Independent Non-executive Directors P IEHATHEF
Mr. Tam Kin Yip® ER e N/AAN 7 1/1 4/4
Mr. Leung Man Loon® PF A N/AAR 1/1 4/4
Ms. So Tsz Kwan’ BRIEH /N7 N/AAS T N/AR 7 3/3
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen® M H R e N/AA 7 1 1/1 4/4
Notes: B 3
1. Mr. Lam Wai Tong was appointed on 6 May 2022. 1. MEEFE SR AE N —F Z AE A N B EZRATE -
2. Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei were appointed on 1 July 2022. 2. B E e A SN R T AR H

BT -

3. Mr. Wang Xihua resigned with effect from 24 October 2022. 3. EPHESAEC AT ASE AT U E A

e
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4. Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William resigned with effect from 1 July 2022.

5. Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned with effect from 1 September 2022.

6. Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon retired with effect from 1 September 2022.
7. Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned with effect from 23 June 2022.

8. Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen resigned with effect from 14 September 2022.

Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing
their duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance
record at the Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year
ended 31 March 2023, which was reviewed by the nomination committee of
the Company in June 2023, demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to

the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared
by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
the Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views
expressed (if any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the
Board and Board committees for their comment within a reasonable time after

the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2023 in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The nomination committee of
the Company has assessed their independence and concluded that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of

the Listing Rules and continues to consider each of them is independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensure that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments. The Chairman held
a meeting with the non-executive Directors without the other executive

Director during the Reporting Period.
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Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the
Directors in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved (the
“Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors have agreed to confirm/
update their Commitments to the Company in a timely manner and confirm
his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests to the Company

twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc. The Company
has conducted an annual review of the Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and
other relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against

other similar policies purchase by other companies.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code”) as
set out in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully
complied with the Model Code, and there is no event of non-compliance.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company, have been requested to comply with the

provisions of the Model Code.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi is the Company Secretary since 21 October 2021. The
biographical details of Ms. Chan Yuk Chi are set out under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report.

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of
the Board and CEO of the Company and is responsible for ensuring sound
information flow and communication among the members of the Board, senior
management and the Shareholders as well as advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures as well as all

applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.
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Ms. Chan Yuk Chi has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed
by its respective terms of reference (as amended from time to time) which are
available on the both websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has been
established by the Board. It comprises a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
majority of the Audit Committee members should be independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee should be chaired by an
independent non-executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the

Listing Rules.

As at 27 June 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three (3) members, they
are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau (chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian
Mei. None of the members of the Audit Committee is or was a former partner

of the Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if
any) in respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control

system and risk management system of the Company.
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Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee held three (3)

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e XRE

#HHZ A& TAE

BE-Z - =H#=A=+-HILEE  FHZZH
GEAT T Z Q)R Gk o & A T & Rl B
R

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) PHULSE A () 3/3
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (appointed on 1 July 2022) B 3 I 5 A
(R ZFEZ AL — HEZEAT) 212
Ms. Dong Jian Mei (appointed on 1 July 2022) #A L/ MA
(R ZFEZZAEE ] — HEELF) 212
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (retired on 1 September 2022) A e
(R ZHEZTAETLH — HABAT) 11
Mr. Leung Man Loon (retired on 1 September 2022) PR A
(R ZFZZAEAS — HABLE) /1
Ms. So Tsz Kwan WRIEB /N (FFHFH —FE = Z4FEANA
(resigned with effect from 23 June 2022) A= HEAER) N/AA#
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (appointed on 6 May 2022 and MHR A (R T AN HE
resigned with effect from 14 September 2022) TN REHEA —F -4+
H E3%) /1

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed,

inter

the date of this report:

WE LT =F ==+ HILFEREEAR

alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to & H # > MR HERER E > FZZ B G0 BT

reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial 1.
statements and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final
dividend (if any) and the draft results announcements of the Company,
including any changes in accounting policies and practices; major
judgmental areas; compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and compliance with the listing requirements on the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting prior to

recommending them to the Board for approval.
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2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control
system and the risk management system of the Group and the relevant

report prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by
the Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the changes, re-appointment and

remuneration of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance

performance and reporting.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”)
has been established by the Board. It should be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and comprising a majority of independent

non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

As at 27 June 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of three (3)

members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Leung

Winson Kwan Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all the Directors and senior management of the Group;
review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board with respect to share options granted and to be
granted to Director and/or senior management of the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. When the remuneration package of an
individual Director is under review, such Director will abstain from voting.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and approves all matters relating to

share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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A 3£ B IR ol
Work Performed by Remuneration Committee FZE A & AT L AE
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee held #%E _F " =F=H=1—HILFE > HMEE
three (3) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows: BT T Q)R TR o A R GRS

U

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman for the period from 14 BOEEA (ZFEZ ZF A A E
September 2022 to present) (appointed on 1 July 2022) SIEFTH) (R = F - ZFLH—H

HEZE(F) N/A R
Ms. Dong Jian Mei (appointed on 1 July 2022) #AEE /MR
(R ZFE LA — HEZT) N/A R
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PR S 3/3
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman for the period from MR  (CFE M — A
1 April 2022 to 1 September 2022) E AR — H B EEF T )
(retired on 1 September 2022) (R ZFZZAFJLH—HB) 3/3
Mr. Leung Man Loon PESCHE S A
(retired on 1 September 2022) (R ZFE AN — HIBF) 2/3
Ms. So Tsz Kwan WRIEB/NE (FFHF R —FEZ ZAFEANHA
(resigned with effect from 23 June 2022) T = HAER) 2/2
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Chairman for the period from WHREE (CEZZFENA—AF
1 September 2022 to 13 September 2022) (resigned ZEC AN A= A EEFE T
with effect from 14 September 2022) (BETH 2= 4L H P H E5¢) 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee %2 F " =4FE=A=1+—HIHEENMNEEAHR
performed, inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March HHW RIBEHMERE FMEEaY BT
2023 and up to the date of this report: (P 5) LR TAE

1. reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the 1. O~ B K B M R o R AR 4R A
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group. 8 TR 10 37 T O B R A -

2. reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the 2. A BT A HE A E BNA A R T o

remuneration packages.

3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with 3. S ] WA T ~ 45 g RO S A

reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities T BRG]~ AT K IR AR K, 5
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior A =5 B AL ST AL o S A L R 4R
management of the Group and/or other matters. pENA

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service 4. R HME R EH R AL -

agreement.
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5. considered and approved the salary increment and bonus arrangement, if

any, for certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

6. revised, approved and recommended the grant of share options to senior

management/employee.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in note 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. In addition, pursuant to the Code provision E.1.5, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Group by bands for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

5. BUE BHLHERS T S MO I A R
BRI B AE AL B (n ) o

6.  BE MR ERR TR EE R A
g P

BE E T CAESH S H R E S
175 T 0 A AR A TR SE % I R R B R 10 @ Ui
Sh o RS RMESCEBE LS - e SRS
A=+ —H IR > i 0 B &4 2 A 42 1 e A
BTG 2 AR R A

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands 2 s [ ) 43 =2 ve A A LI S T AN B
HK$1 to HK$1,000,000 17 78 2 1,000,000 # 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 % 7€ % 2,000,000 % JC 4

During the Reporting Period, there were no material matters relating to the
share option schemes of the Company which required review or approval by

the Remuneration Committee.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) has
been established by the Board. It should be chaired by the Chairman or an
independent non-executive Director and comprises a majority of independent

non-executive Directors.

As at 27 June 2023, the Nomination Committee currently consists of three (3)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (chairman of Nomination Committee), Mr. Leung Winson

Kwan Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and to assess the independence of

each independent non-executive Director.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy, as amended from time to
time, (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of
Board members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection of
candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary
of which are set out below:

(a)  With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development.

(b)  In order to provide Board members with diverse views and perspectives,
in designing the Board’s composition, the Company’s policy is to
consider a number of factors when deciding on the appointment and
renewal of Directors, and does not discriminate on the grounds of
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, job title and service term in other listed

companies.

(c)  All Board appointments did and would be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and would be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, to achieve sustainable and balanced
development of the Group, the Board has invited female talents to join the
Group. As at 31 March 2023 and as at the date of this report, the Company
has a female Director (representing approximately 20% of the Board
members) and three female senior management members (representing
approximately 42.9% of the senior management members) and as such
achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board and senior management

respectively.

The Company cements its commitment to gender diversity within its business
so it continues to review and assess the appropriate level of gender diversity
and composition that aligns with the strategies of the Company. The Board is
of the view that it is not necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for
Board gender diversity for the time being as it is of the view that all aspects
of diversity should be considered as a whole in the selection of suitable
candidates for appointment to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of — FAZH 5 H #7 > LUN B 3250 /8 #8 BUERRA ~ PRI
the Board in terms of designation, gender and age group: e Aty 41 R O TG A HE SR g 2 o R AL

Board Composition

ALK

Designation ED INED
LA PATEH WS I AT

Gender Female

PR

Age 30 to 39 4 49
T 30B% % 395K 4058 495

ED: Executive Directors
ED: $ifTHiH
INED: Independent Non-executive Directors

INED: 57 JE A7 #3
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of

the senior management in terms of gender and age group:
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Senior Management Composition

o A% A g AL

Gender

PRI

30 to 39
305% 2395

Age 40 to 49

A

407% E A9,

Female

etk

50 to 59
505% 2.595%

The same approach to gender diversity at the Board level also applies to the
Group’s workforce, including the Board members and senior management.
Among the 276 employees of the Group as at 31 March 2023, 17% are males
and 83% are females, which was in line with the industry norm. The Group
recognises the value of gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive
working environment and welcomes increased male representation at all levels.
However, the Group currently does not consider it appropriate to set any
specific gender target for its workforce as the selection of candidates should
be based on the above said diversity perspectives instead of setting an express
quota or objective. Being an equal opportunity employer, the Board monitors
the gender ratio in our workforce from time to time. The relevant diversity
information in terms of gender and age group of the workforce of the Group
is disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on page
74 of this annual report.

We will continue to strive to enhance the balance of gender representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best
practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting
staff at all levels.
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Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee held three

(3) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman for the period from
14 September 2022 to present) (appointed on 1 July 2022)

Ms. Dong Jian Mei (appointed on 1 July 2022)

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman for the period from

1 April 2022 to 1 September 2022)
(retired on 1 September 2022)

Mr. Leung Man Loon
(retired on 1 September 2022)

Ms. So Tsz Kwan

(resigned with effect from 23 June 2022)
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Chairman for the period from
1 September 2022 to 13 September 2022) (resigned with

effect from 14 September 2022)

5 Z RGBT LAE
WEF ===t HIREE A EE
BRI T =C)RE K - & BUH R AL sk 3
B

BN (S E T A A E
DIBIFTNE) (R F = Z4FELH—H
HEZA(T)

WA/

(P 22 L — HEZEAT)

e A

FEEEE A (T AaE A —HE
E AR AL — H ST )
(P ZF = 4L H — HABAT)

BCHE A
(= FE A —HBF)

WRIE R /NI (BT B = AN A
T =HEEAER)

MHREE (CEZZFEIH—HF
CDE T AENA A= HAR
W F) (BT A =& = 4
JLH AP H AR

N/AA

N/A A

3/3

3/3

2/3

2/2

2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee

performed the following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March

2023 and up to the date of this report:

(R 48) AR IAF -

BE - Z =FE=HA=+—HIFEELEEARR
M H W R R AT BN BT

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the 1. S~ BN KRR (L) A E RN

nomination of Directors.

B -

2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director. 2. FTAL B 45 8 S FF AT TR ML

3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to 3. Wyt R ek B A B B RS I N () B

become Board members.

BEFEERE -

4. approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition. 4. 0 v e Tt ok 9 g AL LA B ) o

56 Annual Report 2022/2023 4 it



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association

and the Listing Rules.

6. reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the

Diversity Policy.

Nomination Policy
The Company adopted the policy for nomination of Directors (including the
nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of

candidates for directorship) in accordance with the Code.

Selection Criteria
The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination

Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:
. reputation for integrity;

. accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business

of our Group;
. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any

person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1. The Company Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board members,
if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates

who are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
accounts are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2023,
and of the Group’s profit and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors have selected
appropriate accounting policies and, apart from those new and amended
accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2023, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out on

pages 107 to 112 of this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “Systems”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses. The Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of
objectives, budgets and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of
financial information, in particular, the tracking of deviations between actual
performances and budgets/targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the
establishment of clear lines of accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of

the Systems.

On behalf of the Board,

prepared by external independent professional firm,

the Audit Committee has reviewed the report
and reviewed the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Systems of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023, including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
effectiveness of risk management functions and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting. This is achieved primarily through approving the
scope of the annual internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of internal audit
work, the annual and interim financial statements, and the nature, scope of
work, and report of the external independent professional firm. Based on the
results of the annual review by the Audit Committee, the Board considered
that the Systems are effective and adequate. There is no significant change in
the nature and extent of risks and the Company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment since the last annual

review.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has established the
anti-corruption and risk management policies to enhance its internal control
systems. The Board reviews the anti-corruption policy and risk management

policy from time to time to ensure that the policies remain appropriate.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management
and internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control
systems and risk management system to identify the potential risks which may
arise in the operation and financial of the Group’s business for
implementation of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis.
The scope of review and the audit programme of external audit company,
which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach and focus on areas
with relatively higher perceived risks, are approved by the Audit Committee at
the end of the preceding financial year in conjunction with the management.
The external audit company executes their functions based on a yearly plan
and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports are submitted to the
management, the Board and the Audit Committee for review on a regular
basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on an annual

basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company for monitoring inside information
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures

Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to
ensure that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the
public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. The inside information should remain confidential until the
disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.
Disclosure must be made in a manner that the public can have an equal,
timely and effective access to the information available through the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).
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The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to
meet with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their concerns
about the Group and its business. The Chairman, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings of the
Company along with para 14(3) of Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules the

external auditor to answer Shareholders’ concerns.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to speak and vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual
general meeting can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general
meeting. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not prevent
Shareholders from attending and voting in person at the annual general

meeting, if Shareholders so wish.

A notice of general meeting will be given to Shareholders at least 21 clear
days for the annual general meetings of the Company and at least 14 clear
days for other general meetings. Shareholders are invited to raise concerns on
the business of the Company. Apart from usual business at the annual general
meeting, the Board will propose general mandates for the repurchase of shares

and the issue of shares of the Company at each annual general meeting.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting did
and would be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together
with annual report and posted on the websites of the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All
resolutions be passed by way of a poll conducted and verified by the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results
of each of the proposed resolutions to the Shareholders be published on the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s websites
(www.shunten.com.hk) in due time after annual general meeting and

extraordinary general meeting of the Company held.
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Dividend Policy Jit B BR

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion AN FAMIRATAT AR S/ EF R H o - M#E
of the Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following & # % &M% B NN :

factors:

. The financial results of the Company; . AN T I BA S 2R

. Interests of the Shareholders; . SR ) 4

. General business conditions and strategies; . — M SR R TR
. The capital requirements of the Group; . A EAT K

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to A 7 ) ) J B sl B B 2 i 1) A 2 ] IR AT

the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any; B G & () s
. Taxation considerations; . Biws % B R
. Possible effects on creditworthiness of the Company; . AL A AT REE A 2 SR
. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and . E R AR &
. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant. . HE AT AR AL A AH B Y A Ao oA A R o

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at  HE/S 55 1 21€ B IR S IR ASHTAAT 4o 5 A S5, & B BUAT
all, will be declared and paid in the future. fa] {5,
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely,

Tricor Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address . 17/F, Far East Financial Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and the investor community are welcome to send their enquiries

to the Board and the Company Secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address : Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 3700 7300
Fax : (852) 3700 7301
E-mail :  ir@shunten.com.hk
Website : www.shunten.com.hk
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information

to the extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary (the
“Requisition”) to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in the
Requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the

deposit of such Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered

office of the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address Unit D, 7/F, KC100

100 Kwai Cheong Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Address Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposals to the Company

Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
programme to enable Shareholders and investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Company has established various channels of communication

with the Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and suggestion
on future directions of the Company to the Chairman at the annual

general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation
to the results announcements, at which the Chairman and/or the
Directors are available to answer enquiries regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely access to

updated information about the Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy and

reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
of the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk

and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company adopted the second
amended and restated Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association
of the Company by way of special resolution passed on 1 September 2022, to

comply with the Listing Rules.

A copy of the second amended and restated Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association of the Company is posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website at

website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s

www.shunten.com.hk.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant change to the constitutional

documents of the Company during the Reporting Period.
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The Company engages Moore Stephens CPA Limited (“Moore Stephens”) as
its external auditor. The financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 were audited by Moore Stephens, they hold office until the conclusion of
the 2023 AGM and a resolution of the re-appointment of Moore Stephens as
auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year by the Shareholders would
be proposed in the 2023 AGM.

In order to maintain Moore Stephens’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the
Audit Committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Moore
Stephens and discusses with Moore Stephens the nature and scope of their

audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Moore
Stephens to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal

requirements.

The fees paid/payable to Moore Stephens, the Company’s auditor, in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2023 are

analysed below:
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The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG
Report”) published by Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) presents the efforts and achievements made in sustainability and
social responsibility by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “we” or “us” or “our”). The ESG Report details the performance
of the Group in carrying out the environmental and social policies and

fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

Both the English and Chinese versions of this ESG Report are available on
the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). If there is any

conflict or inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

The ESG performance as discussed in the ESG Report covers the period
between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 (the “Year” or “Reporting
Period”).

The ESG Report only covers the core business segment of the Group, namely
the health and beauty supplements and products segment, which accounts for
approximately 99.9% of the Group’s total revenue in aggregate during the
Reporting Period. The scope of this ESG Report is different from that of the
ESG Report in previous year, as the e-commerce promotion business was
disposed by the Group on 30 August 2022, it is considered to have minimal
impact on the ESG performance of the Group in the Reporting Period, as a
result, such segment is no longer included in this ESG Report. As for the
information regarding corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate

Governance Report of the Company’s 2022/2023 annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and has complied with the mandatory disclosure
requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting

Guide.

Materiality:

The content of the ESG report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. Please refer to the section “Materiality
Assessment” for details. The ESG report has covered all key issues that are

concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative:

Quantitative environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are
disclosed in the ESG report so that stakeholders are able to have a
comprehensive understanding of the Group’s ESG performance. Information of
the standards, methodologies, references and source of key emission of these

KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.

Balance:
The Group follows the principles of accuracy, objectivity, and fairness to

report its achievements and challenges in sustainable development.

Consistency:

To enhance the comparability of the ESG report, the Group adopts consistent
reporting format and methodologies for calculating KPIs as far as practicable
unless otherwise stated. In case of any changes, explanation will be provided

in the ESG report to facilitate information interpretation.
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The ESG Report is prepared based on the official documents, statistical data
and management and operation information of the Group. The Group has
internally reviewed the disclosed information to ensure its accuracy,
completeness, and compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide, so that this
ESG Report can fairly reflect the overall situation. This ESG Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 27 June 2023.

Your opinions on the Group’s ESG performance are highly valued. If you

have any advice or suggestions, please feel free to contact the Company

through:

Address: Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 3700 7300

Fax No.: 3700 7301

E-mail: ir@shunten.com.hk

Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group primarily focuses on the health and
beauty supplements and products business which has been developed in a
professional and attentive way. With strong backup and authentication by
experts, we uphold our core value in improving customers’ well-being by
launching quality-guaranteed and effective health supplements. New elements
and ideas, including modern scientific research technology and modified
formulations, are infused into the manufacturing processes of traditional

Chinese medicine.
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The Group believes that well-established ESG principles and practices will
increase investment value and provide long-term returns to stakeholders. In
order to ensure the establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and internal control systems, the Board of Directors
(the “Board”) is directly responsible for the oversight of the Group’s
ESG-related issues, including assessing and reviewing ESG-related strategies
and reporting, evaluating and determining ESG related risks and monitoring
the overall ESG performance of the Group. The executive directors of the
Company are responsible for formulating ESG management policies,
strategies, goals, and annual reporting and promoting related implementation.
They also identify, evaluate, review, prioritize and manage material ESG
issues, risks, and opportunities; while other departments of the Company are
responsible for organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG related
tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. All tasks
and the progress made against the ESG-related goals and targets will be
reported to the Board regularly in order for the Board to review and
re-formulate the policies and plans for achievement of goals and targets.
Relevant emission reduction targets and corresponding strategies are
established and sustainable development factors have been incorporated into
the Group’s strategic planning, business model and other decision-making
processes. The annual ESG report is also reviewed by the Board to ensure it

meets the Board’s requirements and the Group’s strategies.

The Board understands the importance of prioritising ESG issues of the
Group, therefore has assigned an independent consulting firm to conduct
materiality assessment on ESG issues. Stakeholder surveys have been carried
out, and directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and
provided constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The
Board is well informed about the results and will keep reviewing the
engagement channels and exercise to ensure effective communication between

the Group and stakeholders.

In order to motivate the Group in pursuing better ESG performance, the Board
will continue to keep track of the latest development of the ESG reporting
requirements in Hong Kong. The Board will keep overseeing the coordination
and management of ESG-related work and reviewing the plans and execution

regularly with respect to the goals set.
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Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so that
comments and feedbacks from major stakeholders are effectively and timely
addressed. The Group will continue to deepen the breadth and depth of

communication with stakeholders in the future.

The following table sets out our key stakeholders, their requirements and
expectations for the Group, and the corresponding response and

communication channels.

TR 2 B SR E A E - 3 DT E) [
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Management Responses/

Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Communication Channels
Fir & Jy) 22 B 3R B[] 9
Government and Regulators . Compliance with national policies, . Regular Information reporting

laws and regulation

. Contribution in local employment
. Tax payment in full and on time
. Production safety

B M B84 M A . AT B R UK SR R

. e HEE AR b il S
. $4 Wy 2 AR

. LR E
Shareholders . Returns
. Rise in company value
. Transparency and effective
communication
JBe 3% . e 2 11

. Tt FEE
. eI W] T v 2

Partners . Operation with integrity

. Equal Rivalry

. Performance of contracts

. Mutual benefits
BT - Wl

- AFEBT

. WL 8 %

. HHH R

. 7E 1 LT it

. General meetings
. Announcements
. Email, telephone communication and

company website

. Dedicated reports

. SRR &

. AALE

. R T~ A R A S A
. L T L

. Review and appraisal meetings
. Business communications

. Discussion and exchange of opinions
. Engagement and cooperation

. A BRI R

. EX i)

. AR

. mERATE
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Management Responses/

Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Communication Channels
et & Jo) 22 B 3R i 7 ] 9 0 IR
Customers . Outstanding products and services . Customer service center and hotlines
Health and safety . Social media
Performance of contracts
Operation with integrity
oS R i B AR 55 . % 5 ORR S oo A A AR
i e B 22 2 . 2
RIE B
MG A
Environment Compliance with emission regulations . Communication with local
Energy saving and emission reduction environmental department
Environmental protection . ESG Reporting
BB R . B b R A5 0 P 22 U
i RE 3k P . ESGH#
PREIRIT
Industry Establishment of industry standards . Participation in industry forums
(FES il 72 A7 AR e . EL St b
Employees Protection of rights . Meetings with employees
Occupational health . House journal and intranet
Remunerations and benefits . Employee mailbox
Career development . Training and workshops
Humanity cares . Employee activities
AT PR Wl HE i . ISR
Tk S fek . TAL T 49 K A M
ot M B AR A . B T.H48
T 38 e . B 3 B AR by
g | . BTiEE)
Community and the public Enhancement of community environment ¢ Company website
Participation in charity . Social media

Ik e 23 JR

Transparency
AT I 58 J2
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In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with the Group’s
environmental and social performance, the Group has commissioned an
independent third-party consultant to assist the Group in conducting a
materiality assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the business
of the Group and its stakeholders. The assessment is based on stakeholder
surveys, materiality maps provided by well-known external institutions, as well
as professional opinions from the third-party ESG professional. Through the
assessment processes, the Group has identified 12 material ESG issues which

are fully discussed in the corresponding sections.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s materiality matrix is as follows:
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Materiality Matrix

o P

Health and Safety
[V —©

Development and

Training
Labour Standards
25T

BRI
Use of Resources
FEUREE

Environment and
Natural Resources

FEBE R R IR R

P
Emissions
Bl

L]
Climate Change
Sk s AL

)

ROy B

Materiality to Stakeholders

Product Responsibility
FE h T

Supply Chain
Management

9%

Community Investment
i 4

Employment
1

Emissions

© i

@ Use of Resources
FE
Environment and

® Natural Resources
T KA P

Climate Change
® SR

O ek

Anti corruption
R

Health and Safet;
O s

o Development and Training
R RIEIN

Labour Standards
® T

Supply Chain Management

O pemE R

@ Product Responsibility
AT

Anti corruption

© Ras

o Community Investment
[0 E3

Low

&

Materiality to the Group
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In an attempt to achieve corporate sustainability, the Group always takes our
products, customers, community and the environment into consideration during

business development.

The Group’s operations are comparatively simple and straightforward with
offices, warehouses, vehicles and a packaging plant. Although we are not a
heavy pollutant producer, we have exerted our commitment towards
environmental sustainability by strengthening our employees’ awareness of
environmental protection and implementing environmental policies in our

offices.

It is our conviction that employees are a crucial element to sustain our
business. Thus, in order to attract and retain talents, the Group has adopted a
responsible operation and human resources strategy, providing our employees
with remuneration and benefits, on-the-job training and opportunities for career
development. The Group and its passionate employees also organise and
participate in charitable activities regularly, showing our dedication to

community investment.

In terms of operation, as a health and beauty products provider on one hand,
we are devoted to maintaining a high standard of product quality while
addressing healthcare challenges, especially in Asia, through the adoption of
effective policies and devoting efforts in research and development and a

strong talent pool of employees with doctor and master degrees.

In summary, the Group will continue to support environmental and social
movements, aiming to achieve sustainable development in both our business

and the environment.

Human resources act as the pillar of the Group, thus we always put the rights
and well-being of our employees in first place. The Group stringently abides
by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), to
formulate the policies relating to recruitment, promotion, remuneration and
dismissal of employees. As a way to attract and retain talent, in addition to
providing a competitive remuneration package, the Group also offers a range
of welfare and benefits, a safe and healthy working environment, as well as

training, development and promotion opportunities.
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During the Year, the Group is not aware of any material violations of laws — FAAAFEJE > A4 [ 4 5% B A 42 ][R 98 S0
and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and  BIFTEM X MRIE - AR EEA - LAERREC AKERF
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, [ > FEME - Lok - RO A R A%
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare that have a significant {2 HE 1M 52 | 8 KL 2 o

impact on the Group.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group has employed a total of 276" (31 March ZE _F " =F=H=+—H » REHLREH T

2022: 207) employees.

Total workforce by gender

e B 5 i e B AR

2023 46

(22%)
161

(78%)

230

(83%)

m Male = Female

B precs
Total workforce by geographical region
e b I ) 3 v O A
2023
2022
276
(100%)
= Hong Kong
ik
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Total workforce by age group
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144
(52%)

(44%)

112

(41%)
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Total workforce by employment type
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2023

156
(15%)

m Fulltime = Parttime
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Note: RERE
1. The total employee number of the reporting period covers full-time and part-time 1. o W 2 B AR S A5 (R A R SR 25 03 W 2 A2k I
employees in health and beauty segment, while the total employee number in the ek B T - TR 4FEZ B AR BONGRRR d R E Ay
previous year covered full-time and part-time employees in health and beauty segment LA B T T B 4 T 2 A MG B T (AT B A R
and e-commerce segment (for details regarding changes of scope, please refer to “the SE) 2w W2 M B CTESGHR & #iE ) -
Scope of the ESG Report” above).
2022/23 2021/22
Employee Turnover Rate BILRE TR CERE SRS R E
By gender e Al ) 4y
Male F 15% 72%
Female otk 41% 35%
By age group Fig A7 i 41 51 ) 4y
Below 30 {7230 36% 175%
30-50 30%50 50% 62%
Above 50 = 14 50 25% 18%
By district i b 1 8] 4y
Hong Kong B 36% 43%

As a fair employer who supports anti-discrimination, the Group advocates
equal opportunities during recruitment. We are committed to recruiting people
with suitable qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance,
regardless of sex, marital status, family status or disability, by following laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance of Hong
Kong. The Group commits to providing a wide range of internship and
employment opportunities to fresh graduates and the minority groups in
society including ethnic minorities, retired persons and people with
disabilities, so as to build an inclusive and harmonious working environment

and society.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong. We ensure that no child
labour is employed by verifying the identity of new employees before
commencement of work. In order to prevent forced labour, work venues and
periods are clearly defined in the employment contract. In general, overtime
work is not encouraged by the Group unless under terms of mutual agreement.
Once such practice is discovered, the Group would investigate thoroughly and

dismiss relevant employees immediately.
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During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any issues relating to child

labour or forced labour that had a significant impact on the Group.

Whenever an employee offers to resign or is being laid off, an exit interview
questionnaire is required to be completed and management will conduct an
exit interview to discuss through and evaluate business problems. This is done
so that important opinions could be collected for future improvement of the

Group’s policies, as well as lessening the turnover rate.

Employee’s health and safety are of paramount importance to the healthy and
sustainable development of the Group. Therefore, we always put priority on

employees’ health and safety during our business operation.

Employees working in the packaging plant are provided with personal
protective clothing which not only prevents the products from contamination,
but also ensures the health and safety of workers. Guidelines and standard
operating procedures specifying the potential hazards of machinery and
equipment are provided to employees in order to prevent any potential dangers
and hazards during operation. The Group has also adopted occupational health
and safety related guidance published by the Occupational Safety and Health
Council in the workplace, such as the Safe Manual Handling Operations,
Electrical Safety and Fire Prevention. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with health and safety related
laws and regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), that would have
a significant impact on the Group. Moreover, we have formulated procedures
for handling emergency such as fire and power failure in an effort to
minimise the possibility of injuries and casualties in case of accidents. In the
meantime, regular safety training, such as fire drills, control of chemicals,
personal health and hygiene, and emergency handling are also provided to
employees in order to enhance their safety awareness. The Group has
established an internal management team responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the aforementioned occupational health and safety policies

and measures.
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With regard to the continuous COVID-19 epidemic situation in the Year, the
Group has further increased its awareness and attention towards employees’
health as well as workplace hygiene. The Group has adopted special work
arrangement including allowing our employees to take turns to work from
home as far as possible and adopting flexible working hours and lunch hours
for employees working in offices, so as to minimise the risk of virus
transmission. Also, extra epidemic prevention measures have been carried out
in the workplace. For example, personal hygiene supplies have been provided

to employees to safeguard their health.

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, there is no work-
related fatalities. During the Year, there were no work-related injuries and lost
days resulted (2021/22: 1 case/47 lost days; 2020/21: 1 case/5 lost days).

The Group’s business success highly hinges on the continuous improvement in
employees’ performance and productivity, thereby the Group has established a
comprehensive training system. We aim at building a continuous professional
development culture by providing employees with both corporate and
individual training opportunities. In general, we provide tailored training
programmes to our employees in accordance with the business needs and in an
effort to facilitate the personal development of our employees while
maximising the effectiveness of the training programmes. We invite experts to
deliver trainings for employees from different levels in various aspects. For
example, safety training, production procedures, machine operation, quality
control, food safety and substandard food handling training are provided to
staff working in the packaging plant. Also, training on product knowledge,
marketing skills, customer services, business and brand data analysis as well

as communication skills are provided to promoters and customer service staff.

For directors, professional and managerial staff, subsidies were provided to
encourage them to attend various knowledge-based training or management
skills training in an attempt to facilitate the improvement of the Group’s
management performance. Furthermore, the Group values employees’ personal
development. We encourage employees to join as many training programmes

as they need to within the annual training budget set.
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For newly recruited staff, an orientation training, including the introduction of i # ABEM A B TFHAZ AT R > Il NAE
the Group’s products, is provided to acquaint them with basic operation skills. 2 7l 2 i > BB AR IEAR W EMER AE - B B
After familiarising with daily operations, employees will be assigned to ¥\ H ¥ & MEE » A RrEH2 2 - IRA NS
receive more specific and in-depth training, such as courses and workshops on  #l » U1 B A RO R B A LR S AR L > fE T 9% R
risk management, on an on-going basis, so as to develop their professional b " (19 252 3 0 3k F1 B BE o

knowledge and skills.

2022/23 2022/23
RO/ TEREE RO TEEE
By gender et R
Male T 0.77 0.08 8% 18%
Female Ltk 0.83 0.09 92% 82%
Total At 100% 100%
By employee category F A B R
Senior R 0.53 0.04 5% 6%
Middle ik 0.25 0.08 2% 9%
Tunior B 0.83 — 3% 0%
Other oAty 0.91 0.11 90% 86%
Total a3 100% 100%
Note: B 3E
1. The Group has reviewed the calculation of percentage of employee trained in 2021/22 1. AEEOHE - — AR ZIIE B E 4
and restated the calculation method. The relevant data is recalculated according to WRHE ik > NG Bk 5150 o AR RORMR IR 2
Stock Exchange’s Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPls in How to prepare JT Cln o] A A BR BT - AL G R R ) (B R =
an ESG Report to calculate percentage of employees trained. The formula used for the AL B S PR PR RE AR 5 D) B R IR
restatement is as follows: Percentage of employees trained in the relevant categories = FIE B0 4 L o EHT AR AT ARBRE I 2
T(x)/T x 100, T(x) = Number of employees who took part in training in the specified AR B H = T)/T x 100 > T(x) = 24628
category, T = Number of total employees who took part in training. AR B AE T = S 08 B M-
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While education and training act as the foundation for improvement of
employees, the various opportunities of promotion provide motivation to
employees to strive for the Group and enable a long-term development of
employees together with the Group. Annual performance appraisal is
conducted based on employees’ professional skills, work performance and
efficiency, independence, personal quality and attitude, as well as learning and
cooperation ability so that employees who have outstanding performance will
be taken into consideration for promotion. The Group hopes that every
employee will be able to find their position and future by working in the
Group.

As a way to deliver care to employees, and at the same time stimulate their
working initiative, the Group offers all employees attractive remuneration and
a wide range of welfare and benefits. The Group’s salary structure is reviewed
annually to ensure that fair and competitive remuneration is offered to
employees according to external and internal benchmark. To assure employees
of sufficient time to rest, the Group adopts five-day working weeks and our
employees are entitled to a number of statutory leaves and special leaves such
as birthday leave and study leave. Other fringe benefits also include annual
double pay, medical and dental insurance, maternity leave pay and price
discounts on of the Group’s products. Besides, we also organise employee
gatherings, such as lunch parties, Mid-Autumn Festival gatherings, Christmas
parties, and Spring Festival celebrations, so as to provide employees with time
for relaxation as well as foster better communication between each other. The
Group endeavours to create a happy working environment, so as to raise the

happiness-at-work of the employees.

As the Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of health
and beauty supplements and products, it is our long-term goal to develop
innovative health products that are affordable and improve the accessibility of
health supplements for consumers in Asia. To achieve this goal, it is vital to
optimise our operation to maintain the high quality of products and services,
to properly manage our supply chain and to behave ethically in the market.
On the other hand, we also endeavour to achieve a high customer satisfaction

in terms of our service-based businesses.
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Since our health and beauty products are directly related to people’s health,

we spare no effort in the pursuit of excellence in product quality and the

health and safety of all our products. The Group strictly complies with all the

requirements of relevant laws, regulations and standards, including but not
limited to the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong, by establishing and implementing a

quality management system to monitor and inspect the quality of products, as

well as the environment and hygiene of our packaging plant. An experienced

quality management team has been set up responsible for overseeing the

implementation of a number of quality control measures, including:

80

Formulating a series of quality check procedures for raw materials,
intermediates and finished products, which set out the items to be
checked, criteria for qualified products, as well as the acceptable

quality level and reject level for different sample sizes etc.;

Formulating standard operation guidelines for handling raw materials to
ensure their proper receipt, storage and delivery and hence the

prevention of contamination;

Requesting suppliers to provide certificates of analysis and/or lab test
reports prepared by independent testing centers in the relevant

jurisdiction when delivering raw materials/intermediates to the Group;

Cooperating with well-known universities or their authorised
organisations to conduct testing and accreditation on products, such as

clinical trials, to ensure the safety and effectiveness of products;

Appointing third-party independent testing agencies accredited under the
Hong Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme to perform safety testing
on traditional Chinese medicine and health supplement products, such as
heavy metals, pesticide residues and microbial counts, etc., before

launching into the market;

Conducting microbiological tests in the packaging plant to ensure that

the production environment meets the relevant safety standards;
Applying and outsourcing the latest testing and technologies to enhance

quality control, such as High Performance Liquid Chromatography,
DNA fingerprinting for herbs and Thin-Layer Chromatography.
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In case of large-scale product safety issues, procedures for product recall will
be triggered to minimise the impacts brought by the products and to respond
to the public and our customers in a timely manner. Our food safety team will
inform the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department of Hong Kong and
the public of product recall once health and safety issues are discovered in our
products, and we will stop selling the nonconforming product immediately.
The nonconforming product which is still in production or storage will be
segregated and on site inspection will be conducted to reconcile the quantity
of suspected material or product. The food safety team is responsible for
ensuring the accuracy of all reconciliation and carry out the handling of the
nonconforming materials or product afterwards. The reason of nonconformity
will be identified via thorough investigation and data analysis. Corrective
actions will be taken accordingly to prevent the recurrence of health and
safety issues. In order to make the product recall team conversant with the
product recall procedures, a product recall drill is conducted at least once per
year. During the Year, the Group was not subject to any cases of product

recall due to safety and health reasons.

The Group’s commitment to the highest quality standard has been reflected by
the accreditation of ISO 22000 Food Safety Management System and Hazard
Analysis and Critical Control Points certification for its packaging plant. To
satisfy customers’ demand, we are devoted to developing new products.
During the Year, we launched a new product Nicotinamide mononucleotide
(the “NMN”) Prime 21000 with unique formula for boosting the level of NMN
and NAD+ to Improve signs of aging and allergic symptoms, one of the
popular and best-selling products in the market. Besides, we are proposing to
launch Full-effect Probiotics Formula and Hair Care Formula and new sliming
products which could attenuate lipid accumulation in adipocytes in different
extent, hence building confidence in our customers for the effectiveness of our

products.

During the Year, there was no reported case of non-compliance of relevant
laws and regulations relating to health and safety of products and services

provided.
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The Group places high priority on customers’ satisfaction and hence
endeavours to address the needs of customers by providing professional,
customised, responsive and caring services. Our customer service departments
or sales and editorial teams are responsible for maintaining a constant
communication with clients in order to understand their feedback about our
products or services. Staff in the department is also responsible to handle
complaints from customers so as to address their needs and provide suitable
responses timely. A clear set of procedures for handling customer complaints
have been set out for various business divisions of the Group, in order to keep
clear record of the complaints and its outcome after handling, as well as
ensuring that customer complaints are handled professionally and with high
quality. Once relevant complaints are received, the responsible staff will
investigate the cases and help work out the solutions in an appropriate and
timely manner. Customers can also contact our customer service staff via
service hotline or email to arrange for product returns and refund. During the
Year, the Group received a total of 17 (2021/22: 50) cases of product and

service related complaints.

Advertising and labelling are particularly important to health and beauty
products as impacts can be critical if inaccurate information and messages are
conveyed to customers. Therefore, the Group always ensures that the
advertisements and labels of our products are in compliance with the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong, including but not
limited to the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Undesirable Medical Advertisements Ordinance (Chapter 231
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling)
Regulations (Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Chinese
Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the
equivalent and relevant laws overseas. We undertake to truthfully present all
necessary product information, especially ingredients information, to customers
in order to achieve transparency and provide customers with sufficient
knowledge on our products. Also, we ensure all advertising and labelling
materials are checked by the quality assurance team and legal advisers before
releasing to the market. In the meantime, we keep abreast of any updates or
development of relevant laws and regulations to ensure the compliance with

latest legal requirements.

During the Year, there was no reported case of non-compliance of relevant

laws and regulations relating to advertising and labelling.
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With regard to customer privacy, the Group is committed to protecting the
personal data of all our customers by complying with relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. We have also
formulated policy on customer privacy and data protection. Minimal personal
data of customers are collected only for normal business operation, such as
goods delivery, conducting customer surveys and anonymous data analysis,
which may help us improve our business relationships. The collected data will

not be used without the consent of the related persons.

To ensure the personal data or other confidential information of our customers
are properly stored, we have a management protocol of IT system in place to
regulate the storage of information, under which only related staff can have
the access to confidential information. Also, employees are required to be at
all times alert to the importance of protecting customer confidential data,
especially those stored in portable electronic devices. Besides, terms of
confidentiality are clearly listed in our employment contract that all employees
are prohibited to divulge any restricted information, including the personal

data of our customers, to any parties during or after employment.

During the Year, there was no reported case of non-compliance of relevant

laws and regulations relating to privacy matters.

The Group has shown continuous support for innovative Chinese medicine by
collaborating with several universities to carry out researches on innovative
products. One of the launched products is “Bone Enhancement” developed
together with the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Although a number of
our products are generic, we strive to protect our brand and products’
uniqueness from other similar products while not infringing the rights of
others. In order to better protect our product inventions and innovations from
potential plagiarism and protect the benefit of the Group, the Group actively

applies for trademarks for our newly developed products and product lines.

We have established the policy on marketing and advertising. It monitors
whether the products and advertisements have caused infringements of
intellectual property rights, and forbids those in violation to advertise on

online platforms.

During the Year, there was no reported case of infringement of relevant laws

and regulations relating to intellectual property rights.
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Unethical behaviour is a potential source of risk that not only tarnishes the
image of an enterprise, but also weakens the stability of its business. A stable
and healthy development of the Group depends on the integrity of our
employees, thus we strictly comply with the laws and regulations related to
anti-corruptive behaviour, including but not limited to the Prevention of

Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong.

In view of the Group’s focus on anti-bribery and corruptive behaviour, we
have subsequently formulated the Code of Ethics as internal guidelines for
guiding employees’ behaviour regarding various aspects such as personal
benefits, conflicts of interest and relations with suppliers and contractors. The
Code of Ethics has also provided guidelines to the methods for handling any
breach of the Code of Ethics, which includes disciplinary actions, termination
of employment and reporting to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC”). The Group has also implemented a whistleblowing
policy where employees are encouraged to report any existing or potential
breach of the Code of Ethics and suspected misconduct. The policy acts as a

peer-monitoring mechanism to prevent any corruptive behaviour.

During the Year, the Group has not organised any anti-corruption training due
to the severe COVID-19 situation in Hong Kong. In order to further
strengthen the awareness and knowledge for unethical behaviour and promote
the value of integrity, the Group will look to provide employees with different

training opportunities in the future.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws and
regulations on the Group in relation to bribery, corruption, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices,

extortion and money laundering brought against the Group or its employees.
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A proper and responsible management of the supply chain is essential for
maintaining the high quality and stability of products as well as the
sustainable development of the Group. In the health and beauty supplements
business, the Group mainly engages suppliers to provide us with raw
materials. In order to ensure product quality, we have established a
comprehensive mechanism for selecting suitable suppliers in a fair and
reasonable way and we consider suppliers from all over the world, such as
New Zealand, Australia, Malaysia, Taiwan, Japan, USA, PRC and Hong Kong.

The major suppliers categorized by geographical location is as follow:
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During the selection of suppliers and subcontracting manufacturers, factors in
a variety of aspects are taken into account including business scale, financial
status, production capacity, production process and environment, quality
control system, product safety and delivery performance. Suppliers are
required to provide quality check certificates and/or product analysis reports,
or provide samples for laboratory testing, before the delivery of raw
materials/intermediates. Preference is usually given to suppliers who have
obtained certifications such as Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point,
Good Manufacturing Practices and International Organization for
Standardization. During the Reporting Period, the Group had 46 (2021/22: 60)
major suppliers within the Reporting Scope, which are all subject to supplier

engagement practice.
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Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the Group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national,
regional and industrial environmental standards, and follow internationally
recognised standards. We also value the employment compliance of suppliers.
To ensure that suppliers have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety
policies, we take into consideration whether suppliers comply with all relevant
local and national health and safety laws and regulations. We will terminate
the cooperation at once with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with
relevant laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any

other unethical business practices.

Upon engagement, our procurement team will cooperate with the quality
assurance team to evaluate the suppliers based on the procurement procedures,
after-sales services and product safety. Moreover, site audits on selected
suppliers should be also conducted regularly in an effort to ensure their
committed quality standards are maintained, unless they are interrupted by the
COVID-19 issue. Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmental-friendly
products and service during procurement. For example, we prefer eco-friendly
products which are energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as

refillable pens and recycled paper.

Along with the rising awareness of and concern over environmental issues
triggered by businesses nowadays, the Group has recognised the environmental
impacts, which are not seriously detrimental though, resulted from our
business operations and has attached great importance to the implementation
of environmental protection policies. As a responsible corporation, we have
carried out measures covering emission control, waste management and
resources conservation by following relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. During the Year, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to

environmental issues.

As our operation is mainly concentrated in offices, warehouses and the
packaging plant, no heavy air and water pollution are associated with our
business. The majority of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur
oxides and particulate matter, are produced during the use of light goods
vehicles for supporting our daily operation. As a measure to control the
emission of pollutants, the Group performs maintenance and repairs on the

vehicles so that high efficiency can be maintained.
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Emission of air pollutants from the use of vehicles during the Year and the

T A A J3E T A B SO TR b 2 R e ) 2 ST

corresponding period: WHECE
2022/23 2021/22

Types of emission’ B i ol 2 TR TERE SR R
Nitrogen oxides (kg) RAALY (F30) 94.52 189.4
Sulphur oxides (kg) i S b ¥ (T 50) 0.3 0.9
Particulate matter (kg) R (F38) A 17.7

Notes: FERE

1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on the “Reporting Guidance on 1. 5 Y W BT AR AR T A T T 2 R A T R A

Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX.

2. The drop during the reporting period is mainly due to the reduction in the amount of
fuel consumed by vehicles and in the number of private cars during the reporting

period, as we adopted more energy efficient measures of using vehicles and fuel.

The topic of climate change has sparked heated discussions in recent years
across the globe and has drawn the attention of enterprises. The Group is no
exception and has increased its awareness towards the causes and impacts of
climate change ever since. The sources of our greenhouse gas emission
include combustion of fuels in vehicles, use of purchased electricity,
electricity used for water and sewage treatment, business air travel by
employees and disposal of waste paper to landfills. The Group has planned to
replace existing vehicles with electric vehicles in the coming years to achieve
environmental friendliness. Also, efforts have been put on the control of
greenhouse gas emission by exerting ourselves in the implementation of a
series of measures such as paper recycling, energy saving and resources
conservation (for details, please refer to ‘“Resources Conservation”).

Greenhouse gas emissions during the Year and the corresponding period:

tm#maw R

2. TR A WY ]9 D 7 2 7 AP B IR S L R VR i
I JCHL BRI P it o 5 0 T £ ARG
A B AL R AR D o

SRS R AT A A B | BE SR A - IR TR
T A ZEN B o AL IR GIS AR T A
A SRR B A 2 IR B S R Y ko FRAMT L 5
FEE BR i A | AR RMABE ~ SMIESE D B
KB A5 K BRI E D FE ~ B TR 2 R S SE
B SECI 14 JEE AR o A S I ST B TE R A BUAE LR )
HURABUA B > AL E BB A ﬁﬁzl-‘%l%
925 8 T it — 2 R R G - AN BEAR I i - A RE

B IR G175 i 2 B 80 40 & UL 3 4 ’ﬂ«%jﬂi
1 3 SR PR o TP AR 4 T2 A B O ) 90 % 5
HeE PR

2022/23 2021722
Greenhouse gas emissions' 2 SR B i RO TEEE DE D D EE
Total emissions (tonnes of CO,e) PR R (M A BRE 198 298
Scope 1: Direct emissions? I HEHEPEe 51 145
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions R 2« AE VAR 2 PRk 1473 1474
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions® A [ 3 - oAt ) 4 B e 0.2 6.0
Intensity (tonnes of CO,e/million HKD W (M A R
of revenue) W oC 4 ) 0.92 1.83
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Notes:

1. The Group’s greenhouse gas inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide, and the greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide
equivalent. The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is based on the reporting

requirements of “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX.

2. Scope 1 includes direct emissions from the consumption of vehicle fuels of the Group.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX.

3. Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from purchased electricity of the Group in 2022/23.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Sustainability
Report 2022” provided by the Hongkong Electric Company, Limited and the “2022
Sustainability Report” respectively provided by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

4. Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from purchased electricity of the Group in 2021/22.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Sustainability
Report 2021 provided by the Hongkong Electric Company, Limited and the “2021
Sustainability Report” respectively provided by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

5. Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions from waste paper disposal to landfills,
electricity used for water and sewage treatment and business air travel by employees.
The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from waste paper disposal is based on the
“Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX for the corresponding
period, while the data of previous reporting year was from the discontinued segment as
mentioned above (for details regarding changes of scope, please refer to “the Scope of
the ESG Report” above). The Group does not have record in accessing the data of
waste paper disposal due to the item is determined by the Group to be insignificant to
our business operation during the Year. The emission factor used for calculating water
and sewage treatment is provided by the Water Supplies Department and Drainage
Services Department of Hong Kong. The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from
business air travel by employees is based on the International Civil Aviation
Organization Carbon Emissions Calculator but there was no record of business air

travel by employees for 2022/23 and 2021/22 due to the epidemic situation.

Proper handling of waste is another aspect the Group has laid emphasis on,
adding to air emission control. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with waste management related
laws and regulations including but not limited to the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Hazardous
Chemicals Control Ordinance (Chapter 595 of the Laws of Hong Kong), that

would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Apart from a small quantity of hazardous waste generated from office supplies B T 4 > A F BE W &K H WA = A& (Anix
such as toner cartridges and batteries, wasted materials used to further produce ¥y & F1 76 th) DL S F 1 3k — 25 Af B v 2 00 B 28
Chinese medicine related products, certain chemical wastes are generated from  FJBEZEM ELAN » LA FHELE B BE = IR E A A T
the laboratory located in the Science Park. The Group is always keen to {LERBEREY) o AL — H 4% WA T 6 A F B3
ensure that all hazardous waste is handled and treated in a legal and /& DAA Ik SO & 09y Q3 M s > DLk G i

appropriate way so as to avoid negative impacts on the environment. BR BT 0 N T R o

The vast majority of non-hazardous waste is generated from the unsold health K2 BIU/¥) 4 BEFEY) JE AR H R B IO L 225
and beauty supplements and products. All the unsold and expired products are il S & i K& X B3 A R H W10 2 5
collected and handled by a general waste collector. On the other hand, the ¥ — B/ FEY) UL P Y56 R 3 » 0 — i >
Group also generates other non-hazardous waste which is composed of general — AXHE[E R A 5 —FEMEE BE Y > 045 B Tk
office waste produced by staff and a small amount of unwanted paper 1 H % JF/A % BERY) Kb @ AT BN AVE LY
packaging material. Similarly, non-hazardous waste is also collected by A} o [AlfRH > 4 275 B A & 25 56 & S B IR
qualified parties arranged by the office building management. EEEERY -

The Group is keen to launch new package with thinner size and cancel AN [BI A A 4 th R~ B3 A9 0T € 26 > Sl BT AS b
unnecessary materials such as product insert, so as to minimize the generation  E[AF KL > U1 S 4 B > DA D AR A 9

of paper and plastic waste. JBE SEW) I E A
Waste generated during the Year and the corresponding period: A4 B R AH TR A [ 2 AR R BE TR
2022/23 2021/22!
Waste disposal BT B TR TERE SRS R
Hazardous waste (kg) HERBERY) (T5%) 5 23
Intensity of hazardous waste A EBERYEE (T 5/ HaE
(kg/million HKD of revenue) ol A ) 0.02 0.14
Non-hazardous waste (kg) fEEBEEY) (T 50) 18,018 14,381
Intensity of non-hazardous waste |EBEYHE (T /508
(kg/million HKD of revenue) s o A ) 83.37 88.22
Note: FERE
1. The Group has reviewed the calculation of waste generation in 2021/22 and restated the 1. ALEON —F AR Y E AR
relevant data accordingly. wHE > S PRI T 5 AH B B -
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In order to uphold and underpin the principle of “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and
Replace”, the Group has actively pushed forward various measures to reduce
waste generation. In terms of paper consumption, we disseminate information
by electronic means, such as electronic bills, electronic posters, etc., whenever
possible to reduce the usage of paper. We have also set the printers and
computers to default duplex and economical modes and encourage our staff to
use both sides of paper before disposal. The use and procurement of
disposable items, items with low durability and items with excessive
packaging are avoided and replaced with ones that could be reused as far as
practicable. Our employees are encouraged to recycle all waste paper, metal
and plastic, and purchase products that can be effectively reused, recycled or
repaired to reduce waste. We also evaluate the usage of material on a regular

basis to avoid overstock and wastage.

As the Group is operating a small-scale packaging plant under our health and
beauty supplements and products segment, packaging materials, which can be
classified into paper products, plastic and aluminum paper, are beyond dispute
the major resources used by the Group. To reduce the use of packaging
materials, the Group advocates the adoption of simple packaging and
encourages consolidated package for bulk purchase of 6 to 24 bottles of our
products. In the meantime, we also take measures to reduce unnecessary
packaging materials, such as reducing the use of manuals inserted into
products and using generic boxes to improve material efficiency and reduce

waste.

Packaging materials used during the Year and the corresponding period:

ARG LB N > W BT - &
PG F SRR - RRORR AT 45 SH RS Bl > DA 2 JBg
YL o ARERINFE DT A1 > B AT R W T 7
AEREE > U076 7 MR B SR T IR DA
D AR o FRAM IR R BN T T B
T AN i REAE S SIS B T AE St B AR IR < H 6T
AR T« ERTATREIL T - B TIE Sl
PR A PR — U > Sl A AT ST R e B
SEAE R 4 R B LR o FRAM B
JBh B Tl SR A AR > AR o I  RE
20 FE R [ A R R DA IR
2o TAM IR E AT A BB GE R DL > DU G
FEBZ R -

P AR 432 A1) i A0 S5 25 4 ity 2 7 iy 7 A A
ANV T > BUERRHINAR R A - BB AN S AR
I SE AR P A 1 U o Ry D i T R
YR > ASSE BB AR bR fi 6 5 Oy oK L S At
WEANE IR AR A B DLET 40 B IR o Bt
[ I > AP 5 bR A il DA B2 AN 0 B L e W)
E o A D e 7 b b AR R T
AL 26 G DAER o B ORH AR B Bl ) B ) o

T A A JEE AR IRE S0 TR 1 60 26 A T &

2022/23 2021/22
Packaging materials usage B4 PRHE DRI TEREE R TR
Total consumption (tonnes): A RE B (M) -
Paper products i 101.4 88.2
Plastic B 25.4 24.2
Aluminum paper # A% 0.3 0.3
Intensity (g/piece of finished products): W (R
Paper products AR 43.69 67.38
Plastic be) 10.94 18.51
Aluminum paper AR 0.15 0.19
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In addition to packaging materials, water and energy are also resources
consumed by the Group. The energy and water consumptions during the Year

and the corresponding period are as follows:

BREE - i | KRR

W 60 2 W kLA > K KRR IR R 2 A AR T FE Y
T o TR B M REHATHT > 7K K% e 8 1 1 #E & 4n
o

2022/23 2021/22
Energy consumption HEVR 1 #E TR TERE SRS R E
Total energy consumption (mWh) AR FE & JRRLI) 577 941
Fuel combustion for vehicles! R 98 A M J 200 565
Purchased electricity? S M )2 376 376
Energy consumption intensity (mWh/ HERTH AR ORI a4
million HKD of revenue) T ) 2.67 5.77
Total water consumption (m?*)? MFEK & (5L oK) 3 319 474
Water consumption intensity
(m*/million HKD revenue of health FEK S BE (37 5 oK/ fi B 5 2%
and beauty supplements and products il B T FES I 5 A R T
segment) Wi £ ) 1.48 3.04
Notes: R

1. The consumption of vehicle fuels is calculated based on the energy conversion factor

from the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by HKEX.

2. The consumption of purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount of
purchased electricity. For the month without actual consumption amount, the electricity
consumption amount is calculated by the average cost-to-unit of the months which

actual consumption amount is provided.

3. The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount of water consumption.

The Group is aware of the possible impacts resulted from the use of energy
such as the emission of greenhouse gases and other air pollutants, therefore
we shoulder the burden of emission reduction and have dedicated considerable
efforts to reducing energy consumption in our office operation. To meet the
energy consumption target, the Group took measures of purchasing new
machines with higher productivity. In addition, we turn off lighting when not
in use and maximise the use of natural light to the greatest extent wherever
possible. We have also installed energy-efficient light tubes to conserve
energy. Besides, employees are required to turn off electronic appliances
completely when not in use in order to avoid energy wastage. For the
air-conditioning system, we carry out cleaning regularly so as to maintain its
efficiency, and ensure that the air-conditioned room temperature is maintained
at 24-26 degrees Celsius. To reinforce our carbon-reduction initiatives, we
encourage our employees to use video conferencing to substitute business
trips. For unavoidable trips, direct flights and economy class are preferred to

minimise carbon emission.

1. LR AR RE T T M 58 T o Y RO B i A
TRERE ARG 51D 42 BE i PR TR AR .

2. SBT3 0 T PG B LT RSP R R o ETRA R
PEBEMEREMA M > NE R MR ERTE
A T R A LS

3. FAK 4 B R K R E S -

AR AL [ B AR VR 5 BN VB TE RS BRIk
L2 G B A 7 S5 ) o A R R FRAMER
RORMEWPEN EEEAT - SO B =S
HIRB IR TN AE o v AR IR IH FE B AR > AR ZE [ BRI
T it DA B LA O A D R o AN >
AP AE R i R B B IR LB B > G A FTAT B LT
FAlREE A AR o FAMIR O 2 BB LA
BRI o WeAh > FRAMBIR B TR 75 1 34
HWUSB B - DR RRUR - A RHK T
T - FRAM & i A TR 22 o DA A R kR > SR AR
AT B 4 o) A 48 R 2426 2 TH] o B in o TR
AP B BB A it > FAMT S B LA AR sk At
AN o A MER R AT > B TEREE
U B 58 35 07 LA Ik 2D i B M
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Water is also a type of resources used by the Group. The Group endeavours
to reduce water consumption in daily usage as far as possible. We always
encourage our employees to save water and avoid wastage wherever possible.

During the Year, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Recognising the importance of sustainability issues, the Group has set ESG
performance targets to evaluate the effectiveness of our ESG policies and
measures. We have identified energy, water, and waste as our key ESG areas

by setting performance targets accordingly. Details are as follow:

IRBASEFE R — AW - AEMECdE
Wb AR RKE o FRAMASH S B TR REET 4
JRK B G 1R 2 o AR AR BEAE SR IBCR /K U7 T
A AT ) o

i ik B T A A6 A R PR R E LA > AR SR B RE T
BREL -~ MG LA REUE B > DIRPAE M ERT -
A T R B Y B o FRAM K RE R
TR R FE I E S AT Y B S BR A R
S E T B AR o SR

Environmental KPI

Reduction Target
WAk E B

Baseline Year

B ARAE

Status
piiyi

Air Pollutant Intensity
2 S5 e 1

Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity
i 2 S A P

Hazardous Waste Intensity

A E B L

Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity

Energy Consumption Intensity

AE R e 2

Water Consumption Intensity

FeK I E

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR TEH TR 1%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR TREERNR D 1%

Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26
TR TH TR D 2%

Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26
DRI AR ENR D 2%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
CERTEH TR 1%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
R TREERNR D 1%

Year 2020/21
CECE ) AR

Year 2021/22
L et

Year 2022/23
SR SR

Year 2022/23
TR T EARE

Year 2021/22
SRR

Year 2020/21
TRTE ST AR

In progress
AT

In progress
HEAT

In progress
AT

In progress
HEAT

In progress
AT

In progress
HEAT

Climate change is rapidly emerging as one of the most significant issues
across countries and is closely related to all businesses regardless of their
nature. The Group is no exception, taking into consideration the potential
impacts on the Group from risks brought by the changing climate. The Group
has identified several climate-related risks that may adversely impact the

Group’s operations and development of the health and beauty business.
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Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons, heavy rain,
thunder and lightning and flooding that can cause physical acute risk. These
extreme weathers affect the normal operation of our production equipment,
hinder and harm our employees’ health and safety and disrupt the Group’s
supply chain, thereby disrupting or even interrupting the operations of the

Group and damaging the Group’s assets.

The above potential consequences will cause economic losses and increase

operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and

minimize the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Acute Risk

BREE - i | KRR

T L

A% S5 1B 2 T T i 2 L ) 3 K
S PIMBER, R -~ E AR R PIEAIK S o 3%
ik K SR AP e R 1 TE A - ST L
R BT % A Sl T8 7 4 1 1 0
B > T4 L EL % o B A S R I A
e I 19 R E o

VL E YETEAR I S SRR 18 % T o 2 AR 43 T 1) &8
BIRAR -

ARG J il E DL AR 5T > AR 1k B 3 e I
7D bk i R SR T 22

B e L B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
A3 R SR TEL Bl B 5% gt 45 it
Typhoons, Heavy rain and Flooding, — Monitor local weather conditions
Thunder and Lightning —  EEERH R FUIR I

Ji S > SR MK 5 - TR BRI R

— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or covered with a tarp

— TR R AR A Ty > s AW AG B

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown/washed away

—  E AT R R E e E B R B

— Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning

—  TEPI RIS B AT R AN TAR

— Provide flexible work arrangements with precautionary measures in place

—  HMGETEP R o B AR TR % P

— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

—  iREEE TR R LR

— Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked

—  IHELIR - MEACREE

— Keep good conditions of earthing devices

—  RIFHOME RE AR R

— Improve emergency plans and upgrade equipment

— O S TR
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely hot weather can
cause physical chronic risk. The potential consequences include an increased
chance of getting heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the
workshop, increasing turnover rate and work-related injuries. The demand for
cooling for the working environment will be increased, which may lead to an

increase in power demand and operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and

minimize the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Chronic Risk
B AR L B
Extreme weather

ik it KSR T B B A% it 45 i

T 0 e e

7 S ) A AT R 1 LR Y R 3 R SR
(i s 28 AR50 o AT REEE A2 4R R L6 AE ) b
B T3 TAR B T il RETES I ~ AR T
155 ET1 o TARBRBTIEM Y 7 RO & i - Ay
AE 2B SO AR 10 58 7 R B K AR 3

T TSI T i 2 i oy K SR S S 8
52 BA N 45l f 7 -

AL

Preventative and mitigation measures

Extremely hot weather —

ik s 8 B R SR — WP R PR AN T AR R

Arrange outdoor work time wisely

— Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— &S > R

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— WZEHAE

— First aid training for heat stroke or other relevant conditions

— SRR SO AR B 1R DL SR

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

—  BR24/PNEERER K

Transition Risks

The Group may also face transition risks such as policy risks due to
increasingly stringent policies and enhanced emissions-reporting obligations,
which may result in higher compliance costs, higher risks of claims and
lawsuits and increasing needs of climate-related capital investment to lower
greenhouse gas emissions. Besides, corporate reputation may decline if we fail
to meet the compliance requirements for climate change or transit to a more
sustainable and environmentally friendly corporation, which in turns leading to

a decreased demand of our products.
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The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and 23808 b %l SEUf A BH VG > A< 5 (5] B2 il B S0k JL
minimize the negative effects of transitional risk. Wi AR B 2 T S B U B SR A R R 2 %
Je& > DA NI Al A% 4 1 2 SRA0 A B L o

Transitional Risk

3 0 R i
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
SRUIG A ) D i 4 ke LB I A 4 it
Legal risk — Regularly review the Group’s climate-related policies and
A JE B measures to ensure that we stay up to date with the latest
government policies, regulatory updates

Exposure to litigation risk. We have to adapt the tightened — & M %% 25 4 42 (8 19 S0 AH B SR R A it > DA e £ B i

law and regulations imposed by the local government due to B BUN BOR ~ B8 B0 R 15[ 26

climate change, as well as bear the risk of potential

litigation once we fail to obligate the new regulations. — Continue monitoring of the ESG reporting standards of the
T 366 A S B o TR0 208 I b, IO TR 4R A 5 A i B e ) Hong Kong Listing Rules

FCE AR WORYE — HIRM KRBT HIEEMNES — BEREREE DIRERE - e AW R

M 7T B 2 Az 1 5 8 JaL B o
— Inform relevant departments about the regulatory updates
relevant to climate change in time, where necessary, to be
prepared to comply with new policies
— T B IRE IR 1) AR B S 1 A R B SR S A R 7 R
T o AR 70 28 ST R AR A T A

Supply Chain risk — Regularly review the condition of supply chain

A G i —  EREE A LR SR T

Climate change may cause species to decline or become — Make alternative plans in advance for raw materials and
extinct, especially Chinese herbal plants, which may affect corresponding products that are significantly affected by
the supply of raw materials for related products. climate change.

S S AL T R ) B D SRR - RN P RLERLY) - — PR SRR AR AL S R OR B0 JRURE R AR I EE T B R4
75 AT A R AT BH S i 6 SRR ORI o BAUEH o

To mitigate the aforementioned climate-related risks, the Group follows 7% I8 |- %l SEUM0 AH B B » A 42 13 NEAE S0 1% A+ 7
market trends regarding climate-related risks to keep itself up to date with the — JEUBG 9 17 85 8 3% > R A SR 40 I =8 ‘B0 009 o 4%
latest development in climate-related issues, so as to identify and evaluate the — J& » 9% 1 sk Fll S 5FAdk 7 4 190 11 S0 AH B JmL e o

Group’s climate-related risks.

As a caring enterprise, the Group attaches importance to the overall — fE&BISEAL A A2 > A B+ AL 0 5
well-being of the community and looks forward to growing our business  HEf&HE » Sl I 5 FAM 1) ZE 75 BE B AL [ S [] AU ©
together with the community. We are dedicated to participating in charitable — FAMEXH S E KFE TIHH) - Hihilb & LA F
activities and volunteer services in order to provide support to the needy in  ZE A o 4 S Fe0FgE > ACSE [0 (7 & s BL 2R [ 48
society. To support research and development, we have donated to the Hong K {F /% RACHF 5L Y 48 %% -

Kong Science Park as future research funding.
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Furthermore, the Group actively puts great effort into caring for the elderly
and the vulnerable groups in society by organising and participating in
product donation. During the Year, we have donated a total of 45,500 boxes
of nutritional health supplements, including Propolis, Junior Milk CA+DHA,
Junior Colostrum+CA+ZN and Grape Seed, with a total value of around
HK$1,481,000 to Sunshine Action Limited (“Sunshine Action”), which is
Hong Kong Registered Charity and humanitarian organization. We aim to help
the elderly and the people with disabilities as well as cultivate a caring

culture in the community.

In appreciation of our efforts put into community involvement and dedication
to corporate social responsibility, our subsidiaries have received the following

awards and recognition during the Year:

BEAL > A% S R AR AR kAN 2 B R I - AR
TR A A F 559 B4 B o TAAR AR > AAE [ 1)
W 2 kM 2R 5 S N\ AR AR B 1T Bl A PR 7 (TR
W5 47 B 1) 48 14 345,500 %0 42 7 f4 i 5 > 45 %
B~ FLE 415 (CA+DHA) ~ 4 41FL (+CA+ZN) K
HIAIFT > A 491,481,0007 7T - A B 7EH B &
AN R BEYR N > S TR A I e ST B & Ak -

AR T8 R AR AR AR T DL SEIH AN
AT DARSIAM Sy I 22 AN JEAT A 26 AL B AT
CERRCTUE -

Awarded Subsidiary
BT A

Awarding Organisation

I BE A

Award and Recognition

B IEUA R W]

RM Group Holdings Limited

1l 2 A PR B AT PR W

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

fide s (FER) AIRAR

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

fide s (FER) AIRAR

CULegend Company Limited

7535 R A LR A R 7

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

fide s (FER) AIRAR

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

T 2 3 (PR A PR 7]

The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service

7 U AL MBS T

GS1 Hong Kong

s B A 1 B

Hong Kong Brand Development

Council

A o R R SR

Hong Kong Brand Development

Council

A o R R SR

Hong Kong Consortium For Medical,
Nursing And Healthcare Development
Company Limited, MNHD

s B 9 ol 28R J B & MNHD

Monde Selection International Quality

Institute

SR AT

5 Years Plus Caring Company Logo

54FPlus [ 7 545 B4 | B 56

10+ Years Award under Consumer

Caring Scheme
St o A 3 5 W 104E + 3

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark
(Top Mark) — Ordinary & Premier
Mark under Hong Kong Top Brand
Mark Scheme

1 4% R T ) s 4 MR
(TOPWF) — E B ~ i B ok

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark
(Top Mark) under Hong Kong Top
Brand Mark Scheme

Y 40 W R ) 2 R
(TOP™)

Healthcare Professionals’ Choice
— Extraordinary Healthcare Brand
Awards 2022

T I8 — R K 422022

World Gold Quality Award 2023
— NMN Prime 21000
55 R & 8% — NMN21000
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APPENDIX: CONTENT INDEX OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING GUIDE

Bk g« CBRIE ~ AL & R B O I
5D RAE RS

Environment

B

A1l Emissions

Al BEg

General Disclosure

— et

KPI Al.1

KPI Al.1

KPI A1.2

KPI A1.2

KPI A1.3

KPI A1.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

A7 T SR B il A SR PR~ 1K R M B

A e BRI R AR

(a) BUK 5 K

(b) ST 3EFEEAT A AT HOR A A B o 1 L9
B o

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

PR ST KA B R i ) B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions and, where appropriate,
intensity.

AR (IR 1) K AE VR I 42 (T 2) 3 % S B P ik
N (I ) B -

Total hazardous waste produced and, where
appropriate, intensity.

T A A B ) AR e (A ) K

OUR ENVIRONMENT

i

i WibES

Air Emission Control

2 SR PR TR £ 1

Air Emission Control

2 S P ) £ 1

Waste Management

JBE E A
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ESG Indicators Summary Sections

ESGH5 12 HE 2kt i i

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where Waste Management
appropriate, intensity.

KPI Al.4 T 7 AR N B ) AR R (BB ) R o JBE FE) 4

KPI Al.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Air Emission Control
taken to achieve them. Resources Conservation

KPI Al.5 il 20 T T ST 0 R R F S B i B E 48 H R 22 S R T 1
PRI 2 B - i 40 I

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Waste Management
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPI Al.6 il g BT T M R S 0 O - Rl T JBE S R

A2 Use of Resources

A2 B

General Disclosure

— B

KPI A2.1

KPI A2.1

KPI A2.2
KPI A2.2

KPI A2.3

KPI A2.3

98 Annual Report 2022/2023 £ #

SL B F R B S B IS 88 B AT BRI 2 R o

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

AR T R (R BRI~ K B AR TR R #Y
B

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
in total and intensity.

e U 1 4 10 1 B T I B R 48R

Water consumption in total and intensity.
HAREK B B E o

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

il 2 BT T S B B R A T k4R F R T i B iE
FIRE I 5% sy 282 B -

Resources Conservation

i 4B U

Resources Conservation

i 4 B R

Resources Conservation
i % & IR

Resources Conservation

i 4 B I
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ESG Indicators Summary Sections
ESGHE#E HE 2t i
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Resources Conservation

sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.
KPI A2.4 TSR IO T K U5 L T A AL AR B - DA R BT RT 5L i 4 & IR
F T K R 4 B AR R 2y B AE L8 B AR BT BRI A5
|-
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Resources Conservation
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.
KPI A2.5 R T B SRR KR B (BN ) A i 49 B R
HLALAGE o

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BRBEJe R E IR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant OUR ENVIRONMENT
impact on the environment and natural resources.

— e R TR AT N B BRI B R SR UG R R B A I BRI
B -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities OUR ENVIRONMENT

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

KPI A3.1 il SEF R BRI R KRR G E R R E LR
ERBUE A B2 TE -

A4 Climate Change
A4 Rfx5E1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

— i 7 A T M L8 T T BT A AR B SRS
K0T B SR B -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate Change
which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage

them.
KPI A4.1 il O 28 ) AT g g AT N AR B E KR Mg sEL

o AH B S KT E) o
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Social
i
Employment and Labour Practices
A 4 e 5% T4 8
B1 Employment
B1 {1
General Disclosure Information on: OUR TALENT
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— et A7 G 7 M B AR~ AR BB T AR R i Fefmm A A
- PR - 2Tl SO DL AL R
HaAE
(a) BUK: &
(b) HESF B BEAT A HEOC B A B 1 B A
B R o
KPI BI.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age OUR TALENT
group and geographical region.
KPI B1.1 FEVER - DR AR - AR AL R b [ 3 23 14 Al T mg N A
EY
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and OUR TALENT
geographical region.
KPI B1.2 HPER] ~ AR AL Kt [ 0 2 09 48 B R R . FAEAA
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B2 Health and Safety

B2 f# S % 2

General Disclosure

— B

KPI B2.1

KPI B2.1

KPI B2.2
KPI B2.2

KPI B2.3

KPI B2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.

A B A A T BR B R R B R B o e i 2

fEEm

(a) BUOR &

(b) RESTEEEAT AN R F R B A T S
1 R o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

2 AR (LA R AF ) 45 4F I T o A B
R -

Lost days due to work injury.
P AR TAF H# -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

At PR A )T f R B2 A i > DA S AR R AL
11 BB HTTIE -

Health and Safety

e B B 22 4

Health and Safety

it e S % &

Health and Safety
fl RS2 &

Health and Safety
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ESG Indicators
ESG & 1%

Summary

et

Sections

B

B3 Development and Training

B3 g K5I

General Disclosure

— B

KPI B3.1

KPI B3.1

KPI B3.2

KPI B3.2

B4 Labour Standards

B4 % T.H: [

General Disclosure

— A R

KPI B4.1

KPI B4.1

KPI B4.2

KPI B4.2

102  Annual Report 2022/2023 4E

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

A7 B AR T B AT AR I B Rk % R Y
Ko i S E) o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category.

R B AR BT B 50 19 Z AR B A L -

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.

FPE I B BRI BI45 - 4540 B 52 IRZ 9189 -
IR -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

A EPGIEE T sl 25 T

(a) BUOK ; K&

(b) BESFEEEAT A BB A B SO
B

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

200 A ot A N 091 ) e DA 0 BE T R0 T 25
T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

it 7 5 B2 B DUIRE I BR A BRI DU BRI

Training and Development

B ol B %

Training and Development

B9 LR

Training and Development

i ol Bt

Employment and Labour
Practices

AR 1 % 55 T B

Employment and Labour
Practices

AR5 B 5 L B

Employment and Labour
Practices

AR5 B 5 T B
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ESG Indicators
ESG#R#%

Summary

et

Sections

3

Operating Practices

B

BS Supply Chain Management
BS i G 4 5

General Disclosure

— e R

KPI B5.1

KPI B5.1

KPI B5.2

KPI B5.2

KPI B5.3

KPI B5.3

KPI B5.4

KPI B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.

B {3 O 1) BT M A L B O

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

e [ ) 3 9 B RS B

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

AT R T (A P A PR > i ELBAT A B )
M BERERG SR > LR BT R B ik

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

o2 A T 3 O R BT 1) B 0 A
B A9 B0 > DL R A B AT S B K T ik

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

it 7 RS 36 T RO O 2 D BR 0RO o % AR
MR DA R AR BR AT R BT 8% -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF i B B (¥ J5) f BR 2 #)

Responsible Supply Chain
Management

£ T 1O {3t A

Responsible Supply Chain
Management

BB B0 {3 G A 3

Responsible Supply Chain
Management

£ FAT A 138 R g

Responsible Supply Chain
Management

R 1O {3t e

Responsible Supply Chain
Management

BB Ao {3 A 3
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ESG Indicators
ESG & 1%

Summary

et

Sections

B

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 7 fh B AL

General Disclosure

— B

KPI B6.1

KPI B6.1

KPI B6.2

KPI B6.2

KPI B6.3

KPI B6.3

KPI B6.4

KPI B6.4

KPI B6.5

KPI B6.5
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Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress.

B T AR AL R RS 1 fk B B e A~ A AT

TN SN PR

(a) BOR 3 K&

(b) WESFEEEAT A TR 0 A B 1 A A H
1R o

H

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

O B 40K 2 i 4 v R 2 4 L f i L ol
ZE Y A 23 L o

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

FEHE IR IS 2 T T MBS 10 £ R i DA R M 3 vk

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

it B A T % R I SR kR A A AL

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

it B B A A AR R i [ R T

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

il 77 2 OB AR R R A RS R > DL AR BLAT
B S5 T 5 -

Safeguarding Product
Quality

Provision of Quality
Services

Advertising and Labelling

Protecting Intellectual
Property Rights

Customer Privacy
Protection

A ol R
1 13t 6 B AR 5
i o R R

R R 2 M
PR P LR

Safeguarding Product
Quality

A ol E LR

Provision of Quality
Services

1 14t 6 B A 5

Protecting Intellectual
Property Rights

3R 7l R

Safeguarding Product

Quality
Provision of Quality
Services

A ol E LR
1 {3t B AR 5

Customer Privacy
Protection

PR P LR
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ESG Indicators
ESG#R#%

Summary

et

Sections

3

B7 Anti-corruption
B7 R {5

General Disclosure

— bl EE

KPI B7.1

KPI B7.1

KPI B7.2

KPI B7.2

KPI B7.3

KPI B7.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
A BB LB~ B R R AR
() B K

(b) REST RS EEAT A H R B A Bk SR
R

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

7 R 5 34 P 3 3 A7 N EOHCAR E H  © R A H0
BT AR R AR BOE B AR RA RS R -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

il By S i B B PP o LA BOAR B AT B B %
Tk e

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

T ) K B TR B R B s HEal

Anti-Bribery and
Corruption

J B s B )

Anti-Bribery and
Corruption

5 B e e I B

Anti-Bribery and
Corruption

J B s B )

Anti-Bribery and
Corruption

J5 3 B B I B
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Community

it

B8 Community Investment

B8 i@ % &

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand OUR COMMUNITY
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

— A A TR LA 8 2 B AT R ST A AL 18 R R e T B9 AL
PR S5 15 B 2% AL [ A 4 1 BORE

KPI BS8.1 Focus areas of contribution. OUR COMMUNITY
KPI BS.1 HEE R - FAM A At [
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. OUR COMMUNITY
KPI B8.2 T B 006 BT B A o T B9 4L [
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

'K MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collective referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 113 to 239, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ J5) f BR 2 &)

B 37 A% BB e

Moore Stephens CPA Limited

801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

T +852 2375 3180
F +852 23753828

www.moore.hk i‘]
A,

SEMRHR DB
MOEF A

B 18 W (422 L) A PR 2 B SR

(1% B 2 BE B 7t Mk 57 B9 A AR 2 7])

A A% R (DL AR T 3l ) B 8551 Hn 45 113
F039 5 E e B (FERE) A BRA R (LA N HiRs [ &
O] D) B LR E N A (AR AR ) 09 AR A I
BHE > WEAMBEREAER Z=4F=H
=+ — H 4 A BRI R AR R 5% H IR R
AR AR RHA AT F - AR BB R R
HAEBHEMER  DREAMHREMRE - G
FE G BURMEE -

BATFR L - F%F 55 P TRk CARE & W & 5 Al
N (T o & 5 6 2 € 1) A8 AR 19 GR: 5 B 75
6 FI) (7 v B 25 S 455 1 L)) 2 B8 T+ ot s
T BEER - F - CHE=A=+HHEEY
TR UL R 8k 5% H LR 48 & B R B R Sk &
B R E > I 2R B A CA RGN 1Y B 5 ok

FAM O AR AU A A € A B (R I AR R
D (T at M1 ) AT A Rl o FRAMAE %S HE
BUTR 7RIS B AL 7R A A% B A A A
S S 3R AR I Y AT | BB 3 rP AR A — 2 A o AR
P W w A AT H) CREE B wh R 7 ST AL
(TSFRD) - FeMmsrt BEM i CE1T il
H G At B SR R AT o TRIMAALS - TR TR
{1 2 - M e E T AL A s AT 1 R B4R I
B o
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of  BHSE 255125 TEUR MR PR FRAM W BL2E 117 > 58 A AR
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the — Hi%i& MM EF B rT i A EEMFIH - mLlH
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the T /ZTEFAMEE w1 BBl 45 & WA B th 2L & FLIRE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  #EFTEEILIY) o FAMAS € S 40 g5 TE P2 AL B A 1) 2

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

LEL TR

Ho

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B B 2 it T 35 B B i SO AT B

Valuation of investment property

BE W A

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit matter
due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the significant
assumptions and judgments involved in the valuation.

Fe AN T ] 45 ) ik (% PR G S L IR 2 R A B A R AN A 2 1k
FY AR - 3l HL P R R AR R K B

The fair value of the Group’s investment property was determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs,
assumptions of market conditions and judgments on appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs adopted. The Group also worked closely with the
independent qualified valuer, to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques.

AR £ ) SR o SF-(EL TS 2 R R T B A EE RO AT i A R 4 A
(ELBE AT ~ TiT YL (B 3B T B Y B 78 Sl (5 90 0 iy A\ S 1Y 1) o e 7t
E o A% S5 [F IR B T RS B4 A ELFTTE 7 A4 > LA SR R 2 Y
FEAE BT ©

As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position, the
Group’s investment property as at 31 March 2023 amounting to
HK$136,900,000.

AMANER S MBR IR TR > BEMR -F_=F=A=1—HK
B P 310 4 %7 136,900,000 T ©

108  Annual Report 2022/2023 4E

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
property included:

FAM L 15 M S A (0 12 P (L4

. Reviewing the valuation report from external
independent qualified valuer and holding
discussion with management and independent
qualified valuer to understand the valuation
basis, methodology used and underlying
assumptions applied;

. AR AN B S AR i (L I ) A (R R > Sl B
B L A 98 S A b (L > T AR
M A (BRI~ kAR A R A%

. Evaluating management’s process in respect of
reviewing the valuation performed by external
independent qualified valuer;

. A A H R 3 A1 B S AR i (8 AT A (B
AR

. Evaluating of the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent qualified valuer;

. FTAG 8 S A RS Al (B RO B2 RE AR ) AN 2 B
T

© Obtaining the underlying data including
comparables of market transactions being used by
the independent qualified valuer and assessing
whether they are appropriate; and

. TRUAG AR B ) - /64 78 S S A Al L i O e T
AT T 528 5 - SRl A B R A
Rk

. Performing market research and analysis to assess
whether the changes in fair value of investment
properties resulted from the valuation was
reasonable and consistent with market trends to
our knowledge.

. AT IR T AN AT - WAl Al (DS S G 2
INTEBE RS G > DS BLIRAM BT AT
TG — 5.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 7. A B e o

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

2 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 7. A B e o

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certitied Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Lai Hung Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P06995

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
g 47 4R 25 LA % K 2

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =& — =4 =H =+ —H IL4F &

2023 2022
TR —E T
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
ft i T Tt
(Re-presented)
(REHE5)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: TR BT -
REVENUE /& 5 216,127 155,639
Cost of sales B A (49,817) (48,330)
GROSS PROFIT BF 166,310 107,309
Other income, gains or losses HAb A ~ i g5 Bl 7 15,836 5,189
Selling and distribution expenses BB Iy 81 B X (47,447) (29,867)
Administrative expenses AT BH 32 (85,256) (78,560)
Share of profit of an associate JEE A — ] B 55 ) 2 ¥ 21 6 349
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss  TE {5 B A N RE MR 20 %
under expected credit loss model on trade and At ME YA (Gl (ERGHR)
other receivables P85 191 36k s 120 (715) 427
Gain on disposal of promissory note receivable £ it 7 5 25 95 A9 i 25 24 — 25,000
Fair value change of the Company’s shares A — [ B o A R AT AR A )
issued in relation to acquisition of an e 2 s~ 52 )
associate 21 _ (55,402)
Reversal of impairment loss on promissory note J& it 7K 5o, 25 4 = 44 =] i
receivable &5 45 - 4,170
Impairment loss on intangible assets MY E E 2 WE 1R — (4,231)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS REuwA, (ER) 48,734 (25,616)
Finance costs Bl A 8 (4,968) (12,878)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION BB i e A, Ol 4 9 43,766 (38,494)
Taxation B IH 12 (2,590) (2,755)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM  FR {48 315 2 Wil
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (K 18) 41,176 (41,249)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: LA Ik R 2
Loss for the year from discontinued operations B #% 1k 8 %5 215 2 4F (A 5 42 13 (423) (3,136)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERNER, (B E) 40,753 (44,385)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)  Ffib 21 (B %), W2
INCOME
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 7 REPE/R BT EHE 2
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translation of i S A1 B S5 A S Sk % IR 114 BEE 5,
financial statements of foreign operations EH (210) 571
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/  4F R 3 b 216 (B %), W #s
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (210) 571
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ 4y AT W aR,(BR 52) 48
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR 40,543 (43,814)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A 7 P8 A B LAl 4 i L 4 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik £

2023 2022
TR CEE -~
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 51 Tt THIT
(Re-presented)
(REHE5)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to A BEA N HEAG A 8 AL
owners of the Company: (E18) :
— from continuing operations — A A R RS T 41,296 (41,379)
— from discontinued operations — R H &R (260) (2,509)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners 457\ & #E A A EAG 4F (A % £l
of the Company (F518) 41,036 (43,888)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to I 5 BERE 25 HEAL AR (5 1R)
non-controlling interests: Al : B
— from continuing operations — 2R B R R T (120) 130
— from discontinued operations — K E DS (163) (627)
Loss for the year attributable to I I HE 4 T A 4F I i 4R
non-controlling interests (283) 497)
40,753 (44,385)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) L N AL 2w W 2s
attributable to: (BAX) B -
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE ZEN 40,758 (43,406)
Non-controlling interests I ¥ P i (215) (408)
40,543 (43,814)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AR\ W] e N HEAY 2 i W 2g
attributable to owners of the Company: (B 3Z) 4 P
— from continuing operations — R H R AR T 41,018 (40,897)
— from discontinued operations — e B AR SR (260) (2,509)
40,758 (43,406)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to AR ) BEA N AL A P B
owners of the Company for the year: BF, (EH)
From continuing and discontinued RE RS R O IR
operations
— basic (HK cents) — FEA (Al 15 1.32 (1.53)
— diluted (HK cents) — fHEv (Al 15 1.32 (1.53)
From continuing operations PASEES - E it 0
— basic (HK cents) — SEA (AL 15 1.33 (1.44)
— diluted (HK cents) — HEW GEAD) 15 1.33 (1.44)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
#1155 IA DL 3R

Asat 31 March 2023 jA £ = =4E=H=1+—H

2023 2022
TR - S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
R 5T T TH#TT
Non-current assets IR B
Investment property e -C7/E 17 136,900 =
Property, plant and equipment Y ~ WRE K sty 18 68,401 70,450
Right-of-use assets i FMEE = 19 6,722 2,403
Intangible assets T G 20 7,425 2,210
Interest in an associate A — [ A N ) B B A 21 — 67,036
Prepayments and deposits TE AT 3O Je 4% 4 23 22,918 26,691
242,366 168,790
Current assets W
Inventories & 22 23,817 19,835
Trade and other receivables, JRRE St Bk S At JE Wi R T
prepayments and deposits TA AT I R4 23 58,780 20,720
Tax recoverable AT U [ ol TE 1,375 2,152
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B4 EE Y 25 13,108 35,276
97,080 77,983
Current liabilities T N= K
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JRE AN MR R~ At B AT 3 TE %
JE T2 26 24,602 19,819
Contract liabilities HHAMRE 27 84 255
Amount due to a shareholder JREASE — 42 1 R K JE 29 79,909 —
Bank and other borrowings SRAT S HAth 8 3k 30 79,737 99,993
Bank overdrafts BRITE 25 — 18,964
Lease liabilities T A 1 31 2,692 2,371
Refund liabilities BB R 32 1,274 1,395
Tax payable JRE A5} o T 3,657 1,018
191,955 143,815
Net current liabilities U B AR (94,875) (65,832)
Total assets less current liabilities HE O A Y B A 147,491 102,958
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
o 1 S 25 SIR Ol 3

Asat31 March 2023 A —E ~=4FE=H=+—H
2023 2022
TR CEHE -~
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi 51 Tt TH#sTT
Non-current liabilities i By £ %
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JRE ST #2 J HE 4 K I 28 — 60
Lease liabilities T A & 31 4,076 208
Deferred tax liabilities % FIE B TH £ K 33 5 35
4,081 303
Net assets B R A 143,410 102,655
Equity RE 25
Share capital & A 34 7,770 7,770
Reserves fits fhi 138,237 97,389
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A/ ml #E A A RE A 42 146,007 105,159
Non-controlling interests Ik $5E FBEHE 25 (2,597) (2,504)
Total equity HE 25 #8%0 143,410 102,655

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 239 were approved and 5% 113 %239 F{ M 45 A B R it —F =47\ H
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2023 and are .1t H &8 i 3% 3 & it L AZHET 8 > 4 H 41

signed on its behalf by: HRAKREE
Cheung Siu Fai Lam Wai Tong
iRk b TR S5 3
Director Director
HH HH
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CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

fo 11 HE

D2 pan

fut 52

B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % —% = 4F = H =+ — H L4 )&

Attributable to owners of the Company

LYk TN
Convertible
Share bonds Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Translation option equity Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve losses Total interests Equity
TRMCHE R B Jetit
BA  RbrRE AOHRE EERE  RORGE el MR EHER st s MR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T T T T T T T
(note a) (note b)
(WriEa) (fiF7Ep)
At 31 March 2021 BZZZ—-F=H=F—H 6,413 296,603 (10) 462 290 19,040 2,653 (304,397) 21,054 2,017 19,037
Loss for the year FREH = = = = = = = (43,888) (43,888) (497) (44,385)
Other comprehensive expense: 2R :
Exchange differences on translation of ~ #8 /h BI 35 B B Hh = s )
financial statements of foreign 5%
operations - - - - 482 - - - 482 89 511
Total comprehensive expense for the A R 2 T B S A
year = = = = 482 = = (43,888) (43,406) (408) (43,814)
Recognition of equity-settled TR HESE 5 DL R S M2
share-based payments 3% - - - - - 100 - - 100 — 100
Step acquisition of a subsidiary I Bt T A 2 D — — — — — — — (321) (321) (19) (400)
Share options lapsed ERBEIHE = = = = = (13,638) = 13,638 — — —
Shares issued upon exercise of share 17 B FRCHE G B 17 Mt
options (note 37(1) (Hf&E376)) 7 7,087 = = = (1,162) = = 6,000 = 6,000
Shares issued upon acquisition of an U — Mt A R BT ey
associate (note 23) (Kfak23) 1,282 120,807 — — — — — — 122,089 = 122,089
Redemption of convertible bonds i I T B (234
(note 34) = = = = = = (2,653) 2,296 (357) = (357)
At 31 March 2022 REZZZZHF=H=+-H 7,770 424,497 (10) 462 m 4,340 = (332,672) 105,159 (2,504) 102,655
Profit for the year ERif — — — — — — — 41,036 41,036 (283) 40,753
Other comprehensive income/(expense):  SEflv 4 g /(B 30)
Exchange differences on translation YA MBS R R )
of financial statements of foreign [E %M
operations - - - - (278) - - - (278) 68 (210)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 4 [ 2 i T,/ (3 3) 4%
for the year - - - - (278) - - 41,036 40,758 (215) 40,543
Share options lapsed B A - - - - - (4,340) - 4340 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HE A R - - - - 90 - - - 90 1 212
At 31 March 2023 WoZ-=E=A=+—H 7,770 424,497 (10) 462 584 - - (287,296) 146,007 (2,397) 143410
Notes: i 53
(a) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary (a) A bR A LS 7 B AT 4 M v (B A AR
shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through an AN T AR A s A 58 5 BT A RS Wl GEM L T
exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the T 2 52 B 5 41 32 0 5 A P B 2 IR AR 2 %
Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. HH o
(b) Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the  (b) R o 3 N B SE N B ([ e B ) RS AR A R 2

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations, these
subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation, which is
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to a statutory
reserve fund (including the general reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund, where
appropriate). Transfer to this statutory reserve fund is subject to the approval of the
respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the balance of such fund has
reached 50% of the registered capital of the respective company. Statutory reserve fund

can only be used to offset accumulated losses or to increase capital.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS

i Bl BB R

EEZA =+ HIEFEE

2023 2022
TR TE T
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
b 5 Tt THIT
(Re-presented)
(Re & 51)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRBT
Profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing o A A SE B R A
operations (fe18) 43,766 (38,494)
Loss before taxation from discontinued e B B & 1L 488 SRR A s 1R
operations (426) (3,150)
Adjustments for: AR 5 TE T VEFR
Finance costs Tl A 4,968 12,880
Written off of inventories, net of reversal TEs 7 & > FnpR I 106 3,782
Share of profit of an associate JRE A — [ B 7 /A ) 2 Vi 21 (6) (349)
Depreciation of property, plant and W~ MR i e
equipment 18 3,784 4,205
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i ARE & T 85 19 2,450 2,392
Amortisation of intangible assets B SIS 20 285 1,263
Impairment loss on intangible assets Y G 2 W (E R 4R 20 — 4,907
Reversal of impairment loss on promissory JARE WA 7 e, S 4 4 T K (A 4R
note receivable — (4,170)
Gain on disposal of promissory note H B R SR S SRR 1 Ui A
receivable — (25,000)
Written off of trade receivables JRE Wi AR AL 303 522
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) TR 0 O % At JRE A 3 P 2
on trade and other receivables A G 48, (U (2 18 43 ) 715 (958)
Bank interest income SRAT B A (217) ©)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries L B R B A D ) i i v AR (160) =
Net loss on disposal of an associate Hh R — [T A 2 ) g 18 AR 1,042 —
Gain on disposal of equity instruments B P R AR AR AR A
at FVTPL i@l (531) —
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and  HEWZE - FE KA1
equipment (3 R (280) 5
Fair value change of an investment property BEYENTHEE) 17 (11,900) =
Equity-settled share-based payments DA B HE &5 5 DA B 03 S A5 2
P32 9(a) — 100
Waiver of other payables A H A A R I — (4,227)
Loss on early settlement of convertible bonds &5 &% 45 ] # i £ =5 1) )5 15 — 105
Fair value change of the Company’s shares ol i i — R M/ A W R AT
issued in relation to acquisition of an AN\ ey 2 AN TE SR B
associate 21 — 55,402
Operating cash flows before movement L 4 SR ) 2 RS B T
in working capital 43,899 9,206
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
li‘/j; 5] ﬁ%(ﬁii@

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 =% — =4 = H =+ —H IL4 &

2023 2022
R TR
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
bt Tt T T
(Re-presented)
Alliﬁu
Changes in working capital SRS
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 78 ), A (4,450) 1,848
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other JARE M O T L At R A 35
receivables, prepayments and deposits T A 3T B 4 4 ( i"ﬁl] /
W (41,109) 11,201
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, other JREAST Bk~ LAt B A5 5 &
payables and accruals JE 2 s (Y 6,027 (4,140)
Decrease in contract liabilities Ag’]ﬁ 15 9 > (238) (152)
(Decrease)/increase in refund liabilities HEME (WD), B (121) 250
Cash generated from operations R R R B4 4,008 18,213
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded TR BRI A 2,720 1,236
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B8 E R Ik (1,890) (8,984)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING o B AR S W B4 T
ACTIVITIES 4,838 10,465
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B W -~ R ki 18 (1,896) (®)
Purchase of equity instruments at FVTPL [ PN /N R N =Bk
B (12,500) —
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments & 4& /A F(EFE AR &5 194 £2
at FVTPL BOE I P 5 3R 13,031 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and ﬁjE%¥ Wi B A 1)
equipment T4 R — 86
Direct costs attributable to the purchase of Mg B e R A B A L AR
right-of-use assets — 2)
Bank interest received B US4 7 LS 217 9
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries L B T B 2 A B 4 U o v AR (212) —
Proceeds from disposal of an associate B — P B N A BT 45 K I 21 66,000 —
Proceeds from disposal of promissory note A R R 5 SRR P 15 3RO
receivable — 25,000
Proceeds from early settlement of promissory L 45 5 B AR S SRR A i A
note receivable X IE — 5,600
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi e — [H] BEE )28 2 ) 40 (79,908) —
Step acquisition of a subsidiary IR B o e — D 6 )8 2 ) — (400)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM (B R,/ B 3% % 3% 3 1 B 4
INVESTING ACTIVITIES A (15,268) 30,285
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS

i Bl BB R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ =& " =4 = H =+ —H L4}

Xt

2023 2022
TR - i
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
B 51 Tt THs T
(Re-presented)
(R F)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Tl 5 78
Repayment of bank borrowings B3R RAT 15 3K (54,156) (67,324)
Repayment of other borrowings PR H At 3 (10,000) (109,000)
New bank borrowings raised i SR AT (e K — 77,036
New other borrowings raised 7 4 A £ 2k — 100,000
Advance from a shareholder AR H — 44 B R EGK 79,909 =
Repayment of lease liabilities R E Al (2,690) (2,551)
Interest paid E AT FLE (5,616) (14,821)
Payment for early redemption and/ upon LI ) K B B A% AT A
maturity of convertible bonds & 25 B9 £ 3k — (51,000)
Proceeds from shares issued under share AR5 B A R ) AT A A BT 15
options scheme FIE — 6,000
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING 7l & 3% B) Bi 4% (Bi H) i B 4
ACTIVITIES eI 7,447 (61,660)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH Bl 4 B Bl 4 - E 1A 5
EQUIVALENTS (2,983) (20,910)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [T % 55 o) 1) 5 2 (221) 570
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT A 10 0 B A T B4 S
BEGINNING OF YEAR 16,312 36,652
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R B KBS
AT END OF YEAR VI ESEPIIN 13,108 16,312
Represented by 1
Bank balances and cash RATH RN B & 13,108 35,276
Bank overdrafts SRATIE X — (18,964)
13,108 16,312

120

Annual Report 2022/2023 4 #i



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011 under
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the

Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
sale, marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and

products in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for

the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to

HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily

effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2022 for

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
20182020

NEUAE I B (HE ) AR ) (TAS AR D) 2 —
M = F——4+ " L HARRH SRS
DN FETE B S B I RS S DA B 2 B
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B A A W T 28 5 B AT R R ([T 32
P D) TR BT o AN R 2 RE M kg R
S S M BN 1Y 9 R R AS AR W R
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Ay ) J BB HE B ) B M I 2 R (B
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B B o) B AR M T2 5% 2 A iy B i o
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Ry F R T RE B R
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Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

The application of the Amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and February

2022 Amendments to

HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)

1

3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new

and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

31

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment property that are
measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

T A A AHL v AR A 38 = 3 T I KRB T
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3.1

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in

its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment property which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals

the transaction price.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

3.1

3.2
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EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or

more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share

of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the

Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to

owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interest (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or a joint venture.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a business

and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model and financial
assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction

does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are critical
to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or
experience to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue

producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HKJFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or
HK{JFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.

Contingent assets are not recognised.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes

and HKAS 19 Employee Benetfits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy

below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in

accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at
the acquisition date, except for leases for which the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when

compared with market terms.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain

purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or
at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an

associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. Cost of
investment in an associate upon initial recognition in exchange
for an issue of the Company’s shares is based on the fair value
of the associate measured at the acquisition date, any excess of
fair value of the consideration transferred over the fair value of
the interest in associate acquired are recognised in profit or loss
with reference to HKFRS 2 Share based payment. Changes in net
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring

control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the
value of the Group’s performance completed to date, the Group
recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group has the

right to invoice.

Refund liabilities
The Group recognises a refund liability if the Group expects to

refund some or all of the consideration received from customers.

Sale with a right of return
For a sale of products with a right of return, the Group

recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the

products expected to be returned/exchanged);
(b)  a refund liability/contract liability; and
(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for

its right to recover products from customers and are

presented as right-of-return assets.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other

party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or

service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good
or service provided by another party before that good or service
is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the

specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and

the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease

term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received;

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

3.2 EREFFEOR ()

HE (#)

A GE B F 2R TN

AR AE 20 PiE 2 5 20 AL AR 23

W A A AR A K — TH e 2 TR
AN 2R A B A AR 2 1 5 A
T > ASE FAR R A B A0 AR 20 1Y
A 3B 18 AR AR B I A B A AR 43 /Y
WL B RE S A NES B &
B ML 2

A A5 1 8 T T A M ik AN I R AL
AR o BELARL B AR SRR 0 40 B
71 546 AL 2 AL 8 23 % A 4ol A B JF AR
AR R A 2 B — A B AL
N

TRUEINC
AEBMEEHEHBE A HEHN A
1247 H 855 5 19 A B R A 60 & i
PR 1) AL Y R AL Y R R
G o S L R IR A (B T
4 A5 SRR TE AL B 0 R T B AR EA E
7R R AR AT -

o HlE
o P M O 2 A L4

. MER M YIAF RS

. A BALE B sk 2 mifE s 2 AR
FAE AT K > WA e Fl B
o

W% T B R o B0 W) 26 DA S P AR

X FEE S o R A R A 5

o AR R AT ROEUE

=W == R e R N

(A

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited N i 24 B (¥ 1) 4 KR 23 W] 137



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 205 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F

138

3.2

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that met the definition of investment property are presented

within “investment property”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a

finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income

when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary

course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are

considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of
the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through

forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the

original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollar) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the

Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are not capitalised to qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are

presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benetit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benetits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an

asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the

equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred

to accumulated losses.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always

presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary

differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied

to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always

presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,

plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised

in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period

in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the

period in which the property is derecognised.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at

cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset

so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable

to the intangible asset during its development.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as

intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as

their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets with definite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may

be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(a)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no

longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term

borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the market place.

Annual Report 2022/2023 4 #i

3.2

B HHBUR ()

Bl # RB# F Y

Bl RBL S YR A5 & MR 0L
KEI > Of

(a) Bl& > HAREFIHBE L
TFEK o AL IS 32 W 4 1l i 28 3
A R SR A Bl e =
SRITH R 5 K

by BEFEY  HaFEH ca
WR B H & =EH s E
JE) T B R O BORR
B HLAE (B 5 B SRR S K
MBS - Ble S EYFRHE
A B R I - IR R
BOESHAE ) -

MR ARERERN S - Bl kB
EEEYARE RN S R
Y - R 4 R AR ) R
BMITBET - BB A EBMB &
M EEI D - ARIE IR G e M
TR UL 2R 04 4 0 i £ o

#H

A7 B DA B AS (i B T 52 B T L A
1 2 B B o A7 B 5 ST
L FHE o TS B (E A A R
w25 B A A 58 TRAS Rl
I AR BT 5 BB

& TR

W R R TR A # R
HRT #0074l T 4l B i
T LAERR - B A LW H sU E
R E 2 ERMEE > Wik A
o B ME A R S H L HERD o DLW
S R B B R 9 5 SRR B T 3
Z 5 R S 9120 A 2 R ] TR AR
EEZEMEERS -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset

is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other income, gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables and other receivables, promissory note receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, and factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

i Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:
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an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in c
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results

significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the

Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

(ii)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the

Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) _ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a)

(b)

()

(@

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; and

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of

recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy

proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be

subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s

recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice

where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition

event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
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3.2 EREFFNECR ()

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the

respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as

forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is

recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum

of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in

profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash

flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset, after reducing gross carrying amount that has

been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is

recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, liability component of
convertible bonds and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which
the Group applies practical expedient, when the contractual terms
of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the
revised terms result in a substantial modification from original
terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part
of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when

such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Continued)
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability

is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows

as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortized cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
account for these changes by updating the effective interest rate,
such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or

financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both

these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest

rate benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the

basis immediately preceding the change).
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects

both current and future periods.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if

any.

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (i.) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(ii.) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (iii.) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and

an appropriate discount rate.
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Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment,

intangible assets and right-of-use assets (Continued)

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belong, including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of cash generating units, for
which the relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable

amounts.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has already identified
impairment indicator on the intangible asset which are related to two
individual cash generating units (“CGUs”) as there was decline in
financial performances, each comprising a group of subsidiaries, namely
H365 Health Products Limited (“H365 Group”) included in the health
and beauty supplements and products business segment and Soul
Marketing Group Limited (“Soul Marketing”) included in e-commerce

promotion business segment.

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their

major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

H365 Group

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.9%. The cash flows
of this CGU beyond the five-year period is extrapolated using a 1.4%
growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation related
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales, gross
margin and related cash inflow and outflow patterns. The estimation is
based on the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations

for the market development.
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Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets (Continued)

H365 Group (Continued)

Based on the value in use calculation, impairment loss on brand name
and sales distribution channel amounting to approximately
HK$2,179,000 and HK$2,053,000, respectively was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Soul Marketing

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 17.8%. The cash flows
of this CGU beyond the five-year period is extrapolated using a growth
rate of 1.4%. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
related to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted
sales, gross margin and related cash inflow and outflow patterns. The
estimation is based on management’s expectations for the market

development.

Based on the value in use calculation, impairment loss on the customer
relationship amounting HK$675,000 was recognised in the profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment were approximately HK$6,722,000 and
HK$68,401,000 (2022: HKS$2,403,000 and HK$70,450,000),
respectively. The management of the Group considered there is no

impairment indicator as at 31 March 2023.
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Valuation of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
management regularly reviews its inventory levels and ageing analysis
in order to identify any potential allowance for inventories. The
management estimates the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the current market conditions and subsequent selling price
of products. The Group makes allowance for inventories when the
Group identifies items of inventories which have a net realisable value
that is lower than its carrying amount. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amount of inventories was approximately HK$23,817,000
(2022: HK$19,835,000).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant
balances or credit impaired which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items collectively,
grouped by past due status. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are

considered.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The

information about the trade receivables and the Group’s ECL is

disclosed in notes 23 and 38, respectively.
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Valuation of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by an independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) not
connected with the Group. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions. In determining the fair value,
the Valuer has based on a method of valuation which involves certain
unobservable inputs including, among other factors, capitalisation rate
used in the valuations as set out in note 17.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgements and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment property and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
property is HK$136,900,000 (2022: nil), and detail of which is
disclosed in note 17.
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For the year ended

31 March
BE=ZA=Z+—HILEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#T T
(Re-presented)
(K& H %))
Continuing operations FRE R
Revenue from contracts with customers B P& #) Uk i 215,920 155,639
Leasing of investment property liih=¢id-C7/ES 207 —
216,127 155,639
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Upon disposal of e-commerce promotion business through disposal of
Advance Rider Limited (“Advance Rider”), the comparative figures
have been re-presented to conform to the current period’s presentation.
No disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is
presented as all revenue from contracts with customers represents the
net amount received and receivable for goods sold arising from the

sales of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong.

Revenue from the sales of health and beauty supplements and products
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is

transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Certain contracts for the sale of health and beauty supplements and
products provide customers with rights of return. The rights of return
give rise to variable consideration. For contracts which provide a
customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period, the
expected value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned. Revenue is recognised for sales which are considered highly
probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur. For goods that are expected to be returned, a

refund liability is recognised.

All goods provided by the Group are for contracts with original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not

disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@

(b)

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group completed the
disposal of the operation for e-commerce promotion business
through disposal of Advance Rider. As a result, the operation for
e-commerce promotion business through Advance Rider was
discontinued with effective from 30 August 2022, this is
described in more details in Note 13. The comparative figures in
this note have been re-presented to conform to the current

period’s presentation.

Upon disposal of Advance Rider, information reported to the
executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of performance, focuses specifically on the revenue
analysis by principal categories of the Group’s business. The
principal categories of the Group’s business are sales of health
and beauty supplements and products and, leasing of investment

property. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures are presented.

Details of the discontinued operations are further set out in Note
13.

Information about major customer

Revenue from external customer contributing 10% or more of the

(a)

(b)

WRE-FE - =F=H=1T—HI
AERE > ASAE [ 58 B S Advance
Rider & 7 1) 78 7 15 5 4 Jo 2675 -
I > 3 Advance Rider’s 3 1) 5 1
FBHEREFCE —F = —FNAH
=t HEZ L HZ R R MR
13 o BUBR R e B B O E 41 > DA
FEAIH A 25 o

i B Advance Riderf% > 5t 4 it &
TR % Al HL 2R BT 0] A A W) 94T #
H (B PR ) Mo 2 B
= A T A e A 4 I S RS A
B Wl 25 AT o A I R B RS
REUI T B R M B 55 25 Al ol B iy
DL TR B4R G 2 o B - (27
B T B R e

O A R R S5 M e R U B RE 13

EREFEFHER
115 7 e 10 2725 2 10% B L - i1 2

total revenue of the Group is as follows: HAMBEF s T
2023 2022
TR COEZH - =
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#L TH#IT
Customer A* K FH 160,930 107,472
* The revenue was derived from the health and beauty supplements and @ A B AR TS TR B PR B 3% 25 i %

products business.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —~F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik

172

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THsTT
(Re-presented)
(K& H %))
Continuing operations FrE R
Other income H AW A
Bank interest income SRAT AL E YA 217 9
Government subsidies (Note a) R A B () 3,758 —
Waiver of other payables (Note b) A G0 F A REAS SCE (B ED) - 4,227
Sundry income e TELS A 161 1,107
4,136 5,343
Other gains or losses A Wi £ B 1R
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, Y - RS R
plant and equipment W ts,/ (5 18) 54 303 (40)
Net exchange gain/(losses) BEE i Wi 45, (s 12) 1 81 130 (90)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries WM EA RN (B8 ikt (237) 64
(Loss)/gain on disposal of associates (Note 21) &4 /A 717 (F548) it
(B 5E21) (1,042) 10
Loss on early redemption of convertible bonds  $& 5 J [|] 1] 46 [ {5 7 1) s 18 — (105)
Gain on disposal of equity instruments B P (E T AR £ 1R £
at FVTPL e gl 531 —
Fair value change of an investment property BB AT ) (B aE17)
(Note 17) 11,900 —
Others HoAt 115 7
11,700 (154)
15,836 5,189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes:

(a)

(b)

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % —% = 4F = =+ — H IL4F )&

During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$3,758,000 (2022: Nil) in respect of COVID-19 pandemic’s related
subsidies, which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong

Kong government.

Waiver of other payables mainly represented the consideration payable in relation
to acquisition of an associate named Leader Shine International Limited
(“Leader Shine”) during the year ended 31 March 2019. Leader Shine’s
business did not perform well since acquisition by the Group due to the
continuous negative impact from the COVID-19 and the travel restriction
imposed by the government in Hong Kong, accordingly the Group has
obtained a consent and entered into an agreement with the vendor of Leader
Shine to waive such consideration payable during the year ended 31 March
2022. Leader Shine has been disposed on 31 March 2022 at a cash
consideration of HK$10,000.

Wi RE -

(a) TAASAERE > A SR 32019 76 R 75 7595 18 155 A
B8 A Al e S IBCRT A B3,758,000%5 ot (=&
AR R T) o A B A B s U 42
BEA TR 2 | 5t 84 B -

(b) RO B L A A KT R R AR R R E
T NAEZH =+ — H k4R A
7 Leader Shine International Limited
([Leader Shine |) i) FEAT A - 174201978
R 975 5 9 119 5 A THT R R % A s BBURT 1Y
ATRR B A 4R [ i PL2R > Leader Shine
B EH RBLAR > H > A% [ E i
Leader Shine % J7 Y [A] %% 3If7 B2 2 5T 37 i ik
DIAME "R - "= =+—HILFE
MR R T F=H
=+ —H > Leader Shinef% i 4 {110,000

WITH A o
2023 2022
TR COEZH —FE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#L TH#IT
(Re-presented)
(Re &%)
Continuing operations FR R

Interest on bank borrowings SRATME A B 3,279 2,222
Interest on other borrowings HAth 5 2 A S, 1,396 8,642
Interest on amount due to a shareholder JE A — 44 JI SR TE ) 1) B 182 =
Interest on lease liabilities GiEh=§=Ki= %P5 111 174

Interest on liability component of convertible 4 #f & B A 5 & 1Y m] # A5 25 &
bonds measured at amortised cost &4 1 FE — 1,840
4,968 12,878
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # & — % —

&

AE=HA =+ —HIEEE

FRARSE W 2 BRBLAT I F1l (R 1R) 948
FHERDA T & AR A i

Profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing operations is arrived at

174

after charging the followings:

2023 2022
TR e S
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt THIT
(Re-presented)
(R F)
Continuing operations TR 8
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BTHA(BFEEEME) :
emoluments):
Salaries, allowances, and other benefits B4~ HERb R H A AR A 65,585 54,053
Retirement benefits B KA A 2,024 2,013
Equity-settled share-based payments DL B HE 45 5 DA I Ay S AN 2 BR S — 100
67,609 56,166
(b) Other items: (b) HAbEE :
Auditors’ remuneration 2% BT P 4 2,090 2,118
Cost of inventories B RA 36,515 36,023
Depreciation charge: Pres B s
— property, plant and equipment — W3 WU Rk 3,775 4,158
— right-of-use assets — fF MG E 2,450 2,350
Amortisation of intangible assets STV & B O 285 987
Rent for special designated counters o Bl 8 7 AV AR 4 16,904 15,656
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, W - RE BRI
plant and equipment, net (M 45) e 48 1 48 (303) 38
Impairment loss on intangible assets Y B 2 WA 1R — 4,231
Written off of trade receivables JRRE M e A B 303 =
Written off of inventories, net of AE LA > 115 8 0
reversal 106 3,782
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

AR 78 1) VT8 S0 e A ot 2 ) A 91 49 e 14
o R AT AR A AT & A T

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BEZRC=ZAZHZF—HIREE

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled
and other  Discretionary share-based Retirement
Fees benefits bonuses payments benefits Total
Fid W VAJBHERS SO
M4 SRR FRAEAL i 2B RIRFR ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T# T# T# T# T# T#
Executive directors AfrH#H
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai RO — 345 — — 13 358
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Note i) MEFE A (M sk — 1412 2,000 - 14 3,426
Mr. Wang Xihua (Note ii) EFHE A (ki) — 1,308 — — 15 1,323
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William AR A (ki)

(Note iii) - 466 - - 9 475
Mr. Chen Man Lung (Note iv) BROCHRESE A (Bt ativ) — 1,182 — — 9 1,191
Independent non-executive B EHGTEE

directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RHWIEE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Note vi)  #3 H /& (Hfikvi) 85 - - - - 85
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Note vii) BRIENE A (B s vid) 180 — — — — 180
Ms. Dong Jian Mei (Note viii) AR/ (3 viii) 180 — — — — 180
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Note ix) A (f Eix) 101 — — — — 101
Mr. Leung Man Loon (Note x) B () 101 - - - - 101
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note v) BRI /M (i 3Ev) 55 — — — — 55

942 4,713 2,000 - 60 1,715
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ — & — =4F = =+ — H IL4FZ

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

10. #5 RATBOARE & (8)

BREFR_HE=A=ZFHILEE

Executive directors AfTHF
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai ROMERAE — 238 — — 4 242
Mr. Wang Xihua (Note ii) EMESE (T — 1,596 — — 18 1,614
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William HEREE

(Note iii) (fff ki) — 847 — — 18 865
Independent non-executive B HAfHEH

directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RIS 240 = = = = 240
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Note ix) S (aEix) 240 — — — — 240
Mr. Leung Man Loon (Note x) PR (Ex) 240 — — — — 240
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note v) BRI /M ( Ev) 45 = = = — 45

765 2,681 — — 40 3,486

Mr. Lam Wai Tong was appointed as executive director and Co-chief executive
officer of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 19 May 2022 respectively. He has
been re-designated as the sole chief executive officer of the Company with
effective from 3 September 2022.

Mr. Wang Xihua has resigned as acting chairman and executive director on 24

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William resigned as executive director of the Company

Mr. Chen Man Lung was appointed as executive director and Co-chief executive
officer of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 19 May 2022 respectively. He has
resigned as executive director and co-chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 1 September 2022 and 3 September 2022 respectively.

Notes:
(i)
(ii)

October 2022.
(iii)

on 1 July 2022.
(iv)
v)

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed and resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 January 2022 and 23 June 2022 respectively.
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EMEER ZF LA — HBEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

Notes: (Continued)

(vi) Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed and resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 14 September 2022 respectively.

(vii) ~ Mr. Liu Ying Shun was appointed as independent non-executive director on 1
July 2022.

(viii)  Ms. Dong Jian Mei was appointed as independent non-executive director on 1
July 2022.

(ix) Mr. Tam Kin Yip retired as independent non-executive director on 1 September
2022.

(x) Mr. Leung Man Loon retired as independent non-executive director on 1
September 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group while the independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no director of the
Company has waived any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

=
i
i

L ()

(viy MHRBER-ZFFEAHANAERT
BARNTBSEMATES - WRF N
A+ A EHE

(i)  BERNEEAER —FFEEA - HEET
Ry B SL IR AT H R o

(viii)  ERER/MER T FEA - HEET
Ry B SL IR AT H R o

(x) EEELAER T FINA - HELE
SERBATES o

(x) RCEELER-FZHFNH - HEHES
SERBATES o

AT 9 0 A
B A S B 05 S BB RIS L S
0 S T A 0 9 B 0 A E A
AEE -

BE-B-SHER B ESH =t
B0k 4R i - A% 4 w3 5 B A0 E AT ol
G o T AR S T TSR 1) 7 o SR
LTI 4 116 25 26 A A B B s A A
e £ % B s 2 0 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ &~ =4F = H =+ — H L&

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 11. Hm|m#H AL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022: two) of RAEZREHF AL Hpmg (ZEFE -
the director whose emoluments is disclosed in note 10. The aggregate AF T 4L) TR B EE 10B%ER o BT
of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three individuals (2022: ZA/N LIS (R =4)
three individuals) are as follows: wr

2023
TR
HK$°000
T
Salaries and other emoluments 4 K HAh 4 2,142 4,086
Discretionary bonuses T 1% A AL 2,500 =
Retirement benefits B R A 18 39
4,660 4,125
The emoluments of individuals other than directors with the highest B A OREHEEE ) (<5 A F 51
emoluments are within the following bands: AR
2023
- Y
Number of
individuals
N
HK$1,000,001 up to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 #5 7T % 1,500,000 %5 G 1 2
HK$1,500,001 up to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 #5 7T % 2,000,000 %5 G
No emoluments have been paid by the Group and the Company to the AR N > AR [ Jo A/ T ARE 0 ) A A W EE S
directors of the Company or the top five highest paid employees as an B 14 B e AR B S AT o] P < A 25 AR
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for A SR A AR A [ Ry 14 8 B s et A £ (—
loss of office during the year (2022: Nil). TR ) .
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 —%F — =4 =H =+ —H IE4 &

2023 2022
TR e S
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T
(Re-presented)
(RE T 3)
Continuing operations FRE R
Current tax BV 3 A5 I
Hong Kong Profits Tax W15 4,611 3,806
Overprovision in respect of prior years 208 A A R A
Hong Kong Profits Tax & s A5 (1,994) —
Deferred tax A JIE B3 I (27) (1,051)
2,590 2,755

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
assessable profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
the assessable profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits
Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both

years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no provision for PRC
EIT has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the

Group has no assessable profits under EIT.

RFEREBLWRS - GEBBEENE
2,000,000 %% 7t B R B it A A% 15 8.25% 4
B - i #E H4 2,000,000 % T 1) E SR T A
12 16.5%#FL

AN ) H RSy > EME A A5 W AR AR v
R EB GG M MEM S AEK - M
IR A J3E 1 7 s R A5 0 A0 1 R AL i ) 1
16.5%% & o

FR4E B A 2 A B ([ SRR )
Je A2 B A5 Bl ik B AAR 9] o T A8 4 B 1 R
18] JBG > 7 Bl R B 25% o

BE B SRR S
B IR AR BE - 1A A s 1 0 20 0 o o
SBT3
73 4 M A ) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # & — % — “H=1+—HIL4E

A At 0 2 W [ ) 0 T A T R s T
W BAT B ARG E

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

A TR B0 SR 33 AT SR 5 4R A B At 4 T i
i 3 T S A A SE B R BRBL BT I A1 (5

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before

taxation from continuing operations per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ) BRI -
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T
(Re-presented)
(REHE3)
Profit/(Loss) before taxation I B i 388 41 (s ) 43,766 (38,494)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of % 16.5% 77 W FI A5 BB R 51 F 1
16.5% BiIH 7,222 (6,352)
Tax effect on income not taxable for tax W ZE AR 1B 5 5 B
purpose (2,401) (6,906)
Tax effect on expenses not deductible for tax N E] B B S B RS R 2
purpose 439 14,483
Tax effect on share of profit of an associate JRE A — e B 4 A ) 22 ki A ) S
2 — (58)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences A< 5d FJ $11 36 B IRF 25 B 19 B 155
not recognised A 45 (38)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised A% e R R JELJls 48 104 B S Y 2 1,356 1,933
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 5 8 1 A il s B T fis 18
recognised (2,167) (34)
Overprovision in respect of prior years AT A R A (1,994) —
Tax effect of tax rates in other jurisdiction HC At 7] 2 A [ 2R 0 B g — (35)
Others oAt 90 (238)
Actual tax expense BB I S 2,590 2,755
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4 &

i £ Advance Rider /% HFft & 2 ]
(#iHi [ Advance Rider % )
MoECAEANA=ZTH AEEFR
] — 4% M 57 55 = 75 1 5 Advance RiderZE [
P A B R RE > AR 4 A1 45 5,000%5 T © 7%
Lo F A NH = H R e

Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Advance Rider Group”)

On 30 August 2022, the Group resolved to dispose of the entire equity
interest of Advance Rider Group to an independent third party for a
total cash consideration of HK$5,000. The transaction was completed
on 30 August 2022.

The net liabilities of Advance Rider Group at the date of disposal and Advance Rider 4 B 18 B W09 & 555

the effect of disposal were as follows: P& RN 2 3 (A
HK$°000
TIT
Consideration: UH -
Cash consideration receivable A e B 4 A1 S
As at
30 August 2022
i St
ANH=1H
HK$°000
T T
Analysis of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries over which 2 25 i R 1Y B A D Y E
control was lost: BT
Property, plant and equipment E SN & 51
Trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits AR M5 R R L At FRE W S T~ TEAST
A B % 4 715
Inventories 78 362
Cash and cash equivalents Bl K B4 5 EH Y 213
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JRE A AR~ At B AR 3 JE e
JE=H 2 A (1,551)
Contract liabilities GRIAMR (95)
Tax payable JRE A 3 JE (31)
Net liabilities disposed of B =R L (336)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HH S A g A m Bl g
Consideration FAE 3
Non-controlling interests T4 R A (122)
Net liabilities disposed of A e 336
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve to RRRER T T e T
profit or loss upon disposal Hi 178
Gain on disposal H B A i 397
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % —“F " =4F=H =+ —H L

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. E#&IEREER (H)
(CONTINUED)
Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries i B Advance Rider % 3 [ & 2 ]
(collectively, “Advance Rider Group”) (Continued) (%M [ Advance Rider#EH |) (49)
The loss for the period from the discontinued e-commerce promotion AR B B A% I SR 1) T 7 R R SRS 1 )
business is set out below: N RS T

Loss for the period HI A 48 (820)
Gain on disposal of Advance Rider Group i} Advance Rider®E [#] 1) Ui 4z 397
(423)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4 &

Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries i £ Advance Rider & 3 [t 8 A =]
(collectively, “Advance Rider Group”) (Continued) (% #% [ Advance Rider%: H |) (%)
The results of Advance Rider Group for the period from 1 April 2022 Advance RiderEE 0 &~ —4FWH —H
to 30 August 2022, which have been included in the consolidated FE_E__HFENA=THYHE LGS
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were as 2 B H At 22 T AR R I FEF AT -
follows:
Period ended Year ended
30 August 2022 31 March 2022
BE B=E
ANH=1H EH=ZF—E
1F A [ 1E 4R B
HK$’000 HK$’000
T TT THsTT
Revenue I %5 138 7,354
Cost of sales 5B AR (132) 2,117)
Gross profit T 6 5,237
Other income, gains or losses HoAd oA~ i AR B 1R 58 (275)
Administrative expenses AT BH 52 (884) (7,965)
Reversal of impairment loss under ECL model TG Sl R DL IR
and trade and other receivables B JEC At JRE AT T ) Bl (s 1
| = 531
Impairment loss on intangible assets I 7 2 W E e R — (676)
Loss from operations ftd =] (820) (3,148)
Finance costs Rl AR — (2)
Loss before taxation I i T O 482 (820) (3,150)
Taxation BiIH — 14
Loss for the period A s 4R (820) (3,136)

Loss for the period from discontinued operations 2I¢ [ £ #& 11 #8725 2575 1) HH N 5 48

includes the following: (TR

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments): B THRA (RFEE M) -

— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — I~ R R H At 48 A 315 3,526
— Retirement benefits — BRAEF 11 152

326 3,678
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ &~ =4F = H =+ — H L&

14. DIVIDENDS 14. kB
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the REE - Z - =F R - F = H
Company during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, nor has any b H R4 o A AR A ] A A
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting periods. REATS A > 3R R DR IR

AT TS

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 15. BBRERM (E#R)
From continuing operations KRB R
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the AN TR N HEAL & B SEAR R, (F518)
owners of the Company is based on the following data: TIARHE LA T BEEF O -

2023
ZRIES
HK$’000

T

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the ] jA 5| 545 KA & F1]

Company for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) (EE18) AN Bl HEA \RE
per share {54 Ry P O 480 41,036 (43.888)

Less: loss for the year from discontinued operations o NE IR G- 32 3i0]
£ N Jis 1 260 2,509

Profit/(loss) for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss) F A EH AR | R A RS
per share from continuing operations HAE AT (ER)
i 1, (i 4R) 41,296 (41,379)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the  Fjjd 5t & 4 LA & F]
purpose of basic earnings/(loss) per share (BS54 143 38 [ o A S

8 3,107,893 2,876,925
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 —%F — =4 =H =+ —H IE4 &

From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

KRR S BRI R SR
A0 m A AN REAG B IRE A LA (548
TR UL T B Rt
2023 2022
ot =3 o St
HK$°000 HKS$"000
T#T T

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the  Ji it 518 & B A8 21 A1l

Company for the purpose of basic earnings/(loss)

(E51R) AN " HEA e
per share T 4E R A (5 18)

41,036 (43,888)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for basic

earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations.

From Discontinued Operations

For the year ended 31 March 2023, basic loss per share for the
discontinued operations is HK0.01 cents per share (2022: basic loss per
share for the discontinued operation is HK0.09 cents per share), based
on the loss for the period from the discontinued operations of
approximately HK$260,000 (2022: loss for the period of approximately
HK$2,509,000) and the denominators used is the same as those detailed

above for basic earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the computation of diluted earnings
per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s options
because the exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price per share. All the Company’s convertible bonds have been
redeemed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume (1) the conversion of the Company’s convertible
bonds since their exercise and conversion would result in a decrease in
loss per share from continuing operations; and (2) the exercise of the
Company’s options because the exercise price of those options was

higher than the average market price for shares.

T P 4 £ B b SC BRI 5 AU SE
R AR B RO 48) BT o At (9 2> B A
]

RKECKIEESER
BEE=F=H=1+—HILFF
%Eﬂmmﬁﬁﬁzﬁmﬁﬁ%%wm%
J6 (% T AR - N JE 18 492,509,000
J0) FHE > BRI E T 2 B A
HAER.0LMAl (—F =4 ER& A
S 2 A LA 48 2 A 20,09 #5411
T BT o0 B BEL G 03 1 SOt ol B R f A s 2
2 AR B R UG 8) BT B 4 B AR
[ﬁ]o

BE_LZ - =F=H=T—HIEFEE > &
S IR A T 0 ) ST AR AT e A A ) I A
ME > TR 2 o2 55 s FBE MEE 10 47 ol A v A 43 i T
¥ - E_F__F=A=+—HIk
ERE S BT AN B R R AR 2 ] -

WE_F__HF=A=+—HILFE 5
TR A e 1RSI0 B (1) A 2 W] Y
AT AR S5 > BE Y ph R AT o B B % 5 AR
Fr A RO A5 A A S 1) PR 4R
D5 B (AT AL 7 B BOHE - 0T i it
7% S5 I T RE RO AT O 05 i R B B P-4 Tl 3
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Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the relevant payroll costs, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the

retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 205 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =% — =4 = H =+ —H IL4F &

R BB OIR It 8

AL AR 7 08 O o R A R w4 2
75 Y M A A0 ) £ s 1 A2 B ) 2 5 A%
1§ B 20— R e A Rt 8 (a4
) o wh B A0 SR B I Y E ) B
R > FRiOn Z R N B2 4 - R TR
A r# o E KR B A B SR E T
A A0 5% 1w+ B AR - w5 AR B
A 430,000 7T

A AT FR B 1 B R 2 R A B 3 2 B
IR R % 7. 4 I 2 R P A A w8 o %
S5 B JB 2 ) ZE % 387 4B B KRE T 40 L 1) 2R
AR AT BB LL ST AT AR A o A S [ 38 %
AR AR At B A ME— BAT 5 A H BUE I 41

&/,
wA ©

2023
HK$°000
T# oo

At fair value A FAET IR
At the beginning of the year R A —
Acquisition through acquisition of a subsidiary 9275 e ST — D T g > ) WA B 125,000
Fair value change ANPESEH) 11,900
At the end of the year AR 136,900

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 31 March 2023
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date
by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified

professional valuer, who is not connected to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

In determining the fair value of the property, the directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements. The Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of
the property is its current use.

TE i 72 W) I NP RLIRF - AR Bl 3 28 18 0
O3V (R R P 9 Al Al S o A Bk
A AR T W 5 = 05 & M A (R AT A
{6 o Ay R #2 BL 5 AR S R A (E AR
A o LU RE T Al 85 il S A A iy A
g o

A ZE I (I > W) 2E 00 B B dix
R 2 7 L E T 9

Valuation technique(s) Significant unobservable
and key input(s) input(s)

METEREE2Y  EXATEEZY

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

A BES2 YA
A1) B 1R

Sensitivity

YRE

Investment property in Hong Kong

WGz REmE

— Commercial premise, under
medium term lease, located at
No. 127 Kweilin Street,
Kowloon

2023: HK$136,900,000

Income Capitalisation
Approach

Capitalisation rate, taking into
account the capitalisation of
rental income potential, and

The key inputs are: prevailing market condition,

(1) Capitalisation rate; of which ranged from 3% to

and 4%

(2) Monthly market rent Monthly market rent per square

foot, taking into account the

location frontage, size, which
ranged from HK$24 to

HK$326

— Az BRI E WA BEAR AL Kt REAHEWAED R

(fi A FURERE AT 12755) BRI BRI RE A
TF TEE 1136,900,000% 7T FEZH T-3% 4% %

() BARLER: K BTFHREANE GHRAE -

Q) BAHE Bl > mAE) A4 LR

32670

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair
value

The higher the monthly
market rent, the higher the
fair value

EAf A N (E
&

BAMEHE > ~FEES

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate used
would result in a
significant decrease in
fair value of the
property, and vice versa

A significant increase in the
monthly market rent
used would result in a
significant increase in
fair value of the
property, and vice versa

FIr 8% AL R BT
LSRRI
WP RZIMR

FIr 4 1 1 AEL R R 3 T
HOREEN A TEE
YN R o) i

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment property has not been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. In April
2023, the Group’s investment property has been pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.

NVEF RIS/ E =R T EER -

MEFZ=F=A=1—H  AEEH
) 2 1 R R AT AR AR T A A I A SRAT
M RFZAFMA  AEBNEE
)3 © KRS B AR U T A 482 BB 1) SR AT il
% o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %5 —

188

FECEHEEAETHIEFEE

Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold  Plant and fixtures and Motor
and buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HE LR R KE
M HEHRE MR L Bt YH st
HKS$°000 HK$’000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$000
T T T T T T
Cost ﬁ,ui
At 1 April 2021 SR AR 87,764 9,598 4,704 6,096 2,199 110,361
Additions ff? B — — — 8 — 8
Disposals & = — — (26) (140) (166)
Exchange adjustment E 5.5 % — — — 1 — 1
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 REFZZHE=ZA=Z+—-HE
SERZCENA-HA 87,764 9,598 4,704 6,079 2,059 110,204
Additions RE — 226 1,520 150 — 1,896
Disposals & = (54) = — (756) (810)
Disposal of subsidiaries B A ) — — — (149) — (149)
Exchange adjustment & 54, 9 % — — — ) — )
At 31 March 2023 MEZZ=ZE=A=1—H 87,764 9,770 6,224 6,078 1,303 111,139
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 297 K W {5 18
losses
At 1 April 2021 SE--HNA-HA 16,106 8,479 4,027 5,433 1,578 35,623
Charge for the year *r N3 2,793 418 437 318 239 4,205
Written back on disposals 5 IR 13 [ — — (24) (51) (75)
Exchange adjustments E 5. — — — 1 — 1
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 REFZZHFEA=F—HR
SR CENA-H 18,899 8,897 4,464 5,728 1,766 39,754
Charge for the year R 2,793 291 351 197 152 3,784
Written back on disposals 5 IR 43 [ — (31) — (669) (700)
Written back on disposals of subsidiaries 5 B 2 ) I A = — — 98) — (93)
Exchange adjustments i 54, 7 — — — ) — )
At 31 March 2023 S =E=A=1—H 21,692 9,157 4815 5,825 1,249 42,738
Carrying amount e 1
At 31 March 2023 R-ZFZ=ZF=A=+—H 66,072 613 1,409 253 54 68,401
At 31 March 2022 N F - HE=A=+—H 68,865 701 240 351 293 70,450
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into

account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at

the following rates per annum:
Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Over the shorter of the term of
lease, or 50 years

Over the shorter of the term of
lease, or 3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and
buildings held for own use with carrying amount of approximately
HK$66,072,000 (2022: HK$68,865,000) to banks to secure banking

facilities granted to the Group.

Aty 2 - MR R E B (R R R AE
E4%) A H A LTS - BT T g 4R %
T

R b Jr pE H & #1550 4F

(DA S 3 1y e
THEHRAE T B k3 & 54
(DA S 2 1y 1)
7 R # 3ESHE
FHE - B R 3FSHE
IR 3ESLE

MRoE=ZHE=ZH=Z+—H > AEHDIHK
R FEAE B A AR 1 {E 49 £ 66,072,000 TG
(T = T4 168,865,000 o) 1Y L& £
S AE T T ERAT o A B A SE BB RR R AT Al
T A o

Leased
properties
LINEE/ES
HK$’000
T T
As at 31 March 2023 WoR=E=ZHA=1—H
Carrying amount MR (E 6,722
As at 31 March 2022 Ro-FZZE=H=+—H
Carrying amount I T (B 2,403
For the year ended 31 March 2023 REZRC=EF=A=1—HIERE
Depreciation charge P B 3 2,450
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BRER_HE=EA=1+—HILEE
Depreciation charge P B 3 2,392
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F

190

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

2023 2022

TR - S

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#0 TH#TT

Expense relating to short-leases 5 HAFE B B S 82 58
Total cash outflow of leases 4 E A 2,772 2,609
Addition to right-of-use assets B 6,770 1,916

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses, office
equipment and carparks for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various offices.
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term

lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,768,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$6,722,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: lease liabilities of
HK$2,579,000 and related right-of-use assets of HK$2,403,000). The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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fegt 7 RELIU) K% R A AS T SR 390 ] R BE IR > AR
B F8 7] 5 400 10 2 T o T LT B AU Y
HT]

A5 B 5 AT S A5 e S R T AR AR IR - TR
“ECEHERFC_HEEA=+—H>
S SRR S AL BEL L S 48 R ) 0 U A 1 B
SR R R 5 AR AL S AR R A -

L Bl sl 5t

WA s REFEZ=F A= —H o #ER
B £ 5 46,768,000%5 7T - A [ 4 i 7 &
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5 252,579,000 5 70 S A BH (5 1 4 0 2 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

Product Sales
Club development Brand distribution  Customer  Computer
membership rights name channel relationship software Total
B0 8

REMEGH EREEE  RRAE FE O OEFBR ERKE it
HK$'000  HKS$000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T T T#x  THx  T#x  T#x  T#x

Cost %N
At 1 April 2021, i S
31 March 2022 and WH—H -
1 April 2022 - S
SHE+—HE
SECCF
lAH—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 2,758 — 18,697
Additions WE — — — — — 5,500 5,500
At 31 March 2023 RoBZ=4
ZA=1+—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 2,758 5,500 24,197

Accumulated amortisation and 25t 8 K WA G 4

impairment losses

At 1 April 2021 e
lWA—H — 962 3,888 3,661 1,806 — 10,317
Charge for the year AR — 28 493 465 277 — 1,263
Impairment W = = 2,179 2,053 675 = 4,907
At 31 March 2022 and e S
1 April 2022 A=Ak
ZEZTENA
—H — 990 6,560 6,179 2,758 — 16,487
Charge for the year R — 10 — — — 275 285
At 31 March 2023 REFEAE
=A=1+—H - 1,000 6,560 6,179 2,758 275 16,772
Carrying amount JiR i £
At 31 March 2023 RoEZ=E
=A=+—H 2,200 = — — — 5,025 7,425
At 31 March 2022 R F T A
=H=1—H 2,200 10 = = = — 2,210
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ &~ =4F = H =+ — H L&

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. 1B & R ()
At the end of the reporting period, the above intangible assets other TR AR BRARSLER e RS - bk iR
than club membership have definite useful lives. Such intangible assets K 4 [ E AR - A B ST E LA
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following period: T A A DA AR O AR
Products development rights 7 years FE it B B TE
Brand name 5 years i WL 42 il 54
Sales distribution channel 5 years BH o) G IR 54
Customer relationship 5 years % F BR 54
Computer software 5 years A 54
21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21, — [l WG 4= 4 ) ) B
2023
RO
HK$°000
T 0
Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted ¥ i — I 2 20 B 19 A > 9 BT — 66,687
Share of post-acquisition profits IR A i B 1% Vi A — 349
— 67,036
Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are TG HIR > A [ 2 B A A FEB AR
as follows:

Aggressive Resources Limited The British Virgin Hong Kong — 43.05% Investment holding (with its
(“Aggressive Resources”) Islands (the “BVI”) subsidiary engaged in
sourcing, manufacturing,
designing, packaging,
wholesaling and trading
of health supplement

products)
B JH LR i — 43.05%  BEE B CHOB I 2 74
(E3 75330 HPRE - R W
(TR %1 9 = =g 3
JEE fifr)
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Aggressive Resources

On 12 August 2021, Super Winner Enterprises Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third party pursuant
to which the Group acquired 43.05% equity interest in Aggressive
Resources, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability, at
a consideration of approximately HK$66,687,000 settled by issuing
512,982,240 shares of the Company at HK$0.13 per share. The Group
is given the right to appoint two out of five directors on the board of
Aggressive Resources. Therefore, upon completion of the Agreement,
the Group has significant influence on Aggressive Resources and the

investment is accounted for as an associate.

Aggressive Resources and its wholly-owned subsidiary, which is
incorporated in Hong Kong, are principally engaged in sourcing,
manufacturing, designing, packaging, wholesaling and trading of health
supplement products in Hong Kong. The Group is actively sourcing
other channels to sell its products in order to diversify the risk of
reliance on the existing retail chains. The management once expects to
open up new sales channels and new markets for selling its existing
health products through business cooperation with Aggressive
Resources, and considered the acquisition would be a new driving force
to the revenue of the Group, which together with the time and
resources saved for building new distribution channels, shall outweigh
the cost of the acquisition. The transaction was completed on 31
August 2021.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the consideration was settled by issuing
512,982,240 shares of the Company at HK$0.13 per share upon
completion on 31 August 2021. The share price of the Company on 31
August 2021 was HK$0.238. Hence, there was a loss incurred by the
Group to acquire for Aggressive Resources upon completion of the
Agreement. The Group has recognised loss on acquisition of the
associate of approximately HK$55,402,000 as at the acquisition date
measured at the excess of share price as at completion date (i.e. fair
value of the consideration transferred) over the fair value of the interest

in an associate acquired.

Aggressive Resources

REFZ—HENAA+TZH > AARMEE
Fff i 2\ ®] Super Winner Enterprises Limited
SELAB N7 5 =y 0 ET B 6 Wk (R T
1) o B AL [ Aggressive
Resources (74 5% Ji J& % B B 5 M S 19 A
BRZN 7)) 43.05% 9 B AHE - F DL 4 20,13 7
TLEET512,982,240 B e A i 77 AR > #%
45 B 1 A0 49 44 66,687,000 7T o A< 4E [
H HEJX Aggressive Resources # H & Z3 (T fi
LB PRI RL o R ek e AR > A
[ %t Aggressive ResourcesH A & K 5 %
03 > T ZBEAE R EAE R W E A R E

23 -

Aggressive Resources & it 7 #5 5k filt it 57
Y 4 B /A ) S A A AR R M
B BRI~ G - BT L MEERE
Gy o A% B2 1B AE A bk 5 oK HC At 2R 2 8 4 HL
at > LA HICR TR AR RE B A 2 A A B BT A
AR B oo B O AC TE M A i B
Aggressive Resources 1215 & 1E 7T LA BH 46
T I 6 B SR RO T > AR DA B LB
IR R o NI R A A I A A 4 [
WO (8 By g > o 8 ST 4 B R T
D IR [T U5 - A 41K ST 5 20 2% o i
Ao RGBT E T AEANAZF—HE
J o

Wy IVEUR = F . —F A H
=1+ —H % &S R0.134 T 517
512,982,240 A</ & 43 1 J7 K AS o A
NHER ZFE - —FENH =+ —HWE S
0.238 570 ° It - A4 B TE 58 a4 h e 15
Wi i Aggressive Resources 1Ml 2 A B 48 o
A% B2 [ A i i B R G R 2 D Y T
5 4755,402,000%5 JC - 4% 5 A% H 1 19 B AE
(B oy st AR 1) 2 SP-(ED) R M T oA g —
A s FHE i 0 8 ST (B 3B 4 RO
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Aggressive Resources (Continued)

During the year, the Group disposed of the interest in Aggressive
Resources to an independent third party for a total cash consideration
of HK$66,000,000. A loss on disposal of approximately HK$1,042,000
has been recognised during the year. The cash consideration has been
settled.

Summarised financial information of the associate
Summarised financial information of the associate and their summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Aggressive Resources

Aggressive Resources (#)

R A E 4B =
Aggressive Resources Y HE # > B 4 U8 42
#H /%66,000,0007 TG < 4F A C e 58 i 6
1H#71,042,0003 7C » Bl AUE O AEAE AT -

i 2 ) 2 0 R B

I A B B BRI SIS o LR
Bt T A 0 S AR B 4
A L0 T 5 ) B R T2 1 2 8

Aggressive Resources

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$000

T#0 THIT

Non-current assets I Ui B E N/AA7E 451

Current assets it B & N/A % H 13,444

Current liabilities e N=RT N/A AT i 1,691

Revenue Wi 4 1,310 10,712

Profit and total comprehensive income AT i ) B A T UL g AR

for the year 13 810
Group’s share of profit of an associate AN AJE [ A T R A A A D 2 s )

for the year 6 349
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(Continued)

Aggressive Resources (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

Aggressive Resources (#2)
bl B S R B B R R R Y
e 7 ) 14 R T (L1 3 R

BOAEZ BRI ()

Summarised financial information of the associate T 28

2023 2022

TR EE TR

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#C T C

Net assets of Aggressive Resources Aggressive Resources 2 & & #{H 12,204
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in AL HJA Aggressive Resources Z

Aggressive Resources FT 4 RE £ L) N/AATE H 43.05%

5,254

Other adjustments (note) HoAth 5 (B 5E) N/AA 61,782
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AL H A Aggressive Resources Z

Aggressive Resources HE £ 2 H TH {EL N/AATE 67,036

Note: Other adjustments represent intangible assets, goodwill and related taxes arose BibaE - HCAhFE R4 U Aggressive Resources A= M
from the acquisition of Aggressive Resources. TE &R - P A BABLIE -

2023 2022

TR COEZH TR T

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#0 TIT

Raw materials JE M R} 20,030 14,701

Finished goods R 3,787 5,134

23,817 19,835
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23, FE WOk K 3L i R Wik I > TR
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS foF ok JH % % 4
2023
HK$°000
T#0
Trade receivables JRE Wit iRk 41,433 8,007
Less: Allowance for credit losses W AE B R (1,433) (828)
40,000 7,179
Other receivables HCAth, R Wi 3K TE 2,528 2,302
Prepayments (note) FEAS FIH (B 5E) 27,684 31,379
Utility, trade and other deposits KB E 5 M A 4 11,327 7,385
Right-of-return assets B E 169 170
Less: Allowance for credit losses W 5 B T (10) (1,004)
81,698 47,411
2023
TR
HK$°000
T#x
Analysis of trade and other receivables: JHRE AT SR T e At o K B3 A
mr
Non-current portion FE BJVHA 5 44y 22,918 26,691
Current portion R 58 y 58,780 20,720
81,698 47,411
Note: The amount mainly prepaid to the independent IT services providers for Bt R w% K OE T AT T S TR B AR s ik e
developing customised operating systems for the Group. During the year, the T DA B A 4 B B BE E I I ME RS - N
customised point of sales system and instant sales report system were TR > R B B B A A K B AN B A R S
completed and implemented, the relevant costs of HK$5,500,000 were 4858 B % BT e » A B AL AR 5,500,000 7 TG
recognised as intangible assets and amortised to profit and loss over five PR G A R BAE NS TR o
years.
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As at 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balances are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,621,000 (2022: HK$3,997,000) which are past due. Out of the
past due balances, approximately HK$125,000 (2022: HK$322,000) has
been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default due
to long-term/on-going relationship, good repayment record and

continuous repayment from these customers.

As at 31 March 2023, included in trade receivables of nil (2022:

HK$499,000) as due from an associate of the Group.

The Group generally allows credit period ranging from O to 90 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of

allowance for credit losses) based on the date of revenue recognition.

MoEZEZH = —H o REE R
HIR A B 60 45 A0 IR T (B 49 5,621,000 %5 7T /Y
JRE WSO B (=% — 4 : 3,997,0004% 7T >
J§ € 1A o a5 R P #9125,000% J0
(& 4F 322,000 70) B A0 H 5%
Dh R EEL > R AZERF NBIF
3w R RO R SO R AR -

NoECEZE=H=4—H o W AR
W BR R (% . 4F £ 499,000 % 5T) A HE I
A4 (8] — ] W 2 ) ) R I o

A — AL FF A 02290 H A5 2] -

AR 7% REWSCHR AR (R A5 S0 1R 13 770
Wi 4 AR H 0 B BR S 0 AT o

2023 2022

HK$°000 HKS$’000

T T# T

0-30 days 0Z30H 34,379 3,182
31-60 days 31260H 5,491 3,675
61-90 days 61290 H 5 —
91-180 days 91F180H 8 56
181-365 days 181%2365H 5 28
Over 365 days 365 H 112 238
40,000 7,179

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set

out in note 38(b).

JE AT AR % A B WA I L A A7

B B FE38(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F

198

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

As at 31 March 2021, the promissory note receivable represented the
Group’s consideration receivables in relation to the disposal of the
entire equity interest in Empire Access Limited (“Empire Access”)
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and the disposal of IAHGames
Hong Kong Limited during the year ended 31 March 2021. As at
31 March 2021, the directors of the Company considered that the
promissory note receivable in relation to the disposal of Empire Access
had been defaulted and there was no realistic prospect of recovery,
hence, full impairment of HK$41,408,000 was recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2021. The Company subsequently agreed with the
acquirer to further extend the repayment by instalments and the acquirer
has settled HK$4,000,000 in accordance with the revised repayment
plan during the six months ended 30 September 2021, hence, a reversal
of impairment loss of HK$4,000,000 is recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2022. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Company has entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a
purchaser, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
and is owned by a business relations consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company and his son, pursuant to which the purchaser agreed to
purchase the promissory note receivable in relation to the disposal of
Empire Access at a consideration equals to the fair value of the
promissory note receivable as shown on the valuation report of
HK$25,000,000. The amount of HK$25,000,000 has been received
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents represent bank balances and cash on hand
and bank overdrafts. Bank balance and bank overdrafts carry interest at

prevailing market rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in note

38(b).
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Mo —E=ZH =+ —H > BEUR 2
BREAREFMEHEE - F T4 =
=—H [L 4 1% Empire Access Limited
(TEmpire Access ) 2 HBRAEDL A2 —
F_—H#=ZA=Z+—HILEEHE
IAHGames Hong Kong Limited ¥ &/t
e —F_—F=A=1—H  AAH
HE R 52 5 B B Empire Access A Bi HY UK
TR 0 SRR B i R B B R AT AR [
Hith - e —F2 _—F=]=+—H
1 4% il 58 75 BO(E 41,408,000 7T © A
7 ) I 458 B B 7 () 8 4 A O O K
Higk e s - —4 LA =1H
1R 7S H AR 8 SR AE 5T Y 22 3R 3 45 A
4,000,000% 70 » IR ERE —F = A=
H = — Lk A B e 38 8 e 18 48 A
4,000,000% 76 - M E —_F " 4F =H
=4 — B IR > A BE T (— H7R
B v 5 MO B A BRA R > AR A ) B
N F) I — 45 SEH BR AR BT R L R )
CIA=E-3T T 3 A=W G b-y YN
£ Empire Access [ 1 MEWOR 58 5208 > AR
S A (B R T 7 IR AR 0, S4B 1 A T
{#25,000,000% It ° 25,000,000 % It 7 JE E
WEE FE - FE=H =+ —HILEFIK
# o

Bl KRBl eS EY IR M7 R T blE
LSRATIE S « SRATHG B LT IE L AT
WG %G5S -

SRAT 45 R A R (E R A 155 30 B 5E38(b) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 26. WEfFMEzk ~ ot i F 5% 08 & g

ACCRUALS at #H
2023
RO =E
HK$°000
T#0
Trade payables JEAT iR K 3,040 5,614
Salary and welfare payables JREASS 387 <6 % A A 13,957 5,609
Accrued advertising expenses JRE 5t B 2 B S 1,802 1,835
Other payables and accruals A AT 3 T B M ¢ 5,019 5,144
Interest payable on bank and other borrowings  JE f §R47 K HoAth £ 3K F 5. 654 1,617
Receipt in advance for leasing of an FH B HE W 2 1 T R I
investment property 130 —
24,602 19,819
The credit period on trade payable is ranging from O to 90 days. AT B SR A5 BT 0% 90 H »
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice DATR 2 ME AT RRKRE A B 2 301 9 R 43 #T -
date.

2023

T =t

HK$°000

Tt
0-30 days 0%30H 1,525 1,591
31-60 days 31%60H 548 1,347
61-90 days 61590 H 134 1,007
91-180 days 915180 H 496 1,326
181-365 days 1814365 H 20 5
Over 365 days 365 H 317 338
3,040 5,614
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # & — % — “H=1+—HIL4E
2023 2022
TR e S
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
Advances received from customers: [a] 5 7 YR AT 30 -

Health and beauty supplements and products R i % 5% 75 40 i B i SE
business 84 160
E-commerce promotion business TR S R SRS — 95
84 255

200

Revenue recognised during the current year included the whole amount
of contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period amounted
to approximately HK$126,000 (2022: HK$407,000).

The contract liabilities were expected to be recognised as revenue in the
next 12 months. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contract which has an original expected

duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

The amounts due to non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The amounts due to a shareholder are unsecured, bearing Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate of Bank of China minus 2% per annum. The amount
of HK$44,000,000 is repayable within 3 months and has been repaid

subsequently, the remaining amount is repayable on demand.

The shareholder also is an executive director of the Company during

the year.
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A 7S A JBE e w1 i i B 3 A A T B 40
EE I A A #E 40126,00048 T (&
4E 1 407,000% 7T)

A H BB TE IS R A 1218 F KRR A Uk
Fit o U v A A5 i ME B 56 1S R T AT

43 LT D TR AR A 4 — S B A R B R B
BRI 28 T B A SN A4 R o

JREASF I 422 B R £ A I 2 SR - S B % S
1] 7 75 SR IR o

JEE AT — 42 P SR TR o AR 5 i P B R AT
W or I B E M R WY E2%E B e
44,000,000 70 ZE 174 34 H A5 2230 £ i B9
AR > HERE I BR R -

JBCHRIR oy A 8 A AR R I AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. $RAT B H At Af K

2023

HK$°000

T
Bank borrowings, secured: SRATAE K > A - 61,737 71,993
61,737 71,993

Other borrowings: H AT

Unsecured notes (note (b)) AP 2L 0E (B 5T (b)) 18,000 28,000
18,000 28,000
79,737 99,993
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —~F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik

2023 2022
TR e S
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
The carrying amounts of the bank SR AT A sk A HUR e L 27 DL 3
borrowings are repayable: R -
Within 1 year — 4R - —
The carrying amounts of the bank AP 0 B R A 2R AR R 1 SR AT A K
borrowings that contain a repayment on MR A (R REAET
demand clause (shown under current 25) » DT W AE R -
liabilities) repayable:
Within 1 year —4ERN 8,929 10,122
More than one year, but not exceeding A —AF > {H AN R 2 AR
two years 8,019 8,777
More than two years, but not exceeding AR T AT (ELAS 8 it AR
five years 21,754 23,844
More than five years R AR 23,035 29,250
61,737 71,993
The carrying amounts of the other A A8 3K ¥ R TR L 2B AT B9 T
borrowings are repayable: R -
Within 1 year —4ER 18,000 28,000
18,000 28,000
79,737 99,993
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under ¥ : Jit 8 & fif T /8 — 4% (A 2| #1119
current liabilities Ex (79,737) (99,993)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities I it By A P s — —
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

7 4= HE EL =
30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. SRAT B H At G sk (47)
Al m Al
(CONTINUED)
Notes: [t -
(a) The exposure of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are as follows: (a) A B2 ] 1) SRAT B H A i R R B A R
2023
HK$°000
Tt
Fixed-rate borrowings [ 7 ) A 3K 18,000 28,000
Variable-rate borrowings A 5 ) R A 3K 61,737 71,993
79,737 99,993
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at MREF == =+—H » ALK
4.68% (2022: 3.32%). IR 3 F54.68 (% . 4F £ 3.32) 5HAE o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contractual A 8 0 B R R % (IR R 6 4012356
interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows: FEWMT
2023
TRTSAE
Effective interest rate: BRI
Fixed-rate borrowings I8 7€ Fll F A 2K 6.07% 7.54%
Variable-rate borrowings n] 5 | S A5 K 4.68% 3.32%
(b) As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unsecured notes with an aggregate amount (b) MEoEZ=FZH =4 —H > AEESEA
of HK$18,000,000 (2022: HK$28,000,000) carry coupon rates at 3% (2022: {F18,000,000% 7T (— % — —4F : 28,000,000
from 5% to 10%) and repayable within one year (2022: repayable within one W 0) MRS R R UL R B39 (R =
to two years). 5% E10%) w5 T ZH Y — 4R N A R

(TR N — B WAERAR) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —~F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik

2023 2022
TR R FE
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T 0
Lease liabilities payable: JRE A AR B £ 1 -
Within one year — N 2,692 2,371
Within a period of more than one year but not /£ #—4F A b » H A K 7 1 4F
more than two years 2,446 208
Within a period of more than two years but not £ HI W 4F DA I » {HAS B8 4 i 4F:
more than five years 1,630
6,768 2,579
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months ¥ : 8 & & Fr7s it -+ 8 H A £
shown under current liabilities HA4h B 2 BIE (2,692) (2,371)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months I Uit By A s A A A% F
shown under non-current liabilities A4k 2 I 4,076 208
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from i T = R DR L R
3.27% to 5.72% (2022: 3.27% to 5.72%). 327%FES5.72% (ZF " : 3271% %

5.72%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

32. REFUND LIABILITIES 32. B AH
2023
TR
HK$°000
T
Refund liabilities HEE SRR
Arising from right of return PR3 R /2 AR 1,274 1,395
The refund liabilities represents the Group’s right to recover products AR R R AR R AR % 5 AT R B RE R 1)
from customers where customers exercise their right of return. The 5 IR HORER o A AR [ MR H B A
Group uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the number O JE SR A B (8 R FE M (E s A R HAL G B T
of returns on a portfolio level using the expected value method. At the HAR &R o R EHE R > BTG iR F Y
point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to T ooty R AR A B A R A 4 R

revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned.

33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33. R %k B IH £
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the years ended 31 BREBEARERMRE - F__F K%
March 2022 and 2021 are as follows: T EH =T HIREEW BT

At 1 April 2021 B —FIMH—H 87 1,013 1,100
Credited to profit or loss FrAE (52) (1,013) (1,065)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 S

“H=1T—HXK

X FMA—H 35 — 35
Credited to profit or loss srAHE R (30) — (30)
At 31 March 2023 e

=H=+—H 5 = 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —~F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik

206

At 31 March 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$54,699,000
(2022: HK$60,534,000) available to offset against future profits. No
deferred tax has been recognized due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2023
are tax losses of approximately HK$4,048,000 (2022: HK$3,764,000)
that will expire within 5 years from the year of originating. Other tax

losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
difference from continuing operations of HK$11,924,000 (2022:
HK$12,076,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the deductible temporary difference from continuing operations of
HK$11,924,000 (2022: HK$12,076,000) as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences can be utilised.
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RoECEEEAS—H s AEFREGR
B JH B 75 5 18.54,699,0009 70 (& =
4F 160,534,000 JT) AT F AE HE 8 oK 2 i
I o phy A 48 1% Y U A AR i A B Y o T 4
ERRIRERIIE - R B =4F=H =+—
H > o fle sl B S s 48 15 1 A 2 A 4 B e
T AR P JiE T A B S J HE 40 4,048,000 95 G
(TR 4 203,764,0009 70) o HiA B E
Y £ T 40 R A 4 i o

R IR - AR AR 1 R AR AR 2R Y
A A1 95 I 25 RE A5 11,924,0009 90 (&
AR 12,076,000 0G0) o B AT REA
JRE SRR i A DA G B T i R 2R A 0 K
S FE R AR B R A A S 1Y AT 0 T R 25
#11,924,000 70 (& 4 1 12,076,000
5 ) R AR SiE B TE R E o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

Nominal value Number Share
per share of shares capital
A IR 1T ey 8 H A
HK$ HK$°000
P T
Authorised: I
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, MEEZ—4ENH—H -
and 31 March 2023 2
—E_=#£=H=+—H 0.0025 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: C#ETRBE -
At 1 April 2021 A E——4EH—H 0.0025  2.564.911,200 6,413
Shares issued upon exercise of share options under AR5 S 5 ) A IR AR A e
the share option scheme (note i) AT Z ey (B 5Ei) 0.0025 30,000,000 75
Shares issued upon acquisition of an associate AT Bl — T 5 A WA B AT 2 TR
(note 21) (KH3E21) 0.0025 512,982,240 1,282
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 Mo —E=H=+—H -
and 31 March 2023 CECHENA—H R
ZEC S =H=1—H 0.0025 3,107,893,440 7,770
Notes: B 5E
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2022, share options were exercised to subscribe (i) BEZFEFEEA =T HIREE S 4T

for 30,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a consideration of
HK$6,000,000, of which 75,000 was credited to share capital and the balance
of HK$7,087,000 was credited to the share premium. HK$1,162,000 has been
transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ J5) f BR 2 &)

I T LA 5 B AR /A 1 30,000,000 15 ¥ 28 i
45 £6,000,000%5 7C > H 175,000 TG A
RS > 17 7,087,000% 7 19 45 ik Bl 51 AR 4> i
18 © 1,162,000 75 7 £ 78 B F R foti A T 07

i -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % & .

208

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

2023 2022
TR R
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#L T
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of [ #T#{H R AE 45 & W%
property, plant and equipment contracted for but TR Y B 2 R I
not provided in the consolidated financial R A B B AR S
statements 2,377 =

The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s

assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

A B2 ) 9 i 3K el A 4 AN O A RE AR AR
o MBS ERIREENT

2023 2022
- = o N -
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
B 5 F#L T
Property, plant and equipment W~ R s
— Leasehold land and buildings — FHE L 18 66,072 68,865

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The
capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 30 and 31, respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, accumulated losses and other

reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the management considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well

as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@

(b)

o 7 A 20 A T

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4 &

Categories of financial instruments (a) SR THSH
2023 2022
HKS$’000 HK$’000
F#T RR P
Financial assets 4 A B
Financial assets at amortised cost P4 B8 AR 5 2 4 A 66,953 51,138
Financial liabilities &b AR
Amortised cost 61 AR A 165,676 127,815
Lease liabilities NS 6,768 2,579
Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) FAF B4 B H AR S BUR

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables,
other payables, bank and other borrowings, refund liabilities,
amount due to non-controlling interests and lease liabilities.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
in a timely and effective manner. The policies on how to

mitigate these risks are set out below.

Market risk
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk

during the year.

(1) Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases and bank balances which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. They are mainly
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entity making the sale or purchases,
i.e. USD or RMB.

A SR ) T 2 4 T HL LA R OIR
AR A WCGRIE -~ e e R
BEFEY - AR KAl
ANIH ~ SRAT BCH A £ B KA
R BB JF F5E i A SOH L B
0 o Sl L 2 B9 7 A el S R
77 o BHLE% % 4 R T EL AT B Y R R
1% T 35 R By (B WL B B A A
B) - 15 R RS R B 4 B o
8 A PR T B PR S 45 R B o DA R
T 6 A 280 M bR BOR 8 4 0t o % D
7% S5 JEL B T 3 9 15 W 0 AR o

17 53} B
A A A AR T AT B 4 i 3% JEL By B R A
18 Tt w2 L )y 2Nl AR ) o

i B
/AR i) VAR SR
B RARATHE R - A AR
i e g o HL T DUEEAT
B 114 4 [ BT RO Th AR 2 W LA
M S B E TR AR
H o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =% — =4 = H =+ —H IL4F &

210

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B A L R R BOR ()
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 77 53 i ()
(i) Currency risk (Continued) i) EEEEE )

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

AR [ DA SRS S HE R B R
T 5 e RN S A 0T A A B T
HInTF -

Liabilities Assets
FE B E

2023 2022 2023 2022

RO =Eg . SR SR EE . SR T

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

T# T T# T

USD eV 1,135 1,304 347 9,026

RMB N — 33 457 69
The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange 7 4 18 B i S A A FE 35 b B

hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

The directors of the Company consider that the overall
currency risk is not significant as there are no material
foreign currency risk exposure of USD as the USD is
pegged with the HKD and the bank balance of RMB is
minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is prepared
and presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (Note 30),
lease liabilities (Note 31). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (Note 25) variable-rate bank borrowings (Note
30) and amount due to a shareholder (Note 29). The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on borrowings and
amount due to a shareholder. The Group aims at keeping
borrowings and amount due to a shareholder at variable
rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings in
fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within

reasonable range.

Interest expense on financial liabilities not at FVTPL:

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()

17 53 1 B (%)

(ii)

T3 )
ZIK%@E ' S5 @E%U?ﬁﬁfﬁ‘&
oA £ 3K (M RE30) ~ FLE &
& (B 5E31) A B A 2 7 (5 F
SRR o AL [H 7 T B B w48
I B ERAT &5 8% (Ff 5E25) ~ 7T
“ﬂiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁm&
JRE A — 24 1B AR I (B 5529)
A B R R - A
9] 1 5 4 ) 36 T g A o
e A5 SR 2100 0 ) S B A+ — 44
JRAGRIA o A4 B H AR 2R
TR B RO AT — 48 B AR
TH o AR S R AR PR A KT
T S5 A A ] ) 3R 28 ) 7 A
) YA B, 2 e i HL ) % Ja iy o
5 I 516 A ] S S IR B R
F B - S0 AR R A
PR A -

RI 1 Y/A B W S E A i DA
BRSPS

2023 2022
TR COEZH - =
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#C TC
Interest expense A BB %
Financial liabilities at amortised cost TR MRS AR w2 4
J=R 4,857 12,704
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(b)

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i1)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
100 basis point (2022:

decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings, bank overdrafts

100 basis points) increase or

and amount due to a shareholder represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis
as the management considers that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances, bank overdrafts and amount due to a shareholder

is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 March 2023 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$150,000 (2022: increase/decrease by HK$392,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings, bank

overdrafts and amount due to a shareholder.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased
during the current year mainly due to the increase in

variable-rate bank borrowings.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, deposits, promissory notes receivables and bank

balances.

Trade receivables arising from contract with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts and the management considers that the Group’s credit risk

is significantly reduced accordingly.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 98% (2022: 75%)
and 98% (2022: 83%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for

determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables with significant balances
individually. Except for debtors with significant balances, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s aging of
outstanding balances. Impairment of HK$709,000 (2022: reversal
of impairment of HK$866,000) is recognised during the year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this

note.

(b)

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()

15 B B

{5 BER R 15 2 9 B 7 R A K B AT
T 365 A 52 8] A i B 5 4 2K 19 J g
ﬁ%@%f*%ﬂﬁi%ﬁlﬁ“%%&
MR AR~ H At B Wi BRI~ A K B
%Eﬁﬁ%&f& FT AR -

KA G R B

TR AE R R R e CE
BB AR > HREOR SR BUER S AT B LAl
e i A R - L LT R U A A B
4 £ 8 JEL B A B A i P o

ALE A SR I B AR - B

Wi B R AR BH 1 98% (& — L 4F ¢
75%) J298% (=% — T4 1 83%) 4y
AAE QAL BN RKE T R KEF
Fo fb T A5 2R b = Je fIK > AR
LEEHEEZIR— KA EE

JE AR B BRA M AR BRI -

WAL o A 4R 1 i 7 0 A5 R e A K
A E K A R 0 R SRR R Y AT
WAEREAS » R R A5 BRI A
Ah > AR i AR T AR L W] A 4
A JE B e 1 - 2 PR AR 1 1 R AE A
B R IR B AT 4 4H o AS AR B AERR

I AE 709,000 45 70 (2 — " 4F « JlH
1 [51866,000%5 JC) © = 1k 9 #5 & B
PR IR A A B R o e

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited N i 24 B (¥ 1) 4 KR 23 W] 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 205 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_F

214

(b)

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance

was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition due to the
amount defaulted and unsecured and the Group provided

impairment based on 12m ECL.
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % —% = 4F = =+ — H IL4F )&

(b) o K B E R R BOR ()

15 B K (A7)
A A T A TR Al B4 PR A A5 JELBR:

15 DA BH

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
A £ LT A ik JE Wi Bk oAl
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired
R Bt 07 iR A B - BT A SO 2GS 128 7 S5 5
— KRB HEHE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full — not credit-impaired
BEER BB AKHEERW A ZER  HaR2MsE 2UHNGEEER 128 7 FE 5 i 8
— KRB EHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
Gf 3 A 1 B Y SR AN R AT A MR L TR 5 B R TG R
A > f T B B — KRB EHE — REEAEFEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
i 15 HRE IR BN GRS R MM E E e H MM E
— fREE — fFEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery
6 ARBER M ABAREN M EEHAE WA R EH o A B

VW5 T R S il S5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ — & — =4F = =+ — H IL4FZ

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 38. & L H (4#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)  Fo 25 B 4 B A e BOSR (4)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 1 BB (A7)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s T 2R A A Tl S AR
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: B > ZEDMEAT TS RS R AT A

2023
ZRIER

Gross carrying

amount
$ T 4 £
HK$°000
T#x

Financial assets
at amortised cost

e R AT B Y 4 L
Trade receivables (note (1)) 23 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL 40,808 6,403
— not credit-impaired
Lifetime ECL 625 1,604
(collective assessment)
JE RS (B R G0)) AH 1R 8B 2MENGEEER
— AR S A
2MENGEEER
()
41,433 8,007
Other receivables and deposits 23 N/A (note (ii)) 12m ECL 13,855 9,687
A RE SR B AR (B G) 121 A B B E
Bank balances 25  AA N/A 12m ECL 13,108 35,276
HATH B AA A 1218 A BHIE B

216  Annual Report 2022/2023 4%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 —%F — =4 =H =+ —H IE4 &

(b) S K BE R R BOR ()

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) 17 B B (%)

Notes: BFGE -

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in (i) MEBURAM S - AEMERAE

HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors with significant balances or credit impaired which are assessed
individually, the Group determines the expected credit losses on these

items collectively, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess the impairment of trade receivables from the remaining
customers because these customers share common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade

receivables which are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired).

T B e 55 0 B e A AL 7
VA5 8 2 J0 00 £ 0 M 4R O i 1R 43
o BR A T K A5 B AR 480 (B P £
BN CHLME BB RT-Ail) 1 A< 4 [
AR DL AL > e i E %R E
iORERINER Y s

P 7 7 42 1 £ 4% ol B A B ) — AT
b o A4 AT fRUBE N MR A R
&I OR OB > A %
&P HAIR R ARES
e 8 5 B KA BT A B 1
REJy o N 3R AR (AL BR S AR 42 T B i iR
AR5 LR R B9 B R - %S R ROR
DB G fEks R I
AR L) 1 1 4R R BT A o

Average Gross carrying

loss rate amount
- # f 1H R IR THG 48 i
%o HK$°000
% T#x

31 March 2023 =2 =4H=H=+—H
Current B 0.02 2
Less than 2 months past due ain vk 248 A 5.78 12
2 to 3 months past due w2z 34 A 41.38 6
Over 90 days past due o0 K LA 84.85 605
625
Average Gross carrying
loss rate amount
R I 7] A8 E
% HK$’000
% T

31 March 2022 ZEHF=ZH=1—H
Current B 3 5.42 814
Less than 2 months past due w2l A 37.84 59
2 to 3 months past due w2 2348 H 60.42 39
Over 90 days past due A0 K DA 88.05 692
1,604
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(©)

(i)

(iii)

(Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant

information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised an
impairment of approximately HK$709,000 (2022: reversal of
impairment of HK$886,000) for trade receivables.

In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical
settlement record, past experience and forward-looking information as
appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. During the year ended 31 March 2023, an
impairment of approximately HK$6,000 (2022: reversal of impairment
of HK$72,000) is recognised on other receivables and deposits. For the
remaining other receivable balances, the Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection with payments
and concluded that credit risk inherent in these balances is

insignificant.

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of promissory notes
receivables based on historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking information with the debtors as appropriate. For certain
promissory notes receivables, based on assessment by the management,
the management believes that there is significant increase in credit risk
of this amount since initial recognition due to the amount defaulted
and unsecured and the Group provided impairment based on lifetime
ECL. During the year ended 31 March 2022, reversal of ECL on
promissory note receivable amounting to approximately HK$4,170,000
is recognised in profit or loss. If there is any revision to accounting
estimates applied, there may have reversal to the carrying amount of

the promissory notes receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowances

that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach.

38. &t T H (%)
(b) B R B B R R SR (4

15 B K ()
RS B SR A i 5 O ik
T M FEL A T A o

As at 1 April 2021 R_FE M —H 1,714
Changes due to financial instruments recognised AR —FMH—HE R

as at 1 April 2021: PR 45 il L HL A AR B2 )

— Impairment loss reversed — O D (E s 1R (1,714)
New financial assets S 4 & 828
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 et S = [t el = I3

“E T FNMA—H 828
Changes due to financial instruments recognised RoE M A — HE R

as at 1 April 2022: Pl 46 L AR Y S )

— Impairment loss reversed — OB EEEE R (828)
New financial assets B 4 Al A 1,433
As at 31 March 2023 M_E_=F=ZH=1+—H 1,433
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(b)

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern
basis

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major lenders to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$94,875,000. The Group’s bank balances and
cash as at 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$13,108,000 as compared to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings and amount due to a shareholder of approximately
HK$79,737,000 and $79,909,000 respectively, of which are
repayable within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. In view of this, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the

Group.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative

financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.
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38. &t T H (%)
(b) B R B B R R SR (4

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern T B B <8 0 B J 1% 5 AT A 8 T Al
basis (Continued) 2 (4E)

RoFEZZF=ZA=1—H

As at 31 March 2023

More than More than

Weighted 1 year but 2 years but Total
average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

ke AR 4 A B
FHAE HEE R —4R HREE BARESE  BAREAHE S
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T T T

Financial liabilities included in A [HERFARHK KA HE

“trade and other payables” GECE S - L - — 6,030 - — 6,030 6,030
Bank and other borrowings ST RIABAE 497 90,977 - - — 90,977 79,737
Amount due to a shareholder TS — 2 B SRR 3.63 81435 - - - 81433 79,909
112412 6,030 - - 178,442 165,676
Lease liabilities HHEAR 321572 - 2,905 2,553 1,690 7,148 6,768

As at 31 March 2022

HoF D DE=HA=1—H

Financial liabilities included in & AT Bk S 2L A g
“trade and other payables” BE R L - — 8,798 - — 8,798 8,798
Bank and other borrowings SRAT RIAB A 6.27 97,193 7,350 — — 104,543 99,993
Bank overdrafts SITBE 462 18,964 — — — 18,964 18,964
Amounts due to non-controlling LARER ) Ere
interests = = = 60 = 60 60
116,157 16,148 60 — 132,365 127815
Lease liabilities e A 327-572 — 2,461 214 — 2,675 2,579
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(b)

(c)

EEZA =+ HIRFEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B B4 B AR R BOR (7))
(Continued)
Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern T B B <8 B T 5 9 AT A 6 3
basis (Continued) ()
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are I A 47 B SRR 2 A R 1 BRAT A KR
included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity A ESCEIHH 4By (TR ) R
analysis. As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts MEEm e = =4 =]
of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$61,737,000 (2022: =t+—H > %5 AT A IR A
HK71,993,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial & £561,737,000% 76 (— & —
position, the management does not believe that it is probable that 71,993,000 J0) o £ 75 [ A 4 H 1Y
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand WHIRVLAR » EHER S - SRITA
immediate repayment. The management believes that such bank K AT AT {5 HE 2K 57 D2
borrowings will be repaid after the end of the reporting period in o B HLEARGE - 5% 5F SRAT R 0K
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the R4 B K toh e P i 2 T 2 AR K A
loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below: o AR R R AR > SR R
D
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a repayment on B H T — B 2R ARG
demand clause based on scheduled repayments B SRAT 5 R (B A it ) A 195 0 )
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Total
Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash outflows amount
A 14 2 AUBH &
RUER EPR2E EDRSE ER RS it AR R I (L
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TH#T T TH#T T TH#T T
31 March 2023 ZERCEESA=T—H 11,540 10,234 26,122 24,936 72,832 61,737
31 March 2022 “EZCCHF=H=1—H 13,625 11,802 30,357 33,051 88,835 71,993
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (c) & THMYAFHEE R

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The directors of the Company work
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{ % =& — =4 =H =+ —H L4

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for

identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly

(i.e. derived from prices); and

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that included inputs for
the assets or liabilities that are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

(ii)  Fair value financial assets and financial liabilities that

are not measure at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted

cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial statements

approximate their fair values.

(c)
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The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities from TR R AP T Y ) BT E A A A
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B> B e R B H) o SIS B BT
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash FE AR B B i BOR AR B A
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s AR E 2 45 A BT B RN B A S
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HE 2B EREZ AR -

activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BECRC=SFE=H=1+—HILFEE

Interest payable

on bank
Amount and other
Bank Other due to a borrowings and Lease
borrowings* borrowings shareholder  a shareholder liabilities Total
TE A 8RAT
RHAL
R —% s R—%
AT e flfii JBe 3Rk H JBe SRA HE R K it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T#x T T#x T#x T
(note 30) (note 30) (note 29) (note 26) (note 31)
(HrzE30) (H3E30) (Hf3E29) (HfiE26) (H3E31)
At 1 April 2022 REZFZZHENA—H 71,993 28,000 — 1,413 2,579 103,985
Financing cash flows MEB AR E (54,156) (10,000) 79,909 (5,616) (2,690) 7,447
Non-cash movements FHeEH
Interest expenses S B % - - - 4,857 111 4,968
New lease entered BT E — - - - 6,770 6,770
Exchange realignment [ b % — — — — 2) 2)
Acquisition of a subsidiary /i — FHIFJE 2 A 43,900 — — — — 43,900
Total other changes Hith s 8 A% 43,900 - - 4,857 6,879 55,636
At 31 March 2023 e S
=A=t+—H 61,737 18,000 79,909 654 6,768 167,068
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 39. mbETEB) P E A A Z Bk
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (%)
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BEZFZ_H=HA=+—HILEE

At 1 April 2021 REBZ—HNA—H 62,281 37,000 1,481 52,587 3,038 156,387
Financing cash flows MU ST 9712 (11,119 8.813) (54,889) (2,551) (67,660)
Non-cash movements FBleEE
Interest expenses FIE B — 2,119 8,745 1,840 176 12,880
New lease entered EHEE Tl = = — — 1,914 1,914
Exchange realignment i 5, 37 — — — — 2 2
Loss on early settlement of  $&FL45 T ATHL A i %
convertible bonds ] a3 = = = 105 = 103
Release upon early R 7B I 4R R £ 2
redemption of S
convertible bonds — — — 357 — 357
Total other changes Hfth s 8 AR — 2,119 8,745 2,302 2,092 15,258
At 31 March 2022 R-ZF__&
=ZA=+—H 71,993 28,000 1,413 = 2,579 103,985
8 Changes in the Group’s bank overdrafts are excluded as they are not classified @ REFAREBBTIBE L 2 58 H) > R E %5
as financing activities in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows. BEN N AEEGER SN ERS B
IS B o
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X

On 13 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% interest in Daisyluck hE AT = H o AEERESE
Industries Limited (“Daisyluck™) which is a property holding company BAE ZEA PR A (T2 81 )) 19100%HE 47 -
with its investment property located in Hong Kong. HA—My R AR LG ER
The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in 7 AJE [ 2 A5 AR R A v A S i e R SR 3 6
accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and concluded that [SEXS G 0 I ROBLE - PR g8 4 v
the investment property is the single identifiable asset. Consequently, w7 B e B S ] ek B B o
the Group determined that substantially all of the fair value of the gross HA% > A4 M e 2 O i I AR B 1 AT (E
assets acquired is concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets B8 43 4R R — HHLSE L T R R E
and concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is not a S B 2 B ) 3 BBl B NI I — T 3 o
business.
Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition WO H O R R BUR
HK$°000
T#T
Investment property [id<g//E S 125,000
Prepayments and deposits TA A RO R % 4 1
Trade and other payables, and accruals JRE AT B T e EE At R A5 K T DA K% E 5T (1,031)
Receipt in advance for leasing of an FEL % 15 T ) 3 1 T R
investment property (162)
Bank and other borrowings SRAT S HoAE K (43,900)
79,908
Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of Daisyluck W S 5% B T A M B 4 i o R A
HK$000
T
Consideration paid in cash DAB 4 S A A AR 79,908

226  Annual Report 2022/2023 4 $it



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo o1 U8 % e o B R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 —%F — =4 =H =+ —H IE4 &

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and

balances with its related parties during the year:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed

in note 10 and other senior management of the Group are as

I 17 A B 15 it 2 LA 36 0 B0 8 ) 28 5 B A
BRAN > A B2 [ B R 9 Oy 9 4 TR B0 52 B I A
RN ¢

(a) EEEHABH WM
A4 ) 3 A TN B BRI AL 4 MY
107 5% % B A A 2 7] # 35 o A 42 )
S 7 A L KO R

follows:
2023 2022
TR R
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THIT
Short-term employee benefits 5048 B A A 16,757 10,033
Retirement benefit IR AR AE A 152 116
16,909 10,149

In addition to the amounts above, the Group also provides other
non-monetary benefits (such as accommodation) to key
management personnel. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment in relation to these
non-monetary benefits amounted to HK$800,000 (2022:
HK$1,365,000).

W bk 4 ZE A - A AL B IR ) A
N B2 R H A IF (A A (i
f5) - MEF =HE=H=+—H
1A B > BLE% 5 IF £ M AR R A B
B2 WE XN a
FH 800,000k O (& AR
1,365,000 76) ©
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(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HBHEFRG
2023 2022
TR —E
Name of Nature of balances/
related parties Relationship transactions HK$°000 HK$°000
B L5 4 B 7 Ktk MY T# TH#TT
Sunex Limited (“Sunex”)  An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, lease liabilities 4 14
substantial shareholder of the & £ fi A 5 B 3%
Company (Note e) Lease liabilities (Note a) — 241
E LA R AQA EERREREEE  HEAR (W)
=% 40 BERA T (Mike)
EC Star Trading Limited  An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
(“EC Star Trading”) Mr. Chan Yan Tak, lease liabilities 3 9
substantial shareholder of the % & fif Il & ] %
Company (Note e) Lease liabilities (Note b) — 137
BHAWRAF ([ AXFEZEBOLRAEEE HESE (Mo
B EEHEAHZEE (e
Galaxy Centre Limited An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
(“Galaxy Centre”) Mr. Chan Yan Tak, lease liabilities 4 14
substantial shareholder of the & & {&F BB 3
Company (Note e) Lease liabilities (Note c) — 201
B 35 A B ANF EEBORRBE R E HEAE (M)
(MBI ) BEWA 2 HH (Fte)
Excel Galaxy Limited An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
(“Excel Galaxy”) Mr. Chan Yan Tak, lease liabilities 4 13
substantial shareholder of the & 1 {& A £ B %
Company (Note e) Lease liabilities (Note d) — 194
VR A PR 7] Anm TEBCRMEEEE  HEAM K5
(T3 ) BEHWA ZHE (Hike)
Supremium A subsidiary of Aggressive Sales to Supremium 65 850
Bio-Technology Resources, an associate of Ii] JE& B 8 £
Limited the Group Consultancy fee paid
(“Supremium”) to Supremium 25 125
RE AP RAR AL E AR Aggressive ] JE B 52 1f 771 #
([ Fee fE 1) Resources ) i} & 2\ 7
Hammer Capital (Hong An executive director of the Sales to Hammer Capital
Kong) Limited Company, is also a director
(“Hammer Capital”) of Hammer Capital 549 =

BREA () AR
AR TREFAD
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 # %2 —%F — =4 =H =+ —H IE4 &

Transactions with related parties (Continued)
Notes:

a. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement for the use of warehouse with Sunex for 3 years. The Group
has recognised an additional of right-of-use asset and lease liability of
approximately HK$655,000 and HK$655,000, respectively.

b. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement for the use of warehouse with EC Star Trading for 3 years.
The Group has recognised an additional of right-of-use asset and lease
liability of approximately HK$369,000 and HK$369,000, respectively.

@, During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement for the use of warehouse with Galaxy Centre for 3 years.
The Group has recognised an additional of right-of-use asset and lease
liability of approximately HK$543,000 and HK$543,000, respectively.

d. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement for the use of warehouse with Excel Galaxy for 3 years.
The Group has recognised an additional of right-of-use asset and lease
liability of approximately HK$525,000 and HK$525,000, respectively.

EH Mr. Chan Yan Tak ceased to be a substantial shareholder on
7 November 2022. Accordingly, all these transactions amounts

disclosed were up to 7 November 2022.

Interest on amount due to a shareholder
During the year, interest expenses amounted to HK$182,000 were

incurred for amount due to a shareholder.

Balances with related parties
Trade receivables of approximately HK$499,000 was due from

Supremium as at 31 March 2022 and as disclosed in note 23.

Details of amounts due to non-controlling interests and a

shareholder are disclosed on notes 28 and 29, respectively.

(b)

(o)

(d)

BB T & 5 (481)
fif ik

a. BE_Z - —#=A=+—HI%
JE o A 4 ) B B R ki R R R T L
A= F RS - AL HE
RRAR A 18 A A AN AR AR A 4
531 41 %4 655,000 % TG A1 655,000 7T

b. BEZ-—-F=A=1—HIF
JE > 7 45 ] B2 R RE B o e
RIS A W SRR Ik - AL M
LR BB AR SN Y {1 R O 7 AN FRLER
1853 7 9 2% 369,000 #5 JT 1 369,000 75
=

c. BE-FZ - —HE=A=+—HI%
BE > A 42 I BRI A ko P O R BT ST
o = A I LR ok - ASSE I
FRRE SN A I HE Y AR R A 4
5l 49 55 543,000 TC 1 543,0009 T -

d. BE-FZ - —HE=A=+—HI%
BE o A 4 T SRR R R R R T ST
o = AR O LR ok o AN SE I
FRRE SN A I HE Y AR R A 4
5l 49 £5 525,000 7CH1525,0009 T

e BRBEEER -F_—4F+—At
EENCETEER S Y N
W FEL ) G REIEE —F
SoAEF—ABH

JRE A5 — 44 I ARk H 2 ) B
N AT — 44 I R K TE EE AR R
BB 32182,000% 7€ ©

B 7 A B

JRE WS B K T 40 499,000 95 T F R [ 7
TE - HE=ZA=+—HIA
A EE23 H 4 R o

JRE A5} I 428 B 25 e — 44 BRI 30
FEAE 2 A B 528 K 2948 7% -
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(d) Balances with related parties (Continued) (d)
The Group leases warehouses from related parties under
operating lease arrangements with lease terms of one to three
years. The terms of the leases require the Group to pay rental
deposits to the lessors. The balances of the rental deposits as at
31 March 2022 are detailed as follows:

I 2 7 A B ()

A SR (90 AR 452 S ) 2 7 ) RS L A
BB AHEMEH S —E=4F
MR B RA MM E LS T
HAEAN R EFE T AEZH =t
H I 1 S A5 R eE R s T

As at
31 March 2022
i St 2
ZEH=4F—F
HK$’000
T
Rental deposits: THE 4
— Sunex — B 38
— EC Star Trading — 2R®G 21
— Galaxy Centre — B 32
— Excel Galaxy — 30
Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 RIEARAFR = F— =4 =M A
September 2013, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option M FERGES > AN A AR RS A
scheme, which has been taken effect on 11 October 2013 (the “Share F— AR H A H A R I
Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme remains effective (I R TBERE ST 0] 1) o WG E =1 1) A 408 W 52 T
following the transfer of listing from the GEM to the Main Board of the GEM 8 % F= iz | i 4% 48 A A 20 (1 78 35 W
Stock Exchange subject to certain immaterial amendments to the share JEAERHEBIE L2 T I B KR > e A
option scheme and implemented in full compliance with the R b TR R AR 17 AR B
requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
A summary of the Share Option Scheme of the Company is as follows: A E i SRRE R B ML AT
Purpose =1
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the eligible W PR AR 5T ) 5 7 D 15 A 2 B (A AR
participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit B RBLBCR - FEEA L B B F 4 o

of the Group.
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Eligible Participants
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

(b) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include any
director, Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate; or

(c) a company beneficially owned by any director, Employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,

adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

Total number of ordinary shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the
issued share capital that it represented as at

31 March 2023

256,491,120 ordinary shares, being 10% of shares in issue on 24
August 2021 (i.e. the date of approving the refreshment of the share
option scheme mandate limit).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the Company in
any 12-month period.

Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting.

Period within which the shares must be taken up under a
share option

A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share
option.

FEMB Y
S R R B 2 5 A% 2 B L

(@)  AEBE R AR AT 2 B AR T S
1 B = S B A i Ja8 4 Wik 2 3
B (M@ E D) > s A4 M A4 [
T L v R AT R AR Y 4 R B AR A
1 B e > w0 e 2 W 1) 09 sk
AN-HEANL - -FF - #REH - R
A~ BB B SURERH 5 5K

(b)  AE AT A5 FE ERAE i 2 HE AR FE M Z 5T
A A B AR RER Z 2 A\ A B &
REAS E A 2 REAS E LA A 42 1 5
Tt~ R BT T I 2 - R B~ B
AN-HEANL - -FF - R R
A~ BN B BURERE 5 5K

(c)  AHE B N R AR AT
Bk AN HEANLE K5 I
JERE - AR - B A B EUR
AR EEEAR AT

AR5 T e Bl ) T 3t R AT 3 A i
BERLMER T =4=H
=+ HMEBITBRAE K

256,491,120 % 5 40 % > B —F ——4F )\ H

TP A o R R s A TR
B A ) B AT R 10% -

St J AR i 3 5 22 SR Y e G G
S R 2 22 B 110 S 5 TR RS 15
A2 AR AT A A 1 2 AT R A

1% -

HE— 5 5% L A % R M IS PR 2 A i
R & JEAR 2 7 AR

AR 452 6 i 20 7 8 e A ) B0 B

W1 PR o g Jug A AURIZN o A B
W IR RE St B N A5 R+ 4F o
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AE=HA =+ —HIEEE

X

Minimum period for which a share option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
there is no minimum period for which a share option must be held

before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted.

Period within which payments/calls/loans must be made/
repaid
Not applicable.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall not be
less than the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option, which

must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the share

option.

The remaining life of the scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective until 23
September 2023, after which no further share options will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Options complying with the
provisions of the Listing Rules which are granted during the duration of
the scheme and remain unexercised immediately prior to 23 September
2023 shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
grant within the option period for which such share options are granted,

notwithstanding the expiry of the scheme.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 42, DLJBCHE %5 5 DAy 32 A Z B X
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
Movements of share options Vil 5t HEE 5 )
Movements of the share options during the years ended 31 March 2023 BE-X =R -EF - F=H =1
and 2022 are listed below in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing HOEAFRE - AR b iR B 58 17 25 J R M
Rules: BT T8 I IR RE R S B A R
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZFZAFEZH=A—HIEFEE
Number of share options
Jif JBE A 5 F
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Exercised Lapsed as at
1 April 2022  during the year  during the year 31 March 2023
. Sy MR =AE
/MA—H =Z=H=+—H
RATHE SERATHE ER R RATHE
(Note i)
(FfF ki)
Continuous Contract Employees R A AR B 12,000,000 — 12,000,000 —
For the year ended 31 March 2022 MEZF == —HIEFEE

Continuous Contract Employees R G AR E 148,000,000 (30,000,000) (106,000,000) 12,000,000
Note: Ff 5
@) 30,000,000 share options granted to continuous contract employees were (i) 30,000,000 5% T G140 8 £ 1 16 IR HE A e 2 =%
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2022. The weighted average price at CZOFEAS T BIREELAE o RTHE A K
the date of exercised was HK$0.20. JIHEST- 24 Ji 8 £4.0.20 95 7T ©
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42. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 42.
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Movements of share options (Continued)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
weighted average exercise prices for the years ended 31 March 2022

and 2021 are as follows:

VI T e 25 5 DA Jie o S Ao 2 B 52
(#4)

S e E S W) (4
RWE-F - FR-F - —F A
St HARARE o AT S B B
T (2 S B A

At 1 April 2021 RoE 4N A —H 0.20 148,000,000
Exercised during the year A NAT R 0.20 (30,000,000)
Lapsed during the year AR SR 0.20 (106,000,000)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 REZFZZF=ZH=1+—HK

ZERTAEMA—H 0.18 12,000,000
Lapsed during the year GNP 0.18 (12,000,000)
At 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=A=+—H — —

As at 31 March 2023, there were no share options that were
outstanding and exercisable (2022: 12,000,000).

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 had an exercise price of
HK$1.15 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.07
years as at 31 March 2022.
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. FEME A
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 and 31 R E A S T —H R E
March 2022 are as follows: ZH=1T—H > FERBARZFFBNT

Able One Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 - — 100 100 Provision of original equipment
manufacturing services

HRARAR Eil vl 1T SRR A A 2 R

Advance Rider BVI Ordinary USs1 - 100 - — Investment holding

ERELEs  LE IESH BEH

Best Billion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - — 100 100 Provision of general administrative
services

EHEARAR Eit EE 10,0003 7 R AT B

CJ Pharmaceutical Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Sales and distribution of healthcare
products

{2 A ) FilE vl 158 B RS R

CV Virtue Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 - — 100 100 Provision of administrative support
to the H365 Group

HIMARAR ik vl 170 il 365 5 I R (AT B A

Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Sale of health and beauty

supplements and products and
provision of general
administrative services

KA R wif o JRLSH SR (R B 5 A O B B AR
B — IR AT BORES

CULegend Company Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Trading of products under the
Limited proprietary brand of “LEGEND”
MEFRPEERARAT  FiE EE 1T L {EPNGIE A A G
FE
Daisyluck Industries Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$4,000,000 — — 100 — Property holding
FHERARAA il i 4,000,000 72 VESHEH
Eastern Bright (Asia) Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 — — 100 100 Provision of management services
Limited to other Group companies
R () ARAR Fi Lyl 17T 1] Al 4 AR 24 R (R
%73
Giant Bloom Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 - — 100 100 Property holding
Limited
SRR LA R ) ik vl 17T UESiE
Golden Challenge Limited BVI Ordinary USs1 - — 100 100 Investment holding
ERELEs L@ 1370 BEHR
Good Wealth Trading Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - = 100 100 Trading of health supplements
Limited
G BT A R Fi Lyl 10,000 7t FE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Aok 1 S 205 R I

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % =% — =4 = H =+—H IL4F &

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)  43. F & 2 6l ()

H365 Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Sales and distribution of healthcare
Limited products
36 RIEEMARAT &l T RS HE RO SRR
Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 License holding
Company Limited
B 5 R Fit T L#TT R R
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Manufacturing and sale of health
Medicine Factory and beauty supplements and
Limited products
FENNFRERTRAR & il 1# 7T AERSHEREREAMHS R
il
Kiwi Lab International Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 License holding
Company Limited
ARUARBARAR Fit T L#TT R R
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary USS1 — — 100 100 Trademark holding
EEELRE  LE [ESH FEA MR
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 - — 100 100 Property investment
Limited
B RN ) & il 1# 7T L/ESI4
Rich Sunny Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI1 - — 100 100 Property investment and
Limited investment holding
EHERE A R & il 1# 7T WHERE R EHR
RM Group Holdings Limited ~ BVI Ordinary USs11 100 100 - — Investment holding
s EMERERAT  EEELEHE  BE 1% B
Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - — 100 100 License holding
Limited
s @) FRAT Bl il 100i 7 R R
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 Property investment
Limited
e (&) AR Fit il JRLSTH WERE
Soul Marketing Group Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,100,000 - — - 80 e-commerce promotion
Limited
EHGRBERERAT  FiE BB 10,100,000% 7 BT B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

f B S 255 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

43. EEME A (4)

Super Pioneer Holdings
Limited

A B A R 7
Wisdom Come Medical
Group Limited

MEREEBARAR

Wisdom Health Products
Company Limited

BB R A A T

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the director of the Company principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the director of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the

year.

No financial information of the non-wholly owned subsidiary is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as the non-controlling

Hong Kong

Fik

Hong Kong
wiE

Hong Kong

interest is not material to the Group.

HKS1

RET

HKS$101
101378

HKS$2

270

— 100 100 Provision of management

services to other group
companies

T 3 A 5 LA 4 AL B
e

— 100 100 Investment holding

BRI

— 100 100 Trading of health and beauty

supplements and products,
provision of health food
processing services and
investment holding

PR{E B E A i R 5
TR DR £ o THH B g
B

ek 2 /NG YR R SUES
REEA TR BOAL A S AR - A
DR ERGE L > SO A 2 R R RE
TEIVTERR -

MRS 5 2> RIR A48 H AT AT RO s 2

B 4 B 2 W) G A RS RORHIA R
B R AR o BT Pl I PR 4 A
B2 N N
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fok B S 255 ¥ A BhF

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # £ —~F — =4 = H =+ —H Ik

2023 2022
TR N -
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Non-current assets JE i By
Investments in subsidiaries i PN < 38,561 38,571
Amounts due from subsidiaries R Wi B 2 ) K T 289,847 —
328,408 38,571
Current assets &
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TAATFRIE ~ 40 4 B H A JRE i 522 462
Amounts due from subsidiaries JREE Wiz B JB 2 ) 3RIE — 190,522
Cash and cash equivalents B RBLEEEY 1,307 27,906
1,829 218,890
Current liabilities A
Accruals and other payables JRE 5125 FH) e HL At OB A5 I 5,603 5,781
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B Ho At A K 78,446 95,694
Bank overdrafts RITIE — 18,964
Amount due to a shareholder JRE AT — 4 g R I 79,909 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE A BHF J 2 ) kO 225,607 208,236
389,565 328,675
Net current liabilities B A (387,736) (109,785)
Net liabilities AFEHE (59,328) (71,214)
Equity Rt £
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN A N TEAGHEAS
Share capital e A 7,770 7,770
Reserves it i (67,098) (78,984)
Deficiency in capital AR i (59,328) (71,214)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B S 255 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 # % ~ZF = 4F=H =+—H IFF

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44.
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

AR i) B S 5 5IR D 2 (4)

Ao Al A 4 )

At 1 April 2021 REZFZ—FMA—H 296,603 38,541 19,040 2,653 (509,592) (152,755)
Changes in equity for 2022: SRR
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year A R 1R 2 T TR A AR = = = = (52,704) (52,704)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments TR B DA B HEAS 5 A M 354 2 B 5 = = 100 = = 100
Share options lapsed BYS G — — (13,638) — 13,638 —
Shares issued upon exercise of share options (note 37(i)) AT R ROME 2 B 17 TRy (B 3E3761)) 7,087 — (1,162) — — 5925
Shares issued upon acquisition of an associate (note 23) W — P A ) AT

(Bt iE23) 120,807 — — = = 120,807
Redemption of convertible bonds (note 34) I T 4 R 5 (W3 34) — — — (2,653) 2,296 (357)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 REZBZZHEZA=Z+H—HR

CRCCENA—H 424497 38,541 4,340 — (546,362) (78,984)
Changes in equity for 2023: CEROEFEHGRE
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year A R 5 ) B 2 T W 2 A — — = = 11,886 11,886
Share options lapsed BYS — — (4,340) — 4,340 —
At 31 March 2023 REFZEEZA=+—A 424497 38,541 — — (530,136) (59,328)
Note a: Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the Miska © BB ERAE A W B BT 28 % 2 TH (i B

ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange.

75 A AR AR 24 ] I 03 A B 22 BT GEM L E i
i 2 452 I A S M 3 WS I 2 ) 2
I EZ 2 -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

it 755 1t 2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
R ZERCOFRE TR ZFTHF DERTZ4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T 7o RGP RRP RRPI T
(Re-presented)
(4B &)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: PR SR
Revenue i % 332,205 303,854 223,147 155,639 216,127
Profit/(loss) before taxation B i A (k5 4R) 2,28 (5,327) (116,325) (38,494) 43,766
Taxation BLIA (10,223) (5,424) (1,770) (2,755) (2,590)
Profit/(loss) for the year from REREER L
continuing operations AF [ i e 4R (7,995) (10,751) (124,095) (41,249) 41,176
DISCONTINUED O IR 5878 S 7
OPERATIONS: -
Loss for the year from discontinued £ #% IF 848 2E 7 2
operations AN R (2.716) (140,916) (1,573) (3,136) (423)
Profit/(loss) for the year N A R (10,711) (151,667) (125,668) (44,385) 40,753
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable AR A AL
to owners of the Company A AN
— from continuing operations — RARERE
: (2.396) (10,966) (126,010) (41,379) 41,296
— from discontinued — RECKIEEE
operations B (1,948) (128,724) (1,367) (2,509) (260)
(4,344) (139,690) (127,377) (43,888) 41,036
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“EF-E ZERIFRE R ZFTTFE R4
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
RRP RGP RRPI RRP T
Total assets MERE 792,430 438,857 208,328 246,773 339,446
Total liabilities o (584,910) (306,044) (189,291) (144,118) (196,036)
Total equity e 4 A0 207,520 132,813 19,037 102,655 143,410
Equity attributable to owners EN/NGIE: ¥ DN A
of the Company W4 161,968 142,713 21,054 105,159 146,007

The comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2019 has not been
re-presented to separately present the results of [AHGames Hong Kong
Limited, Star Root Limited and its subsidiary, Junten Technology Limited and
Advance Rider Group as discontinued operations, and the comparative
information for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 have not been
re-presented to separately present the results of Advance Rider Group as

discontinued operations.
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BE_Z-NF="H=T—HIEFENLKE
RSl A H EE 51 5 DL Al 2 51 IAHGames Hong
Kong Limited * Star Root Limited 5 EFftEg /A 7
5 R H2 A5 BR A 7] S Advance RiderfE [ (1€ & £
ARSI MR MRE R FE K
FE—FZH =4 H R B LR R g S
51 > DI B 2 51 Advance RiderE [H] (1 £ B 4 1k
B A -
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